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CHINA WANDA INTERNATIONAL FUNDING PTE. LTD. 
(a private company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of Singapore) 

 
U.S.$100,000,000 7.95 per cent. Fixed Rate Secured Notes due 2020 

 
Issue Price: 98.570 per cent. 

 
The U.S.$100,000,000 7.95 per cent. Fixed Rate Secured Notes due 2020 (the “Notes”) to be issued by China Wanda 
International Funding Pte. Ltd. (the “Issuer”) will be constituted pursuant to a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) to be 
dated on or about 14 December 2017 between the Issuer and Citicorp International Limited as trustee for the holders of 
the Notes (the “Trustee”).  The Notes are limited recourse obligations of the Issuer. 
 
Payments of interest on the Notes will be made semi-annually in arrear on the 14th day of each relevant month (as 
adjusted for non-Business Days (as provided herein)) commencing on 14 June 2018 in accordance with the priorities of 
payments described herein. 
 
Subject to Condition 6(f), each Noteholder (as defined herein) will have the right, at such Noteholder’s option, to 
require the Issuer to redeem all but not some only of that Noteholder’s Notes on (i) a Put Settlement Date (as defined 
herein) in 2018 at 99.008 per cent. of their principal amount, together with accrued interest to the relevant Put 
Settlement Date; or (ii) a Put Settlement Date in 2019 at 99.483 per cent. of their principal amount, together with 
accrued interest to the relevant Put Settlement Date. 
 
Following a Loan Acceleration or Loan Prepayment (each as defined herein), the Issuer will redeem the Notes in full on 
the Early Redemption Date (as defined herein) at the Early Redemption Amount (as defined herein) as at such date. 
 
The Notes will mature on the Expected Maturity Date (or, if applicable, the Legal Maturity Date) at their principal 
amount. 
 
It is expected that the Notes will, when issued, be assigned an “AA+” rating by Dagong Global Credit Rating Co., Ltd 
(the “Rating Agency”).  A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, 
qualification, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organisation. 
 
Investing in the Notes involves certain risks.  See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 19 for a discussion of certain 
factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the Notes. 
 
The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “Securities Act”) and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States.  
The Notes are being offered only outside the United States in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S 
(Category 1) under the Securities Act. 
 
For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes and the distribution of this 
Offering Circular, see “Subscription and Sale”. 
 
Approval in-principle has been received for the listing and quotation of the Notes on the Official List of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”).  The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of 
any of the statements made or opinions expressed or reports contained herein.  Admission of the Notes to the Official 
List of the SGX-ST or quotation of the Notes on the SGX-ST are not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the 
Issuer, its subsidiaries or associated companies (if any), or the Notes.  There can be no assurance that such listing will 
be maintained. 
 
The Notes will be issued in registered form in the minimum denomination of U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of 
U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof.  It is expected that the Notes offered and sold pursuant to Regulation S under the 
Securities Act will be delivered through the facilities of Euroclear Bank SA/NV as operator of the Euroclear System 
(“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”) on or about 14 December 2017. 

 
Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager 

 
Joint Bookrunners 
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IMPORTANT NOTICE 

 
Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this Offering Circular or to which 
reference is made herein.  The Issuer has not authorised anyone to provide prospective investors with 
information that is different.  This Offering Circular may only be used where it is legal to sell the Notes.  The 
information in this Offering Circular may only be accurate as at the date of this Offering Circular. 
 
Each of the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information 
contained in this Offering Circular, and confirms that, having made all reasonable enquiries, to the best of its 
knowledge and belief, the statements included in this Offering Circular are in every material particular true and 
accurate and are not misleading in the form and context in which they are included and there are no other facts in 
relation to the Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor, the Notes, the Facility Agreement or the Guarantee, the omission of 
which would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes, and the transaction documents entered into by the 
Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor in connection therewith, make any statement in this Offering Circular misleading in 
any material respect. 
 
This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor solely for use in connection 
with the proposed offering of the Notes described in this Offering Circular.  The distribution of this Offering Circular 
and the offering of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.  Persons into whose possession this 
Offering Circular comes are required by the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor, Standard Chartered Bank (“SCB” 
or the “Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager”), Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (“GTJA”) 
and Zhongtai International Securities Limited (together with SCB and GTJA, the “Joint Bookrunners”) to inform 
themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.  No action is being taken to permit a public offering of the Notes 
or the distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action would be required for such purposes.  There 
are restrictions on the offer and sale of the Notes and the circulation of documents relating thereto in certain 
jurisdictions and to persons connected therewith.  For a description of certain further restrictions on offers, sales and 
resales of the Notes and distribution of this Offering Circular, see “Subscription and Sale”.  By purchasing the Notes, 
investors represent and agree to all of those provisions contained in that section of this Offering Circular. 
 
No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Offering Circular 
and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on 
behalf of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the 
Security Trustee, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB, the Transaction Administrator, the Account Bank, the 
Borrower or the Guarantor (each as defined below) or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers or advisors.  
Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any offering, sale or delivery made in connection with the issue of the 
Notes shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation that there has been no change or development 
reasonably likely to involve a change in the affairs of the Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor or any of their respective 
subsidiaries and associates since the date hereof or create any implication that the information contained herein is 
correct as at any date subsequent to the date hereof.  This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of, or an 
invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the 
Trustee, the Security Trustee, the MLAB the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the Account 
Bank, the Borrower or the Guarantor to subscribe for or purchase any of the Notes and may not be used for the purpose 
of an offer to, or a solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction or in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation 
is not authorised or is unlawful. 
 
This Offering Circular may not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part.  It may be distributed only to, and its 
contents may be disclosed only to, the prospective investors to whom it is provided.  By accepting delivery of this 
Offering Circular, each investor agrees to these restrictions. 
 
None of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, 
the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB or the Account Bank or any of their respective 
affiliates, directors, officers or advisors has separately verified the information contained in this Offering Circular.  No 
representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any 
of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the 
Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB or the Account Bank or any of their respective 
affiliates, directors, officers or advisors as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Offering 
Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Notes. 
 
Each person contemplating making an investment in the Notes is deemed to represent that it has conducted its own due 
diligence, investigation and analysis of the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor and the terms of the offering 
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including the merits and risks involved, and its own determination of the suitability of any such investment, with 
particular reference to its own investment objectives and experience and any other factors which may be relevant to it 
in connection with such investment.  Each investor in the Notes is deemed to represent that it has had access to such 
information concerning the Notes, the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor as it has deemed necessary and has 
received all information that it believes is necessary or appropriate in connection with its investment decision to 
purchase the Notes.  Any investor in the Notes should be able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Notes 
for an indefinite period of time. 
 
Each person receiving this Offering Circular is deemed to represent and acknowledges that such person has not relied 
on the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the 
Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB or the Account Bank or any of their respective 
affiliates, directors, officers or advisors in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such information or its 
investment decision.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead 
Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the 
Facility Agent,  the MLAB or the Account Bank or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers or advisors 
accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular or for any statement made or purported to be made 
in connection with the Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor, the Facility Agreement, the Guarantee or the issue and 
offering of the Notes.  Each of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, 
the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB and the Account Bank 
and each of their respective affiliates, directors, officers and advisors accordingly disclaims all and any liability, 
whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise, which it might otherwise have in respect of this Offering Circular or 
any such statement.  Each person receiving this Offering Circular agrees that it will not hold any of the Sole Global 
Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction 
Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB and the Account Bank and each of their respective affiliates, 
directors, officers and advisors responsible for any misstatement or omissions in the Offering Circular and waives any 
claims against such persons arising from or relating to this transaction.  None of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole 
Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the 
Facility Agent, the MLAB or the Account Bank or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers or advisors 
undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer, the Borrower or the Guarantor for so long as the 
Notes remain outstanding nor to advise any investor or potential investor of the Notes of any information coming to the 
attention of any of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the 
Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB or the Account Bank or any 
of their respective affiliates, directors, officers or advisors. 
 
The Issuer is of the opinion that the requirements of Articles 404-410 of the Capital Requirements Regulation (the 
“CRR”) and Articles 50-56 of Regulation (EU) No. 231/2013 (“AIFMR”) do not apply to the Notes. 
 
Each person receiving this Offering Circular should make an investment in the Notes based on the contents of 
the final Offering Circular and it acknowledges that any drafts of the Offering Circular (including any 
preliminary Offering Circular) or any other materials that may have been provided to them prior to the date 
hereof, are superseded in all respects by the final Offering Circular and such materials should be disregarded 
for purposes of its investment decision. 
 
The contents of this Offering Circular should not be construed as providing legal, business, accounting or tax 
advice.  Each prospective investor should consult its own legal, business, accounting and tax advisers prior to 
making a decision to invest in the Notes. 
 

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION 

 
References in this Offering Circular to “RMB”, “CNY” or “Renminbi” are to the lawful currency for the time being of 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).  References in this Offering Circular to “U.S.$”, “Dollars”, “U.S. 
dollars”, or “USD” are to the lawful currency for the time being of the United States of America (the “U.S.” or the 
“United States”).  References in this Offering Circular to “S$”, “Singapore dollars” or “SGD” are to the lawful 
currency for the time being of the Republic of Singapore (“Singapore”). 
 
Capitalised terms used in this Offering Circular, unless otherwise indicated, have the meanings set out in this Offering 
Circular.  A glossary of defined terms appears at the back of this Offering Circular. 
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Borrower are prepared in accordance with the generally accepted 
accounting principles in Singapore and the consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor are prepared in 
accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC. 
 
The audited financial statements of the Guarantor have only been prepared in Chinese and English translations 
undertaken of such financial statements (the “Financial Information Translation”) are included in this Offering 
Circular for reference only.  Should there be any inconsistency between the audited financial statements of the 
Guarantor and the Financial Information Translation, the audited financial statements in Chinese shall prevail.  The 
Financial Information Translation is qualified in its entirety by, and is subject to the more detailed information and the 
financial information set out or referred to in, the audited financial statements of the Guarantor.  None of the Sole 
Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Agents, the Security Trustee, the 
Transaction Administrator, the Account Bank, the Facility Agent, the MLAB nor their respective affiliates, directors, 
officers and advisors has independently verified or checked the accuracy of the Financial Information Translation and 
can give no assurance that the information contained in the Financial Information Translation is accurate, truthful or 
complete. Consequently, such Financial Information Translation should not be relied upon by potential purchasers to 
provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit or review.  
Potential purchasers must exercise caution when using such financial information to evaluate the financial condition, 
results of operations and prospects of the Guarantor. 
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TRANSACTION SUMMARY 

 
U.S.$100,000,000 7.95 per cent. Fixed Rate Secured Notes due 2020 (the “Notes”) 

 
The summary below is only intended to provide a limited overview of information described in more detail elsewhere in 

this Offering Circular.  As it is a summary, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to investors.  

Prospective investors should therefore read this Offering Circular in its entirety before making any investment decisions. 

 

 
 

Summary 
 
Capitalised terms used in this summary section are defined in the more detailed sections below.  Terms defined 

elsewhere in this Offering Circular shall have the same meanings when used in this summary. 

 
On the date of issuance of the Notes (the “Closing Date”), the Issuer will apply the proceeds of the issuance of the 
Notes towards the advance of a loan of U.S.$100,000,000 under the Facility Agreement (as defined below).  The 
principal and interest payable by the Borrower (as defined below) under the Facility Agreement shall correspond to the 
principal and interest payable by the Issuer under the Notes.  The advance of the aforesaid loans shall be subject to 
fulfilment of certain conditions precedent under the Facility Agreement, including the issuance of the Guarantee (as 
defined below).  See “The Facility Agreement – Conditions of Utilisation” below. 
 
The performance of the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes will be secured by the grant of a first-ranking security 
pursuant to and described in the Security Assignment (as defined below) and the Accounts Charge (as defined below) in 
favour of the Security Trustee (for itself and the other Secured Parties (including the Noteholders)). 
 
It is expected that the Notes will, when issued, be assigned an “AA+” rating by the Rating Agency. 
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KEY TRANSACTION PARTIES 
 
(a) Note-level parties 

 
The Issuer China Wanda International Funding Pte. Ltd. (the “Issuer”), a private company 

limited by shares incorporated in Singapore, will issue the Notes.  All of the issued 
share capital of the Issuer is held on trust pursuant to a shares declaration of trust 
dated 23 June 2017 and executed by Intertrust (Singapore) Ltd. as trustee. 
 
The Issuer’s sole business will be: 
 
(a) the advance of a term loan for an amount of up to U.S.$100,000,000 to the 

Borrower pursuant to the terms of the Facility Agreement, and acting as 
beneficiary under the Guarantee to be issued in connection with the Facility 
Agreement; 

 
(b) the assignment by way of security to the Security Trustee (as defined 

below) of substantially all of the Issuer’s property and assets and granting a 
charge over the Issuer’s bank accounts in favour of the Security Trustee; 

 
(c) the issuance of the Notes; and 
 
(d) the entry into and the performance of its obligations under, referred to in, or 

contemplated by all the documents relating to the Notes. 
 
The Issuer is not affiliated with the Borrower or the Guarantor. 
 

The Issuer 
Administrator 

The Issuer will appoint Intertrust Singapore Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. (the 
“Issuer Administrator”) to provide certain management and administrative services 
to the Issuer pursuant to a letter of appointment dated 4 January 2017. 
 

The Agents The Issuer will appoint Citibank, N.A., London Branch as principal paying agent, 
registrar and transfer agent (in those capacities, the “Principal Paying Agent”, 
“Registrar” and “Transfer Agent”, respectively) pursuant to the Agency 
Agreement (collectively, the “Agents”). 
 

The Trustee Citicorp International Limited will act as trustee for the holders of the Notes (the 
“Trustee”). 
 

The Security Trustee Citicorp International Limited will act as security trustee (the “Security Trustee”) 
and hold the Security (as defined below) on behalf of the Noteholders and the other 
Secured Parties pursuant to the Security Trust Deed.  See “The Notes — Security 

Package”. 
 

The Account Bank The Issuer will appoint Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch as its account bank (the 
“Account Bank”) in respect of the Issuer Accounts (as defined below) pursuant to 
the Transaction Administration Agreement.  See “The Transaction Administration 

Agreement — The Issuer Accounts”.  The appointment of the Account Bank will be 
documented by an account bank agreement between the Issuer, the Transaction 
Administrator and the Account Bank (the “Account Bank Agreement”). 
 

The Transaction 
Administrator 

The Issuer will appoint Citicorp International Limited (the “Transaction 
Administrator”) to provide certain administrative services in relation to the 
payment obligations of the Issuer pursuant to the Transaction Documents. 
 

The Rating Agency Dagong Global Credit Rating Co, Ltd (the “Rating Agency”). 
 

(b) Asset-level parties 

 
 

The Lender The lender under the Facility Agreement is the Issuer (the “Lender”). 
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The Borrower The borrower under the Facility Agreement is Hontop Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 

(鸿泰能源（新加坡）有限公司), a private company limited by shares incorporated 

under the laws of Singapore (the “Borrower”). 
 
The Borrower is established as the overseas trading and financing platform of the 
Guarantor.  The Borrower’s principal activities consist of investment holding, as 
well as general wholesale trade (including general imports and exports) of products. 
 
The Borrower is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor, which also 
owns 50.24 per cent. of Wanda Group Co., Ltd. 
 

The Guarantor The Guarantor under the Guarantee is Wanda Holding Group Co., Ltd. (万达控股集团有限公司) (the “Guarantor”). 
 

The Facility Agent Citicorp International Limited shall act as the facility agent under the Facility 
Agreement (the “Facility Agent”). 
 
The Facility Agent must resign if it will not be a FATCA Exempt Party on or after 
the earliest FATCA Application Date.  Additionally, the Facility Agent may resign 
voluntarily provided that a reputable replacement facility agent is appointed.  See 
“The Facility Agreement — Replacement of Facility Agent”. 
 

The Mandated Lead 
Arranger and Bookrunner 

Standard Chartered Bank is the mandated lead arranger and bookrunner under the 
Facility Agreement (the “MLAB”). 
 
The MLAB is a party to the Facility Agreement for the sole purposes of: 
 
(a) obtaining the benefit of certain representations, warranties and indemnities 

to be given by the Borrower to the Finance Parties under the Facility 
Agreement; and 

 
(b) being entitled to the receipt of certain arrangement fees payable by the 

Borrower on or before the Closing Date in relation to its role as MLAB. 
 
Save as disclosed above, the MLAB has no further rights or obligations under the 
Facility Agreement. 

 
THE NOTES 
 
The Issuer will issue the Notes to the investors on the Closing Date.  The Notes will constitute direct and unconditional 
obligations of the Issuer and will be secured by the Security Package.  See “The Notes — Security Package” below. 
 
The Notes will be issued initially in registered global form only, without coupons attached and registered in the name of 
a nominee of a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. 
(“Clearstream”). 
 
Beneficial interests in the global certificate evidencing the Notes will be shown on, and transfers of beneficial interests 
in the global certificate will be effected only through, records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream and their 
respective participants.  The Notes are freely transferable in accordance with their terms and subject to certain 
restrictions on transfers and sales. 
 
Principal features of the Notes 
 
Issue Price 
 

The Notes will be issued at 98.570 per cent. of their principal amount. 
 

Principal Amount 
 

U.S.$100,000,000 

Interest Rate 
 

7.95 per cent. per annum. 
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Frequency of 
payment of 
interest 
 

Semi-annually, in accordance with the relevant terms of the Notes. 

Expected Maturity 
Date 
 

The day falling six (6) Business Days prior to the Legal Maturity Date (the “Expected 
Maturity Date”). 
 
“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which 
banks are open for general business in Beijing, Singapore, Hong Kong and New York. 
 

Legal Maturity Date 
 

14 December 2020 (the “Legal Maturity Date”). 
 

Form and 
Denomination 
 

The Notes will be issued outside the United States in offshore transactions under Regulation 
S in registered form and in minimum denominations of U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples 
of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof and will be initially evidenced by a global certificate to be 
deposited on the Closing Date with a common depositary for the Clearing Systems. 
 

Clearing Systems 
 

Clearstream and Euroclear (the “Clearing Systems”). 
 

Listing 
 

Approval in-principle has been received for the listing and quotation of the Notes on the 
Official List of the SGX-ST.  The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of 
any of the statements made or opinions expressed or reports contained herein.  Admission of 
the Notes to the Official List of the SGX-ST or quotation of any Notes on the SGX-ST are 
not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Issuer, its subsidiaries or associated 
companies (if any), or the Notes.  The Notes will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum 
board lot size of U.S.$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) for so long as any of the 
Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require. 
 

Rating 
 

The Notes will, when issued, be assigned an “AA+” rating by the Rating Agency. 
 

Underlying Assets 
 

The Issuer will apply the proceeds from the issuance of the Notes towards the advance to the 
Borrower of a term loan for an amount of U.S.$100,000,000 under the Facility Agreement 
dated on or about 11 December 2017 (the “Facility Agreement”). 
 
The Borrower’s repayment obligations under the Facility Agreement are guaranteed up to a 
maximum amount of U.S.$200,000,000 by the Guarantor under the letter of guarantee issued 
by the Guarantor in respect of the Borrower’s obligations under the Facility Agreement (the 
“Guarantee”). 
 
See the section “The Facility Agreement” below for a summary of the key terms of the 
Facility Agreement. 
 

Security Package 
 

The Issuer will grant first ranking security (the “Security”) pursuant to and described in the 
Security Assignment and Accounts Charge to the Security Trustee to secure all amounts and 
obligations owed by the Issuer to the Secured Parties under the Notes and in connection with 
the Transaction Documents. 
 
The Security Trustee shall, in accordance with the terms of the Security Trust Deed, hold the 
benefit of the Security for itself, the Trustee (for itself and on behalf of the Noteholders), the 
Agents, the Transaction Administrator, the Issuer Administrator, the Account Bank and the 
Facility Agent (together, the “Secured Parties”). 
 
The key assets subject to the Security shall include: 
 
(a) the Issuer’s rights under the Facility Agreement and the Guarantee; 
 
(b) the Issuer’s rights under each Transaction Document; and 
 
(c) the Issuer Accounts. 
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Note Payment Dates 
 

Interest will be payable on the Notes on 14 June 2018 and thereafter semi-annually in arrear 
on 14 June and 14 December of each year, provided that: 
 
(a) the initial Note payment date shall be 14 June 2018 as adjusted for Business Days in 

accordance with paragraph (c) below; 
 
(b) if the Notes have not been previously redeemed in full, the final Note payment date 

shall be the Expected Maturity Date (or, if applicable, the Legal Maturity Date); and 
 
(c) if any note payment date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, 

it shall be adjusted in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention, 
 
(each such note payment date, as so adjusted for Business Days, being a “Note Payment 
Date”). 
 
“Following Business Day Convention” means the convention for adjusting any relevant 
date such that if such relevant date does not fall on a Business Day, it shall be postponed to 
the next day which is a Business Day. 
 

Interest Period 
 

Interest on the Notes will be payable by reference to successive interest periods determined 
as follows: 
 
(a) the initial Interest Period will commence on (and include) the Closing Date and end 

on (but exclude) 14 June 2018; 
 
(b) each subsequent Interest Period (other than the final Interest Period) will commence 

on (and include) the last day of the immediately preceding Interest Period and end 
on (but exclude) the 14th day of the month falling six (6) calendar months from such 
commencement date, so that each Interest Period will end on (but exclude) 14 June 
or 14 December of any given year; and 

 
(c) if the Notes have not been previously redeemed in full, the final Interest Period will 

commence on (and include) the last day of the interest period ending in June 2020 
and end on (but exclude) the Legal Maturity Date, 

 
(each, an “Interest Period”). 
 

Redemption on 
Expected 
Maturity Date 
 

Assuming that no Note Event of Default or Early Redemption occurs, the Notes will be 
redeemed in full on the Expected Maturity Date at the Redemption Amount as at such date. 

Redemption on 
Legal Maturity 
Date 
 

Unless previously redeemed in full (on the Expected Maturity Date or following the 
occurrence of a Note Event of Default or Early Redemption), the Issuer will redeem the 
Notes in full on the Legal Maturity Date at the Redemption Amount as at such date. 
 
The “Redemption Amount” means, on any date, an amount equal to the Principal Amount 
Outstanding of the Notes as at such date plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but 
excluding, such date. 
 
“Principal Amount Outstanding” means the original principal amount of the Notes less the 
aggregate amount of all principal repayments made on the Notes. 
 

Early 
Redemption 
 

Following a Loan Acceleration or Loan Prepayment, the Issuer will redeem the Notes in full 
on the Early Redemption Date at the Early Redemption Amount as at such date (such 
redemption, an “Early Redemption”). 
 
“Early Redemption Amount” means, on any date, an amount equal to the sum of (i) the 
Principal Amount Outstanding of the Notes as at such date (ii) accrued interest thereon to, but 
excluding, such date, and (iii) the Early Termination Fee (as defined in the section below 
entitled “The Facility Agreement – Early Termination Fee”) under the Facility Agreement 
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(the “Early Redemption Fee”). 
 
“Early Redemption Date” means the date falling eight (8) Business Days after the earlier of 
(i) the date on which the acceleration in full of the Facility Agreement occurs and (ii) the 
Facility Agreement becomes due for repayment pursuant to Loan Prepayment, as notified to 
the Transaction Administrator by the Facility Agent. 
 
“Loan Acceleration” means the acceleration in full of the Facility Agreement in accordance 
with its terms. 
 
“Loan Prepayment” means the mandatory prepayment or voluntary full prepayment of the 
Facility Agreement in accordance with its terms. 
 
Where the Issuer (as sole Lender under the Facility Agreement) has the right to accelerate or 
request for prepayment under the Loan, Noteholders may instruct the Issuer to exercise such 
right by passing an Extraordinary Resolution. 
 

Redemption at 
the option of 
Noteholders 
 

Each Noteholder will have the right, at such Noteholder’s option, to require the Issuer to 
redeem all but not some only of that Noteholder’s Notes on (i) a Put Settlement Date in 2018 
at 99.008 per cent. of their principal amount, together with accrued interest to the relevant 
Put Settlement Date; or (ii) a Put Settlement Date in 2019 at 99.483 per cent. of their 
principal amount, together with accrued interest to the relevant Put Settlement Date (each of 
these amounts, the “Put Settlement Amount”).  To exercise such right, the relevant 
Noteholder must deposit at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other 
Paying Agent a duly completed and signed notice of redemption, in the form for the time 
being current, obtainable from the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other 
Paying Agent (a “Put Exercise Notice”), together with the Certificates evidencing the Notes 
to be redeemed (if applicable), not more than 60 Business Days and not less than 30 Business 
Days prior to: 
 
(a) the Note Payment Date falling in December 2018 for redemption on such Note 

Payment Date; or 
 
(b) the Note Payment Date falling in December 2019 for redemption on such Note 

Payment Date, 
 
each such Note Payment Date being a “Put Settlement Date”. 
 
A Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem the 
Notes held by the relevant Noteholder subject to the Put Exercise Notice and the Certificates 
evidencing the Notes to be redeemed (if applicable) being delivered as aforesaid on the 
applicable Put Settlement Date. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, no redemption at the option of Noteholders will take place if the 
relevant Put Settlement Date falls on the same date as the Early Redemption Date for the 
early redemption by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(b). 
 

Withholding tax 
 

All payments by the Issuer in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of, and without 
withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges relating 
to Singapore unless such withholding or deduction is required by law or made for or on 
account of FATCA.  In such event, the Issuer shall not be obliged to pay any additional 
amount to the Noteholders in respect of such withholding or deduction. 
 
“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 
 
“FATCA” means: 
 
(a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the Code or any associated regulations; 
 
(b) any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an 
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intergovernmental agreement between the U.S. and any other jurisdiction, which (in 
either case) facilitates the implementation of paragraph (a) above; 

 
(c) any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any treaty, law or regulation 

referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b) above with the U.S.  Internal Revenue Service, 
the U.S. government or any governmental or taxation authority in any other 
jurisdiction; or 

 
(d) any treaty, law, regulation, instruction or other official guidance analogous to 

paragraphs (a) or (b) of this definition enacted or amended in any other jurisdiction 
from time to time, and any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any such 
treaty, law, regulation, instruction or other official guidance with any governmental 
or taxation authority in any jurisdiction. 

 
Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is 
derived from any of the Notes by any person who is not resident in Singapore and carries on 
any operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax 
exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to certain conditions) under the 
Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 of Singapore (the “ITA”) shall not apply if such person 
acquires such Notes using the funds and profits of such person’s operations through a 
permanent establishment in Singapore.  Any person whose interest, discount income, 
prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost derived from the Notes is not exempt 
from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such income in a return of 
income made under the ITA. 
 

Conditions precedent 
to issue of the Notes 
 

Usual and customary conditions precedent for a transaction of this nature including, but not 
limited to, (a) all conditions precedent to the drawdown of the Facility Agreement having 
been satisfied; (b) the Rating Agency issuing a confirmation of the expected rating of the 
Notes, (c) evidence that the Note Expense Account will be fully funded with an amount of 
U.S.$2,000 and (d) the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint 
Bookrunners being satisfied that all of the prospective investors in the Notes have or will 
comply with their respective purchase obligations in respect of the Notes on or prior to the 
Closing Date. 
 

Further Issues 
 

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders and in accordance 
with the Trust Deed, create and issue further bonds having the same terms and conditions as 
the Notes in all material respects (or in all material respects except for the first payment of 
interest) and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with the 
outstanding Notes, as the case may be, as further described in Condition 18 of the terms and 
conditions of the Notes. 
 

Acceleration and 
Enforcement 
 

Following the occurrence of a Note Event of Default, the Trustee may, in the circumstances 
specified in Condition 9, give notice that the Notes are immediately due and payable.  
Following the delivery of an enforcement notice to the Security Trustee by the Trustee 
pursuant to Condition 4(b), the Security Package shall become enforceable and the Security 
Trustee shall, subject to it being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its 
satisfaction, enforce the Security Package and apply the proceeds of enforcement in 
accordance with the priority of payments set out in “Priority of Payments at Issuer Level 

after Enforcement” below. 
 
“Note Event of Default” means: 
 
(a) Payment default: there has been a failure to pay the principal, interest or any Early 

Redemption Fee (in each case, under the Notes only) within two (2) Business Days 
after the same has become due and payable; 

 
(b) Breach of other obligations: material default is made by the Issuer in the 

performance or observance of any other obligation, condition, provision, 
representation or warranty binding upon or made by it under the Notes or the other 
Transaction Documents, and such material default, if capable of being remedied or 
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cured, is not remedied or cured within two (2) Business Days.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, “material default” as used in this paragraph (b) shall refer to any material 
default by the Issuer that is likely to result in any non-payment by the Issuer under 
the Notes; 

 
(c) Enforcement proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process 

is levied, enforced or sued out on or against all or, a material part of the property, 
assets or revenues of the Issuer, and is not discharged or stayed within thirty (30) 
days of having been so levied, enforced or sued out; 

(d) Insolvency: the Issuer is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) 
insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends, or threatens to stop 
or suspend, payment of all or a material part of its debts, proposes or makes a 
general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the 
relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts, or a moratorium is agreed or 
declared in respect of or affecting all or any material part of the debts of the Issuer; 

(e) Winding-up: an administrator is appointed, an order of any court of competent 
jurisdiction is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up or 
dissolution of the Issuer, or the Issuer ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or, 
substantially all of its business or operations, except for the purpose of and followed 
by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation on terms 
approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders; 

(f) Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with 
any one or more of its obligations under any of the Notes or the Transaction 
Documents; or 

(g) Analogous events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant 
jurisdiction has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in paragraphs (c) 
to (f) of this definition. 

 
Priority of Payments 
at Issuer Level before 
Enforcement 
 

On each Note Payment Date, any Early Redemption Date (if applicable) and any Put 
Settlement Date (if applicable), prior to the delivery of an enforcement notice to the Security 
Trustee by the Trustee pursuant to Condition 4(b), the Transaction Administrator will on 
behalf of the Issuer, apply all amounts on deposit in the Note Payment Account (subject to 
any top-ups from the Note Expense Account for “governmental fees” in item (a) below) in 
the following order of priority: 
 
(a) first, towards all taxes and governmental fees payable by the Issuer; 
 
(b) second, towards all fees, costs, charges, liabilities and expenses of the Transaction 

Administrator, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the 
Account Bank, the Rating Agency and the Issuer Administrator which are due but 
unpaid (subject to an annual cap); 

 
(c) third, pro rata and pari passu, to the Noteholders towards payment of all interest 

due and payable under the Notes; 
 
(d) fourth, pro rata and pari passu, to the Noteholders, towards payment of all principal 

due and payable under the Notes; 
 
(e) fifth, pro rata and pari passu, to the Noteholders, towards payment of any Early 

Redemption Fee due and payable under the Notes (if applicable); 
 
(f) sixth, to pay all fees, costs, charges, liabilities and expenses of the Transaction 

Administrator, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the 
Account Bank, the Rating Agency and the Issuer Administrator in excess of the cap 
in paragraph (b) above; and 
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(g) seventh, the balance to remain in the Note Payment Account. 
 
Upon termination of the Note Payment Account, the balance in the Note Payment Account 
shall be transferred to an account designated by the Issuer pursuant to the Account Bank 
Agreement. 
 

Priority of Payments 
at Issuer Level after 
Enforcement 

On each Note Payment Date, any Early Redemption Date (if applicable) and any Put 
Settlement Date (if applicable), following the delivery of an enforcement notice to the 
Security Trustee by the Trustee pursuant to Condition 4(b), the Transaction Administrator 
will on behalf of the Security Trustee apply all amounts on deposit in the Note Payment 
Account (subject to any top-ups from the Note Expense Account for “governmental fees” and 
the “fees, costs, charges, liabilities and expenses of the Security Trustee” in item (a) below, 
and item (b) below) in the following order of priority: 
 
(a) first, towards all taxes and governmental fees payable by the Issuer and all fees, 

costs, charges, liabilities and expenses of the Security Trustee; 
 
(b) second, towards all fees, costs, charges, liabilities and expenses of the Transaction 

Administrator, the Trustee, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the Account Bank, the 
Rating Agency and the Issuer Administrator which are due but unpaid;  

 
(c) third, to the Trustee, towards payment pro rata and pari passu to the Noteholders of 

all interest due and payable under the Notes; 
 
(d) fourth, to the Trustee, towards payment pro rata and pari passu to the Noteholders 

of all principal due and payable under the Notes; 
 
(e) fifth, to the Trustee towards payment pro rata and pari passu to the Noteholders of 

any Early Redemption Fee due and payable under the Notes (if applicable); and 
 
(f) sixth, the balance to remain in the Note Payment Account. 
 
Upon termination of the Note Payment Account, the balance in the Note Payment Account 
shall be transferred to an account designated by the Issuer pursuant to the Account Bank 
Agreement. 
 

Limited recourse and 
Non petition 
 

(a) Recourse against the Issuer, and the liability of the Issuer, in relation to its 
obligations under the Notes and the Transaction Documents, shall be limited to the 
amounts from time to time available in accordance with, and in the order of 
priorities set out in the Transaction Administration Agreement (see “The Notes — 

Priority of Payments at Issuer Level before Enforcement” and “The Notes — 

Priority of Payments at Issuer Level after Enforcement”).  Accordingly, no 
Noteholder (or other Secured Party) shall have any claim or recourse against the 
Issuer in respect of any amount which is or remains, or will remain, unsatisfied 
when no further amounts are receivable or recoverable in respect of the Secured 
Property (as defined below) and all funds comprising the Secured Property and/or 
representing the proceeds of realisation thereof have been applied in accordance 
with the provisions of the Transaction Documents, and any unsatisfied amounts 
shall be waived and extinguished.  In addition, where compliance with the 
obligations imposed on the Issuer under any Transaction Document would require 
the expenditure by the Issuer of its own funds, the obligations of the Issuer shall be 
limited to the extent that it is put in funds to meet such expenditure. 

 
(b) Each of the parties to the Transaction Documents has agreed or will agree that it 

shall not have the right to take any action to commence any case, proceedings, 
proposal or other action under any existing or further law of any jurisdiction, 
domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganisation, arrangement 
in the name of insolvency proceedings, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, 
dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to the Issuer or the debts of the 
Issuer. 
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(c) Each of the parties to the Transaction Documents has acknowledged and agreed or 

will acknowledge and agree that the Issuer’s obligations are corporate obligations of 
the Issuer and that each such party shall not have any recourse against any of the 
directors, officers or employees of the Issuer for any claims, losses, damages, 
liabilities, indemnities or other obligations whatsoever in connection with any 
transactions contemplated by any Transaction Document. 

 
U.S. Selling 
Restrictions 
 

Regulation S, Category 1. 
 

Governing Law 
 

The Notes and all non-contractual obligations arising under them will be governed by, and 
construed in accordance with, English law. 
 

THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS 
 
The key transaction documents (the “Transaction Documents”) to which the Issuer is a party or a recipient are: 
 
(a) the trust deed constituting the Notes between the Issuer and the Trustee (the “Trust Deed”); 
 
(b) the agency agreement in relation to the Notes between the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents (the “Agency 

Agreement”); 
 
(c) the security trust deed in relation to the Security between, among others, the Issuer and the Security Trustee 

(the “Security Trust Deed”); 
 
(d) the security assignment of the Issuer’s rights under the Transaction Documents between the Issuer and the 

Security Trustee (the “Security Assignment”); 
 
(e) the accounts charge in relation to the Issuer Accounts between the Issuer and the Security Trustee (the 

“Accounts Charge”); 
 
(f) the transaction administration agreement between, among others, the Issuer and the Transaction Administrator 

(the “Transaction Administration Agreement”); 
 
(g) the account bank agreement between the Issuer, the Account Bank and the Transaction Administrator (the 

“Account Bank Agreement”); and 
 
(h) the Facility Agreement and the Guarantee. 
 
A summary of some of the key provisions of the Transaction Administration Agreement, the Facility Agreement and the 
Guarantee is set out below. 
 
THE TRANSACTION ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT 
 
The Issuer will enter into the Transaction Administration Agreement with, inter alios, the Transaction Administrator in 
relation to the provision of certain services in relation to the Facility Agreement, the Guarantee, the issue of the Notes 
and the payment obligations of the Issuer. 
 
The Issuer Accounts 
 
On or before the Closing Date, the Transaction Administrator shall, as instructed by the Issuer, establish, or cause to be 
established, and will be authorised to operate, the note payment account (the “Note Payment Account”) and the note 
expense account (the “Note Expense Account”), in the name of the Issuer with the Account Bank (collectively, the 
“Issuer Accounts”).  The terms governing the Issuer Accounts will be set out in an account bank agreement between 
the Issuer, the Transaction Administrator and the Account Bank.  The terms governing the Issuer Accounts will be set 
out in an account bank agreement between the Issuer, the Transaction Administrator and the Account Bank. 
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The Note Payment Account 
 
The Transaction Administrator shall procure that all collections received by it in respect of the Facility Agreement and 
all claims made under the Guarantee shall be deposited into the Note Payment Account.  On each Note Payment Date, 
the balance on deposit in the Note Payment Account shall be applied in accordance with the order of priority of 
payments set out in the Transaction Administration Agreement (see “The Notes — Priority of Payments at Issuer Level 

before Enforcement” and “The Notes — Priority of Payments at Issuer Level after Enforcement”).  Upon termination of 
the Note Payment Account, the balance in the Note Payment Account shall be transferred to an account designated by 
the Issuer pursuant to the Account Bank Agreement. 
 
The Note Expense Account 
 
(a) On or before the Closing Date, the Note Expense Account shall be funded to the extent of U.S.$2,000. 
 
(b) The balance on deposit in the Note Expense Account shall be applied from time to time, subject to an annual 

cap prior to the delivery of an enforcement notice to the Security Trustee by the Trustee pursuant to Condition 
4(b), towards (i) governmental fees and (ii) payment of all fees, costs, charges, liabilities and other expenses in 
connection with the issuance of the Notes as provided in the Transaction Administration Agreement. 

 
(c)  Following the delivery of an enforcement notice to the Security Trustee by the Trustee pursuant to Condition 

4(b), the annual cap shall no longer apply and if any amount remains in the Note Expense Account following 
payment in full of items (a) and (b) set out in the section above entitled “The Notes – Priority of Payments at 

Issuer Level after Enforcement”, it shall be transferred into the Note Payment Account and applied accordingly. 
 
Change of Account Bank 
 
(a) Each Issuer Account shall be maintained with the Account Bank and, except pursuant to the provisions of the 

Transaction Administration Agreement, shall only be changed in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement and clause 8 (Replacement of Account Bank) of the Account Bank Agreement and with the prior 
written consent of the Security Trustee. 

 
(b) The Transaction Administrator shall promptly notify each of the parties to the Transaction Administration 

Agreement and the Rating Agency of the appointment of any replacement account bank and the details of any 
new Issuer Accounts at the time of such replacement. 

 
Replacement of Transaction Administrator 
 
(a) The Issuer (at the direction of the Security Trustee) may terminate the appointment of the Transaction 

Administrator on written notice following the occurrence of certain trigger events, including the following: 
 

(i) the Transaction Administrator is in default of any of its obligations, and such default is not cured 
within the applicable grace period, if any;  

 
(ii) the insolvency of the Transaction Administrator; 

 
(iii) if, in the reasonable opinion of the Security Trustee, continuation of the appointment of the 

Transaction Administrator would affect in a materially adverse manner the interests of the Secured 
Parties; or 

 
(iv) if the Transaction Administrator merges and the merged entity does not take up the duties of the 

Transaction Administrator. 
 
(b) Any termination of the Transaction Administrator shall not be deemed effective until a successor Transaction 

Administrator acceptable to the Security Trustee has been appointed and such successor Transaction 
Administrator accepts its appointment. 

 
Administration and monitoring of collections under the Facility Agreement and the Guarantee 
 
The Transaction Administrator and the Facility Agent shall monitor collections received in respect of the Facility 
Agreement and the Guarantee and take any enforcement action as may be necessary and as specified below: 
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Timeline 1 below summarises the timeline for payment under the Facility Agreement under normal circumstances 
where there is no default or prepayment under the Facility Agreement. 
 
Timeline 2 and Timeline 3 below summarise the timeline for non-payment of the Borrower and mandatory prepayment 
under the Facility Agreement respectively. 
 
Timeline 4 below summarises the timeline for mandatory partial prepayment under the Facility Agreement and 
redemption of the Notes at the option of Noteholders. 
 
Timeline 5 below summarises the timeline for voluntary full prepayment under the Facility Agreement following the 
delivery of a voluntary prepayment request by the Borrower to the Facility Agent. 
 
 
 
 

 

• Principal Paying Agent to make 
payments of interest and/or 
principal under the Notes to the 
Noteholders. 

T: Note Payment Date1 T-9 Business Days 

• Due date for payment of interest and/or 
principal under the Facility Agreement. 

 

• Borrower pays interest and/or principal on 
time. 

Note 1: For the final interest period, assuming the Borrower repays all outstanding interest and principal under the Facility 
Agreement on time, the final Note Payment Date will be brought forward to the Expected Maturity Date, being the day falling six 
(6) Business Days prior to the Legal Maturity Date. 

Timeline 1: Normal arrangement for repayment of interest and/or principal assuming no default under the Facility 
Agreement 
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T+6 
Business 

Days 

T+11 
Business 

Days 

• Due date for prepayment under the Facility Agreement. 
 

• Borrower pays (a) principal outstanding, (b) accrued 
interest up to (but excluding) T+14 Business Days, and 
(c) Early Termination Fee (collectively, the “Prepayment 
Amount”). 

• Early Redemption of the Notes. 
 

• Principal Paying Agent to make 
payments of interests, principal 
and/or other amounts under the 
Notes to the Noteholders. 

• If any claims are made under the Guarantee, 
payments under such claims will be due from the 
Guarantee Provider by T+11 Business Days. 

Within 5 Beijing Business Days 

T+5 
Business 

Days 

T+14 
Business 

Days 

• If Prepayment Amount not received 
under the Facility Agreement by 
T+6 Business Days, claim to be 
made under the Guarantee. 

• Occurrence of a Mandatory Prepayment Event (as 
defined under the Facility Agreement). 

 

• The Facility Agreement is automatically due for 
prepayment at T+5 Business Days. 

T: Occurrence of 
Early Termination 

Event 

Timeline 3: Mandatory Prepayment under the Facility Agreement 

T-2 
Business 

Days 

• Other parties to notify Facility Agent of any indemnifiable amounts to be claimed 
from the Borrower under the Facility Agreement (if any). 

 

• If by 4:30 pm, the relevant payment of interest and/or principal is not made, the 
Loan automatically accelerates. 

 

• Facility Agent (on behalf of the Issuer) to make a claim against the Borrower for 
the Indemnified Amounts. Indemnified Amounts are payable by 3:00 pm (Hong 
Kong time) on the next business day. 

• Principal Paying 
Agent to make 
payments of 
interest, principal 
and/or other 
amounts under the 
Notes to the 
Noteholders. 

T-9 
Business 

Days 

• Receipt of full proceeds of the claim made under 
the Guarantee by T-2 Business Days. 

Within 5 Beijing Business Days 

T-8 Business 

Days 

T-7 
Business 

Days 

T: Note 
Payment Date 

• Borrower to pay all outstanding 
amounts owing under the Facility 
Agreement (i.e. accelerated interest 
and principal amount, Early 
Termination Fee and Indemnified 
Amounts). 

 

• If such amounts are not paid by 
3:00pm, the Facility Agent (on behalf 
of the Beneficiary) shall make a claim 
under the Guarantee for such 
amounts. 

• Due date for payment of interest and/or principal under the 
Facility Agreement. 

 

• If the Borrower fails to pay interest and/or principal by 4:30pm, it 
will have a grace period of 24 hours to make such payment. 

 

• The Facility Agent shall (a) calculate the total of the outstanding 
interest, principal and the provisional Early Termination Fee as if 
the Loan had been accelerated; and (b) notify the other parties 
under the Facility Agreement to calculate any provisional 
indemnifiable amounts to be claimed from the parties. 

Timeline 2: Alternative arrangement on the occurrence of non-payment by the Borrower under the Facility Agreement 
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• Due date for partial 
prepayment under the Facility 
Agreement. 

 

• Borrower pays the Partial 
Prepayment Amount. 

T-3 Business 
Days 

T: Note 
Payment 

Date 

Timeline 4: Mandatory Partial Prepayment under the Facility Agreement and redemption of the Notes at the option of 
Noteholders 

• An Agent receives Put Exercise Notice from a 
Noteholder between T-60 and T-30 Business 
Days 

 

• A Partial Prepayment Trigger Event shall be 
deemed to have occurred once the Put 
Exercise Notice has been forwarded to the 
Facility Agent and the Issuer 

T-9 Business Days: 
Partial Prepayment 

• The Facility Agent shall calculate and notify the 
Borrower of the prepayment amount which 
consists of (a) the principal amount of the Notes 
held by the relevant Noteholders and to be 
redeemed and (b) accrued interest up to (but 
excluding) the immediately Note Payment Date 
(collectively, the “Partial Prepayment 
Amount”). 

• If any claims are made under the 
Guarantee, payments under such 
claims will be due from the 
Guarantee Provider by T-3 
Business Days. 

• Early redemption of the Notes held by the 
relevant Noteholders. 

 

• Principal Paying Agent to make payments 
of a partial amount of principal, interests 
and/or other amounts under the Notes to 
the relevant Noteholders. 

On or before 
T-19 Business 

Days 

T-8 Business 
Days 

• If Partial Prepayment Amount not 
received under the Facility 
Agreement by T-8 Business Days, 
claim to be made under the 
Guarantee. 

Within 5 Beijing Business 
Days D: Delivery of Put Exercise 

Notice by a Noteholder 

Timeline 5: Voluntary Prepayment under the Facility Agreement 

• If Voluntary Prepayment Amount not 
received under the Facility Agreement 
by T-8 Business Days, claim to be 
made under the Guarantee. 

T-8 Business 
Days 

• Borrower delivers a 
written voluntary 
prepayment notice to the 
Facility Agent between T-
60 and T-30 Business 
Days 

• Early Redemption of the Notes. 
 

• Principal Paying Agent to make payments of principal, 
interests and/or other amounts under the Notes to the 
Noteholders. 

T: Note 
Payment 

Date 

D: Delivery 
of Voluntary 
Prepayment 

Notice by 
the 

Borrower 

• Noteholders being 
notified of the Borrower’s 
intention to prepay. 

On or before 
D+10 Business 

Days 

• Due date for voluntary 
prepayment under the Facility 
Agreement. 

 

• Borrower pays the Partial 
Prepayment Amount. 

T-9 Business Days: 
Partial Prepayment 

Within 5 Beijing 
Business Days 

T-3 Business 
Days 

• If any claims are made under the 
Guarantee, payments under such 
claims will be due from the Guarantee 
Provider by T-3 Business Days. 
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Making a claim under the Guarantee 

 
In the event that payments due under the Facility Agreement are not received when due, the Facility Agent shall make a 
claim for such missed payment under the Guarantee in accordance with Timeline 2, 3, 4 or 5 above (as applicable).  
Under the terms of the Guarantee, the Guarantor is obliged to make a payment in respect of a demand received under 
the Guarantee within five (5) Beijing Business Days of the date the demand is sent in immediately available and cleared 
funds. 
 
All proceeds received with respect to any claims made under the Guarantor shall be deposited in the Note Payment 
Account. 
 
For the purpose of this Offering Circular, “Beijing Business Day” means a day on which commercial banks are open 
for general official business in Beijing. 
 
THE FACILITY AGREEMENT 
 
Pursuant to the Facility Agreement, the Issuer (as Lender) shall make available to the Borrower a U.S. dollar term loan 
facility with a facility amount of up to U.S.$100,000,000.  The Guarantor has issued a Guarantee in respect of payment 
obligations of the Borrower under the Facility Agreement in favour of the Issuer (as lender under the Facility 
Agreement).  The loan amount and interest under the Facility Agreement are summarised below. 
 

 Facility Agreement 

Facility Type Term loan facility. 

Facility Amount U.S.$100,000,000. 

Interest 7.95 per cent. per annum. 

Interest Period Six (6) months, subject to the provisions in the Facility Agreement (see 
also the timelines above). 

Maximum guaranteed amount under the 
Guarantee 

U.S.$200,000,000. 

 
 
Repayment of Interest and Principal 
 
The interest and principal payable under the Facility Agreement correspond to the interest and principal payable under 
the Notes.  The key terms of the Facility Agreement are set out in the section “The Facility Agreement” below. 
 
If the Borrower fails to make the necessary payments under the Facility Agreement on the applicable due date, the 
Facility Agent shall on behalf of the Issuer (as Lender) notify the Transaction Administrator of such non-payment on 
the same day, and the Facility Agent shall make a claim under the Guarantee in accordance with Timeline 2, 3, 4 or 5 
(as applicable) above. 
 
The Issuer shall apply the payments received under the Facility Agreement or the Guarantee (as the case may be) 
towards the discharge of the Issuer’s payment obligations under the Notes on the immediately following Note Payment 
Date, Early Redemption Date (if applicable) or Partial Early Redemption Date (if applicable).  The Issuer shall satisfy 
those payment obligations under the Notes by the Transaction Administrator (as agent of the Issuer) making such 
amounts available to the Principal Paying Agent. 
 
The Facility Agreement will only be terminated early on the occurrence of any of the following events: 
 
(a) mandatory prepayment resulting from a Mandatory Prepayment Event.  See “The Facility Agreement – 

Mandatory prepayment”; 
 
(b) voluntary prepayment proposed by the Borrower in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.  See 

“The Facility Agreement – Voluntary Prepayment”; or 
 
(c) acceleration resulting from the occurrence of an event of default under the Facility Agreement. 
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Under the Facility Agreement, the Early Termination Fee, being an additional interest amount, shall be payable by the 
Borrower together with any early repayment amounts following Loan Acceleration or Loan Prepayment.  See “The 

Facility Agreement – Early Termination Fee” below. 
 
Acceleration under the Facility Agreement 
 
The acceleration under the Facility Agreement will be automatic in the case of a failure to pay interest or principal by 
the Borrower which is not cured within the grace period of one (1) Business Day.  Other Events of Default (as defined 
in the Facility Agreement) do not result in automatic acceleration; in such cases, acceleration must be directed by the 
Facility Agent acting on the instructions of the Majority Lenders.  As the Issuer is the sole Lender in respect of the 
Facility Agreement, any decision on acceleration will be taken by the Noteholders on behalf of the Issuer (pursuant to 
Condition 13(a)(ix)) and will require an Extraordinary Resolution. 
 
Mandatory prepayment under the Facility Agreement 
 
The Borrower will be required to mandatorily prepay all of the Loan under the Facility Agreement in accordance with 
Timeline 3 above if a Mandatory Prepayment Event occurs due to failure to complete registration with the State 
Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC (“SAFE”) or the National Development Regulatory Commission of 
the PRC (“NDRC”) in respect of the Guarantee, illegality affecting the Issuer (in its capacity as lender under the 
Facility Agreement, compromising its ability to perform its obligations or the occurrence of any Guarantor Default 
Event. 
 
Mandatory partial prepayment under the Facility Agreement 
 
The Borrower will be required to mandatorily prepay the Affected Principal Amount (as defined in the Facility 
Agreement), together with accrued interest, in accordance with Timeline 4 above if the Issuer receives a Put Exercise 
Notice (as defined in the Facility Agreement) and such notice has been forwarded to the Facility Agent.  See “The 

Facility Agreement – Mandatory partial prepayment arising from a Partial Prepayment Trigger Event” below. 
 
Voluntary prepayment under the Facility Agreement 
 
The Borrower may propose to prepay the Loan (in whole and not in part) under the Facility Agreement in accordance 
with Timeline 5 above. 
 
Replacement of Facility Agent 
 
The Facility Agent may resign by giving not less than thirty (30) days’ notice to the Lenders and the Borrower, in which 
case the Majority Lenders may, by giving five (5) days’ notice to the Facility Agent, appoint a successor Facility Agent.  
If the Majority Lenders have not appointed a successor Facility Agent within ten (10) days after the applicable notice of 
resignation was given, the retiring Facility Agent may appoint a successor Facility Agent. 
 
The resignation of the retiring Facility Agent or appointment of a successor Facility Agent may not be effected unless (i) 
such successor is, at the time of being so appointed, a reputable international trust and agency service provider and (ii) 
such successor would not be an Impaired Facility Agent upon its appointment as successor Facility Agent. 
 
The Facility Agent must resign by giving notice to the Lenders and the Borrower if it becomes an Impaired Facility 
Agent.  If the Facility Agent becomes an Impaired Facility Agent, whether or not the Facility Agent has given a notice 
of resignation, the Majority Lenders may, by giving five (5) days’ notice to the Facility Agent, replace the Facility 
Agent by appointing a successor Facility Agent.  If the Majority Lenders have not appointed a successor Facility Agent 
within ten (10) days after the applicable notice of resignation was given, the retiring Facility Agent may appoint a 
successor Facility Agent who, at the time of being so appointed, would not be an Impaired Facility Agent. 
 
The Facility Agent must resign if it will not be a FATCA Exempt Party on or after the earliest FATCA Application Date. 
 
Any resignation shall only take effect upon the appointment of the successor Facility Agent. 
 
“FATCA Application Date” means: 
 
(a) in relation to a “withholdable payment” described in section 1473(1)(A)(i) of the Code (which relates to 
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payments of interest and certain other payments from sources within the US), 1 July 2014; 
 
(b) in relation to a “withholdable payment” described in section 1473(1)(A)(ii) of the Code (which relates to 

“gross proceeds” from the disposition of property of a type that can produce interest from sources within the 
US), 1 January 2019; or 

 
(c) in relation to a “passthru payment” described in section 1471(d)(7) of the Code not falling within paragraphs 

(a) or (b) above, 1 January 2019, 
 
or, in each case, such other date from which such payment may become subject to a deduction or withholding required 
by FATCA as a result of any change in FATCA after the date of the Facility Agreement. 
 
“FATCA Deduction” means a deduction or withholding from a payment under a Finance Document required by 
FATCA. 
 
“FATCA Exempt Party” means a party that is entitled to receive payments free from any FATCA Deduction. 
 
“Impaired Facility Agent” means the Facility Agent at any time when: 
 
(a) it becomes unlawful in any applicable jurisdiction for the Facility Agent to perform any of its obligations or 

functions in its capacity as Facility Agent as contemplated by any Finance Document; 
 
(b) an Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing with respect to the Facility Agent; or 

 

(c) the Facility Agent is required to resign because it will not be a FATCA Exempt Party on or after the earliest 
FATCA Application Date pursuant to the Facility Agreement. 

 
“Insolvency Event”, in relation to an entity means that such party: 
 
(a) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger in which the surviving entity 

assumes all the obligations of the dissolved entity hereunder); 
 
(b) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing its inability generally to pay its 

debts as they become due; 
 
(c) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors; 
 
(d) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, 

rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the 
jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any 
other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ rights or any law 
regarding rehabilitation and/or resolution of financial institutions, or a petition is presented for its winding-up 
or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or other official; 

 
(e) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under 

any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is presented for 
its winding-up or liquidation, and, in the case of any such proceeding or petition instituted or presented against 
it, such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in paragraph (d) 
above and: 

 
(i) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of 

an order for its winding-up or liquidation; or 
 

(ii) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within thirty (30) days of the institution 
or presentation thereof; 

 
(f) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or liquidation (other than pursuant to a 

consolidation, amalgamation or merger in which the surviving entity assumes all the obligations of the 
dissolved entity hereunder); 
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(g) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, 
trustee, custodian, judicial manager or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets (other 
than, for so long as it is required by law or regulation not to be publicly disclosed, any such appointment 
which is to be made, or is made, by a person or entity described in paragraph (d) above); 

 
(h) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, 

sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and 
such secured party maintains possession for thirty (30) days, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, 
stayed or restrained, in each case within thirty (30) days thereafter; 

 
(i) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an 

analogous effect to any of the events specified in paragraphs (a) to (h) above; or 
 
(j) takes any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence, in any of the 

foregoing acts. 
 
“Majority Lenders” means at any time during the Availability Period (as defined in the Facility Agreement) or while 
the Facility remains outstanding a Lender or Lenders with an aggregate Commitment more than 662/3 per cent. of the 
Total Commitment (as defined in the Facility Agreement) (or, if the Total Commitment has been reduced to zero, the 
aggregate of more than 662/3 per cent. of the Total Commitment immediately prior to the reduction). 
 
THE GUARANTEE 
 
The payment obligations of the Borrower under the Facility Agreement are guaranteed under the Guarantee up to a 
maximum amount summarised in the section “The Guarantee” below.  Claims under the Guarantee will be made by the 
Facility Agent or, if the Facility Agent is unable to do so under certain circumstances, the Issuer (in its capacity as 
beneficiary under the Guarantee (the “Beneficiary”), itself.  The key terms of the Guarantee (including how the 
guaranteed amount will automatically reduce) are set out in the section “The Guarantee” below. 
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RISK FACTORS 

 
In addition to other information in this Offering Circular, prior to making any investment decision, prospective 

investors should carefully consider the following risk factors, together with all other information contained in this 

Offering Circular, before purchasing the Notes.  The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only ones 

involved.  All risk factors described below are contingencies which may or may not occur and the parties involved are 

not in a position to express any view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.  The business, financial 

conditions or results of operations of the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor could be materially and adversely 

affected by any of these risks.  Each of the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor believes that the following risk 

factors may affect the Issuer’s, the Borrower’s, and the Guarantor’s ability to fulfil its respective obligations under the 

Notes, the Facility Agreement and the Guarantee (as the case may be).  Additional considerations and uncertainties not 

presently known to the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor or which they deem immaterial may also have an 

adverse effect on an investment in the Notes.  The following is not intended to be exhaustive and prospective purchasers 

of the Notes should also take independent tax, legal and other relevant advice as to the structure and viability of 

making an investment in the Notes. 

 

This Offering Circular may also contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.  Actual results 

could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, 

including the considerations described below and elsewhere in this Offering Circular. 

 
Factors which each of the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor believes may be material for the purpose of 

assessing market risks associated with the Notes are also described below.  Each of the Issuer, the Borrower and the 

Guarantor believes that the factors described below represent the principal risk inherent in investing in the Notes.  

However the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor may be unable to repay principal, interest or other amounts or 

fulfil other obligations on or in connection with the Notes, the Facility Agreement or the Guarantee for other reasons 

and each of the Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor does not represent that the statements below regarding the 

risks of investment in the Notes are exhaustive. 

 
Limitations of this Offering Circular 
 
This Offering Circular does not, and does not purport to, contain all information that a prospective investor in or 
existing holder of the Notes may require in investigating the Issuer, the Borrower or the Guarantor prior to making an 
investment or divestment decision in relation to the Notes.  Neither this Offering Circular nor any document or 
information (or any part thereof) delivered or supplied under or in relation to the Notes (or any part thereof) is intended 
to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer  
the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager or the Joint Bookrunners that any recipient of this Offering 
Circular or any such other document or information (or such part thereof) should subscribe for or purchase or sell any 
of the Notes. 
 
This Offering Circular is not, and does not purport to be, investment advice.  A prospective investor should make an 
investment in the Notes only after it has determined that such investment is suitable for its investment objectives.  
Determining whether an investment in the Notes is suitable is a prospective investor’s responsibility, even if the 
investor has received information to assist it in making such a determination.  Each person receiving this Offering 
Circular acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Issuer, its subsidiaries and/or its associated companies, the 
Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners or any person affiliated with each of them in 
connection with its investigation of the accuracy or completeness of the information contained herein or of any 
additional information considered by it to be necessary in connection with its investment or divestment decision. 
 
Any recipient of this Offering Circular contemplating subscribing for or purchasing or selling any of the Notes should 
determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Offering Circular and any such other document or 
information (or any part thereof) and its investment or divestment should be, and shall be deemed to be, based solely on 
its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of 
the Issuer, the Borrower, or the Guarantee, the terms and conditions of the Notes and any other factors relevant to its 
decision, including the merits and risks involved.  A prospective investor should consult with its legal, tax and financial 
advisers prior to deciding to make an investment in the Notes. 
 
Information contained in this Offering Circular relating to the Borrower has been provided by the Borrower pursuant to 
the Facility Agreement.  Information contained in this Offering Circular relating to the Guarantor has been provided by 
the Guarantor pursuant to the Guarantee.  None of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the 
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Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the 
MLAB or the Account Bank has separately verified such information nor do they make any representation as to the 
accuracy and completeness of such information.  In the event that information relating to the Borrower or the Guarantor 
is inaccurate, the Noteholders will only have indirect recourse to the Borrower through the security assignment 
provided by the Issuer in favour of the Security Trustee (who holds that security on behalf of the Noteholders and the 
other Secured Parties) over the Issuer’s rights under the Facility Agreement.  This includes any rights the Issuer may 
have to sue the Borrower for breach of representation as to the accuracy of such information and rights under the 
corresponding indemnity. 
 
RISKS RELATING TO THE NOTES 
 
Liability under the Notes is limited to the Issuer 
 
The payment obligations under the Notes will be the obligations of the Issuer and will not be obligations or 
responsibilities of any other person or entity.  In particular, the Notes will not be obligations or responsibilities of, and 
will not be guaranteed by, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the 
Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent, the MLAB, the Account Bank, the 
Borrower, the Guarantor or any company in the same group of companies as, or affiliated to, such parties or any other 
party.  None of these persons will accept any liability to the Noteholders whatsoever in respect of any failure by the 
Issuer to pay any amount due under the Notes.  Noteholders will not have any recourse against any parties other than 
the Issuer. 
 
Limited liquidity of the Notes 
 
There can be no assurance regarding the future development of the market for the Notes or the ability of the 
Noteholders, or the price at which the Noteholders may be able, to sell their Notes.  Approval in-principle has been 
received for the listing and quotation of the Notes on the Official List of the SGX-ST.  However, there can be no 
assurance that the Issuer will be able to obtain or to maintain such listing and that, even if listed, the Notes may have no 
established trading market when issued and one may never develop.  Even if a market for the Notes does develop, it 
may have limited liquidity. Liquidity of the Notes will be adversely affected if the Notes are held or allocated to a 
limited number of investors.  None of Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager and the Joint Bookrunners is 
obliged to make a market in the Notes and any such market making, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time at 
the sole discretion of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager and the Joint Bookrunners.  In addition, the 
Notes are being offered pursuant to exemptions from registration under the Securities Act and, as a result, holders will 
only be able to resell their Notes in transactions that have been registered under the Securities Act or in transactions not 
subject to or exempt from registration under the Securities Act.  Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes 
easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed 
secondary market. 
 
This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed 
for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited 
categories of investors.  These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price 
volatility than conventional debt securities. 
 
The market value of the Notes may fluctuate depending on a number of factors.  Consequently, any sale of the Notes by 
the Noteholders in any secondary market which may develop may be at a discount from the original purchase price of 
such Notes and an investor in the Notes must be prepared to hold the Notes for an indefinite period of time or until their 
maturity. 
 

Interest rate risk 
 
Noteholders may suffer unforeseen losses due to fluctuations in interest rates.  Generally, a rise in interest rates may 
cause a fall in note prices, resulting in a capital loss for the Noteholders.  However, the Noteholders may reinvest the 
interest payments at higher prevailing interest rates.  Conversely, when interest rates fall, note prices may rise.  The 
Noteholders may enjoy a capital gain but interest payments received may be reinvested at lower prevailing interest rates. 
 
Investment in the Notes is subject to exchange rate risks 
 
Investment in the Notes is subject to exchange rate risks.  The value of the U.S. dollar against the RMB and other 
foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by changes in the United States, international political and economic 
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conditions and by many other factors.  All payments of interest and principal with respect to the Notes will be made in 
U.S. dollars.  As a result, the value of these U.S. dollar payments may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the 
marketplace.  If the value of the U.S. dollar depreciates against the RMB or other foreign currencies, the value of a 
Noteholder’s investment in RMB or other applicable foreign currency terms will decline. 
 
Inflation risk 
 
Noteholders may suffer erosion on the return of their investments due to inflation.  Noteholders would have an 
anticipated rate of return based on expected inflation rates on the purchase of the Notes.  An unexpected increase in 
inflation could reduce the actual returns. 
 
Early Redemption Risk 
 
The Notes will be subject to early redemption upon the occurrence of any acceleration or prepayment event under the 
Facility Agreement.  For example, the occurrence of any Mandatory Prepayment Event as required under the Facility 
Agreement will trigger mandatory prepayment. 
 
The Borrower may also voluntarily prepay the whole of the loan under the Facility Agreement in December 2018 or 
December 2019. Such voluntary prepayment will lead to an early redemption of all of the Notes pursuant to Condition 
6(b) by the Issuer on the Early Redemption Date at the Early Redemption Amount as at such date. 
 
An optional redemption feature (due to voluntary prepayment of loan under the Facility Agreement by the Borrower) is 
likely to limit the market value of the Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem the Notes, the 
market value of those Notes will generally not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This 
may also be true prior to any redemption period. The date on which the Issuer elects to redeem the Notes may not 
accord with the preference on individual Noteholders. This may be disadvantageous to the Noteholders in light of 
market conditions or the individual circumstances of the Noteholders. In addition, the Borrower may be expected to 
voluntarily prepay the loan under the Facility Agreement when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate 
under the Facility Agreement. At those times, an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in 
comparable securities at an effective distribution rate at the same level as that of the Notes. 
 
Further, there can be no assurance that the Borrower will be able to discharge its payment obligations under the Facility 
Agreement in a timely manner in the event of an early redemption. 
 

Put option exercised by a Noteholder may be overridden by early redemption of the Notes by the Issuer 
 
Pursuant to Condition 6(f), if there is more than one notice of redemption given of any Notes (which shall include any 
notice given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(b) and any Put Exercise Notice given by a Noteholder pursuant to 
Condition 6(c)), the notice given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(b) shall prevail. Any Put Exercise Notice given 
by the relevant Noteholder, whether before or after the delivery of the early redemption notice by the Issuer, shall cease 
to be effective and the early redemption of the Notes will take place pursuant to Condition 6(b). 
 

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

 
Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances.  
In particular, each potential investor should: 
 
(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks 

of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference (if any) in this Offering 
Circular or any applicable supplement to this Offering Circular; 

 
(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular 

financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such investment will have on its overall 
investment portfolio; 

 
(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including 

Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or 
interest payments is different from the potential investor’s currency; 
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(d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and 
financial markets; and 

 
(e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, 

interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks. 
 
The Notes are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce risk or 
enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios.  A potential 
investor should not invest in the Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone 
or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting 
effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall 
investment portfolio. 
 
Additionally, the investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or 
review or regulation by certain authorities.  Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine 
whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of 
borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase of the Notes.  Financial institutions should consult their legal 
advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-
based capital or similar rules. 
 
Modification 

 
The terms and conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters 
affecting their interests generally.  These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including 
Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the 
majority.  There is a risk that the decision of the majority of holders of the Notes may be adverse to the interests of 
individual Noteholders. 
 
The terms and conditions of the Notes provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders, agree to any 
modification of any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of the Transaction Documents which in the opinion of 
the Trustee will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders and to any modification of the Trust 
Deed which, in the Trustee’s opinion, is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is to correct a manifest error or to 
comply with any mandatory provision of law.  The terms and conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, 
without the consent of the Noteholders, authorise or waive any proposed breach or breach of the terms and conditions 
of the Notes or any of the provisions of the Transaction Documents if, in the opinion of the Trustee, the interests of the 
Noteholders will not be materially prejudiced thereby. 
 

The Noteholders have limited recourse against the Issuer’s obligations 
 
There may be insufficient moneys of the Issuer to meet the payment obligations under the Notes following an 
enforcement of the Security Trust Deed or the Security Package.  The money in the Issuer Accounts and any other 
money received by the Issuer under the Facility Agreement, the Guarantee and the Transaction Documents are the only 
assets available to the Issuer to support its obligations in respect of the Notes and, in the event of the enforcement of the 
Security Trust Deed or the Security Package, the Trustee will have recourse only to the Security as constituted under 
the Security Package and there is no assurance that, in such circumstances, those assets will be sufficient to redeem the 
Notes. 
 

Subordination 

 
The payment of principal, interest and any other amounts payable on the Notes are subordinated to payments towards 
taxes and other senior expenses payable to other parties (subject to an annual cap prior to enforcement).  See 
“Transaction Summary — Priority of Payments at Issuer Level before Enforcement” and “Transaction Summary — 

Priority of Payments at Issuer Level after Enforcement”. 
 
Withholding taxes and FATCA 
 
Pursuant to certain provisions of FATCA, a “foreign financial institution” may be required to withhold on certain 
payments it makes (“foreign passthru payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or 
related requirements.  A number of jurisdictions (including Hong Kong, Singapore and the PRC) have entered into, or 
have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), 



 

23 

which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Certain aspects of the application of these rules to 
instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA 
with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change.  Even if 
withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the 
Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019 and Notes that have a fixed term and not treated as 
equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, that are not issued after the date that is six months after the date on which 
final regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register would be 
“grandfathered” for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date.  Holders should 
consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes. 
 
In the event that withholding or deduction is required by law or made for or on account of FATCA with respect to any 
payment on the Notes, the Issuer shall not be obliged to make any additional payments in respect of such withholding 
taxes or for or on account of FATCA.  Any amount which the Issuer is obliged to withhold or deduct from payments in 
respect of the Notes on account of Tax or on account of FATCA will not be paid by any party. 
 
See “Taxation” for further information on Singapore taxation and FATCA. 
 
Singapore taxation risk 
 
The Notes to be issued are intended to be “qualifying debt securities” for the purposes of the ITA, subject to the 
fulfilment of certain conditions more particularly described in the section “Taxation—Singapore taxation”.  However, 
there is no assurance that the Notes will be or continue to be “qualifying debt securities” or that the tax concessions in 
connection therewith will apply throughout the tenure of the Notes should the relevant tax laws or Monetary Authority 
of Singapore (“MAS”) circulars be amended or revoked at any time. 
 
Potential FATCA Withholding 
 
Whilst the Notes are in global form and held within Euroclear or Clearstream (together, the “ICSDs”), in all but the 
most remote circumstances, it is not expected that provisions of U.S. law, commonly referred to as “FATCA” will 
affect the amount of any payment received by the ICSDs (see “Taxation – FATCA”).  However, FATCA may affect 
payments made to custodians or intermediaries (including any clearing system other than Euroclear or Clearstream) in 
the payment chain leading to the ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary generally is unable to receive 
payments free of FATCA withholding.  It also may affect payments to any ultimate investor that is a financial institution 
that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding under FATCA, or an ultimate investor that fails to provide 
its broker (or other custodian or intermediary from which it receives a payment) with any information, forms, other 
documentation or consents that may be necessary for the payments to be made free of FATCA withholding.  Investors 
should choose the custodians or intermediaries with care (to ensure each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or 
agreements related to FATCA, including any legislation implementing intergovernmental agreements relating to 
FATCA, if applicable), and provide each custodian or intermediary with any information, forms, other documentation 
or consents that may be necessary for such custodian or intermediary to make a payment free of FATCA withholding.  
Investors should consult their own tax adviser to obtain a more detailed explanation of FATCA and how FATCA may 
affect them.  The Issuer’s obligations under the Notes are discharged once it has paid the common depositary for the 
ICSDs (as holder of the Notes) and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any amount thereafter transmitted 
through hands of the ICSDs and custodians or intermediaries. 
 

The rating of the Notes may be changed at any time and may adversely affect the market price of the Notes 
 
It is a condition to the issuance of the Notes that the Notes be rated “AA+” by the Rating Agency upon issuance.  The 
rating addresses the full and timely payment of interest and the timely repayment of principal on or before the maturity 
date in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes.  The rating of the Notes will be based primarily on the 
rating of the Guarantor, an assessment of relevant structural features of the transaction and the likelihood of the 
payment of interest and principal on the Notes in a full and timely manner.  A rating is not a recommendation to 
purchase, hold or sell the Notes.  No assurance can be given that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of 
time or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by an assigning rating agency in the future if, in its 
judgment, circumstances in the future so warrant, such as insolvency.  Any decline in the financial position of the 
Guarantor may impair the ability of the Issuer to make payments to the Noteholders under the Notes and/or result in the 
rating of the Notes being lowered, suspended or withdrawn entirely.  If the rating initially assigned to the Notes is 
subsequently lowered or withdrawn for any reason, no person or entity will be obligated to provide any additional 
credit enhancement with respect to the Notes and none of the Issuer, the Borrower, the Agents, the Guarantor, the 
Trustee, the Security Trustee or the Facility Agent is obliged to inform holders of the Notes of such rating downgrade or 
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withdrawal.  Any reduction or withdrawal of a rating may have an adverse effect on the liquidity and market price of 
the Notes.  Any reduction or withdrawal of a rating will not constitute a Note Event of Default or an event requiring the 
Issuer to redeem any Notes. 
 
Additionally, one or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the issue of the Notes.  The 
ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market and additional factors described in 
this Offering Circular, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. 
 
The assets of the Issuer may be insufficient to redeem the Notes at their expected value upon an event of default 
 
The ability of the Issuer to redeem the Notes on the occurrence of a Note Event of Default is contingent upon the ability 
of the Borrower or the Guarantor to fulfil their obligations under the Facility Agreement and the Guarantee respectively.  
There is no assurance that, upon any Note Event of Default, the assets available to the Issuer will be sufficient to 
redeem the Notes in an amount that the holders thereof would have expected to receive in the event that the Notes were 
redeemed in accordance with their terms on the Expected Maturity Date (or, if applicable, the Legal Maturity Date). 
 
The Notes will initially be evidenced by a global certificate and holders of a beneficial interest in the global 

certificate must rely on the procedures of the Clearing Systems 
 
The Clearing Systems will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the global certificate.  While the Notes are 
evidenced by the global certificate, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through the Clearing 
Systems.  While such Notes are evidenced by a global certificate, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations 
under such Notes by making payments to the common depositary for the Clearing Systems for distribution to their 
account holders.  A holder of a beneficial interest in the global certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant 
Clearing System to receive payments under the Notes.  The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records 
relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the global certificate.  Holders of beneficial interests 
in the global certificate will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the Notes.  Instead, such holders will be 
permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the relevant Clearing System to appoint appropriate proxies.  
Similarly, holders of beneficial interests in a global certificate will not have a direct right under that global certificate to 
take enforcement actions against the Issuer in the event of a default under the relevant Notes but will have to rely upon 
their rights under the Trust Deed. 
 

Changes in English law, which governs the Notes, may adversely affect holders of the Notes 

 
The Notes and all non-contractual obligations arising under them will be governed by English law.  No assurance can 
be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or procedural practice after the date 
of the issue of the Notes. 
 
Enforcing rights under the Notes across multiple jurisdictions may prove difficult 
 
The Issuer is incorporated under the laws of Singapore.  The Notes and all non-contractual obligations arising under 
them will be governed by English law.  In the event of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar event, proceedings could be 
initiated in Singapore and in England.  Such multi-jurisdictional proceedings are complex, may be costly for creditors 
and otherwise may result in greater uncertainty and delay regarding the enforcement of Noteholders’ rights.  Rights of 
the Noteholders under the Notes will be subject to the insolvency and administrative laws of several jurisdictions and 
there can be no assurance that Noteholders will be able to effectively enforce their rights in such complex multiple 
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings.  In addition, the bankruptcy, insolvency, administrative and other laws 
of Singapore and England may be materially different from, or be in conflict with, each other and those with which 
Noteholders may be familiar, including in the areas of rights of creditors, priority of governmental and other creditors, 
ability to obtain post-petition interest and duration of the proceeding.  The application of these laws, or any conflict 
among them, could call into question whether any particular jurisdiction’s laws should apply and could adversely affect 
Noteholders’ ability to enforce their rights under the Notes in the relevant jurisdictions or limit any amounts that 
Noteholders may receive. 
 
The Trustee and/or the Security Trustee may request Noteholders to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or 

pre-funding to its satisfaction 
 
In certain circumstances, the Trustee and/or the Security Trustee may (at its sole discretion) request Noteholders to 
provide an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to its satisfaction before it takes actions on behalf of 
Noteholders.  The Trustee and/or the Security Trustee shall not be obliged to take any such actions if not indemnified 
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and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.  Negotiating and agreeing to an indemnity and/or security and/or 
pre-funding can be a lengthy process and may impact on when such actions can be taken.  The Trustee and the Security 
Trustee may not be able to take actions, notwithstanding the provision of an indemnity or security or pre-funding to it, 
in breach of the terms of the Trust Deed and the Security Trust Deed, as applicable, and in circumstances where there is 
uncertainty or dispute as to the applicable laws or regulations and, to the extent permitted by the agreements and the 
applicable law, it will be for the Noteholders to take such actions directly.  None of the Trustee and the Security Trustee 
is required to do anything which may (i) be illegal or contrary to applicable law or regulation; or (ii) cause it to expend 
or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise 
of any of its own rights, powers, authority or discretion if it believes in its discretion that repayment of such funds or 
satisfactory indemnity against, and/or security and/or pre-funding for, such risk or the liability is not assured to it. 
 
Regulatory initiatives may result in increased regulatory capital requirements and/or decreased liquidity in respect of 

the Notes 

 
In Europe, the United States and elsewhere there is increased political and regulatory scrutiny of the asset-backed 
securities industry.  This has resulted in numerous measures for increased regulation which are currently at various 
stages of implementation and which may have an adverse impact on the regulatory capital charge to certain investors in 
certain securitisation exposures and/or the powers of or incentives for certain investors to invest in securities issued 
under such structures, and may thereby affect the liquidity of such securities.  Investors in the Notes are responsible for 
analysing their own regulatory position and none of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the 
Joint Bookrunners or any of the other parties to the transaction makes any representation to any prospective investor or 
purchaser of the Notes regarding the regulatory treatment of their investment in the Notes on the Closing Date or at any 
time in the future. 
 
Such regulation includes Articles 404-410 of the CRR (as defined below), which provide that an EU credit institution 
shall only be exposed to the credit risk of a securitisation position if (a) the originator, sponsor or original lender has 
represented that it will retain, on an on-going basis, a material net economic interest in the securitisation of not less than 
5 per cent. and (b) it is able to demonstrate to its regulator on an on-going basis that it has a comprehensive and 
thorough understanding of the key terms, risks and performance of each securitisation position in which it is invested.  
Failure by an EU credit institution investor to comply with the requirements of Articles 404-410 of the CRR in relation 
to any applicable investment will result in an increased capital charge to or increased risk-weighting applying to such 
investor in respect of that investment.  Similar requirements to those set out in Articles 404-410 of the CRR have been 
implemented for EU-regulated alternative investment fund managers by Articles 50-56 of the AIFMR prohibiting 
investment by AIFs they manage in non-compliant securitisations and are expected to be implemented for other EU-
regulated investors, including insurance or reinsurance undertakings and UCITS. 
 
No representation of the sort referred to in the preceding paragraph has been made in relation to this transaction.  The 
Issuer is of the opinion that the requirements of Articles 404-410 of the CRR and Articles 50-56 of the AIFMR should 
not apply to investments in the Notes.  However, investors should be aware that the regulatory capital treatment of any 
investment in the Notes will be determined by the interpretation which an investor’s regulator places on the provisions 
of the CRR and the AIFMR.  Prospective investors should therefore be aware that should the relevant investor’s 
regulator interpret the regulations such that Articles 404-410 of the CRR and Articles 50-56 of the AIFMR do apply to 
an investment in the Notes, significantly higher capital charges may be applied to the relevant credit institution’s 
holding and investment by the relevant AIF may be prohibited. 
 
Investors in the Notes are responsible for analysing their own regulatory position and independently assessing and 
determining whether or not Articles 404-410 of the CRR or Articles 50-56 of the AIFMR will be applied to their 
exposure to the Notes and therefore prospective investors should not rely on the Issuer’s interpretation set out above.  
Further, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners and their respective affiliates do 
not make any representation in respect of the application of Articles 404-410 of the CRR and Articles 50-56 of the 
AIFMR to any investment in the Notes.  Investors should consult their regulator should they require guidance in 
relation to the regulatory treatment that their regulator would apply to an investment in the Notes. 
 
Articles 404-410 of the CRR and Articles 50-56 of the AIFMR and/or any further changes to the regulation or 
regulatory treatment of the Notes for some or all investors may negatively impact the regulatory position of the 
individual investors and, in addition, have a negative impact on the price and liquidity of the Notes in the secondary 
market.  No assurance can be given that further changes will not be made to the CRR or AIFMR or other regulatory 
provisions which could impact holders of the Notes. 
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Changes to the Basel II Framework may affect the capital and/or the liquidity requirements associated with a 

holding of the Notes for certain investors 
 
In 1988, the Basel Committee adopted capital guidelines that explicitly link the relationship between a bank’s capital 
and its credit risks.  In June 2006, the Basel Committee finalised and published new risk adjusted capital guidelines 
(“Basel II”). 
 
More recently, the Basel Committee has approved significant changes to the Basel II framework (such changes being 
commonly referred to as “Basel III”) including new capital and liquidity requirements intended to reinforce capital 
standards and to establish minimum liquidity standards and a minimum leverage ratio for financial institutions.  In 
particular, the changes include new requirements for the capital base, measures to strengthen the capital requirements 
for counterparty credit exposures arising from certain transactions and the introduction of a leverage ratio as well as 
short-term and longer-term standards for funding liquidity (referred to as the “Liquidity Coverage Ratio” and the “Net 
Stable Funding Ratio” respectively).  Member countries have been required to implement the new capital standards 
from January 2013, and will be required to implement the new Liquidity Coverage Ratio from January 2015 and the 
Net Stable Funding Ratio from January 2018.  The Basel Committee is also considering introducing additional capital 
requirements for systemically important institutions.  The European authorities have implemented Basel III via a new 
capital requirement directive (the “CRD4”) and a capital requirements regulation (the “CRR”).  The requirements of 
CRD4 and the CRR are taking effect in stages beginning on 1 January 2013, with full implementation by 1 January 
2019.  Basel III, the CRD4 and the CRR may have an impact on incentives to hold the Notes for investors that are 
subject to requirements that follow the revised framework and, as a result, they may affect the liquidity and/or value of 
the Notes. 
 
In general, investors should consult their own advisors as to the regulatory capital requirements in respect of the Notes 
and as to the consequences to and effect on them of Basel III, the CRD4, the CRR and any implementing measures.  No 
predictions can be made as to the precise effects of the matters on any investor or otherwise. 
 
CRA3 
 
Prospective investors are responsible for ensuring that an investment in the Notes is compliant with all applicable 
investment guidelines and requirements and in particular any requirements relating to ratings.  In this context, 
prospective investors should note the provisions of Regulation 462/2013 (EU) which amends Regulation (EC) 
1060/2009 on Credit Rating Agencies (together “CRA3”) which became effective on 20 June 2013.  CRA3 addresses 
the use of credit ratings for regulatory purposes and requires, among other things, issuers or related third parties 
intending to solicit a credit rating or a structured finance instrument (as defined in CRA3) to appoint at least two credit 
rating agencies to provide credit ratings independently of each other. 
 
The Issuer is incorporated in Singapore and the Notes will be listed on the SGX ST.  Prospective investors are required 
to independently assess and determine the relevance of CRA3 and, as the case may be, whether the Notes and the 
investors’ investment in the Notes are in compliance with the requirements of CRA3. 
 
Developments in other markets may adversely affect the market price of the Notes 
 
The market price of the Notes may be adversely affected by declines in the international financial markets and world 
economic conditions.  The market for the Notes is, to varying degrees, influenced by economic and market conditions 
in other markets, especially those in Asia.  Although economic conditions are different in each country, investors’ 
reactions to developments in one country can affect the securities markets and the securities of issues in other countries, 
including the PRC.  Since the subprime mortgage crisis in 2008, the international financial markets have experienced 
significant volatility.  If similar developments occur in the international financial markets in the future, the market price 
of the Notes could be adversely affected. 
 
Gains on the transfer of the Notes may be subject to income tax under PRC tax laws 
 
Under the Enterprise Income Tax law of the PRC (the “New EIT Law”) and its implementation rules, any gains 
realised on the transfer of the Notes by holders who are deemed under the New EIT Law as non-resident enterprises 
may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax if such gains are regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC.  
Under the New EIT Law, a “non-resident enterprise” means an enterprise established under the laws of a jurisdiction 
other than the PRC and whose actual administrative organisation is not in the PRC, which has established offices or 
premises in the PRC, or which has not established any offices or premises in the PRC but has obtained income derived 
from sources within the PRC.  In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether gains realised on the transfer of the Notes 
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by individual holders who are not PRC citizens or residents will be subject to PRC individual income tax.  If such gains 
are subject to PRC income tax, the 10 per cent. enterprise income tax rate and 20 per cent. individual income tax rate 
will apply, respectively, unless there is an applicable tax treaty or arrangement that reduces or exempts such income tax.  
The taxable income will be the balance of the total income obtained from the transfer of the Notes minus all costs and 
expenses that are permitted under PRC tax laws to be deducted from the income.  According to an arrangement 
between the PRC and Hong Kong for the avoidance of double taxation, Noteholders who are Hong Kong residents, 
including both enterprise holders and individual holders, may be exempted from PRC income tax on capital gains 
derived from a sale or exchange of the Notes. 
 
If a Noteholder, being a non-resident enterprise or non-resident individual, is required to pay any PRC income tax on 
gains on the transfer of the Notes, the value of the relevant Noteholder’s investment in the Notes may be materially and 
adversely affected. 
 
The Issuer will follow the applicable corporate disclosure standards for debt securities listed on the SGX-ST, and 

such standards may be different from those applicable to debt securities listed in certain other countries 
 
The Issuer will be subject to reporting obligations in respect of the Notes to be listed on the SGX-ST.  The disclosure 
standards imposed by the SGX-ST may be different than those imposed by securities exchanges in other countries or 
regions.  As a result, the level of information that is available in these countries may not correspond to what investors in 
the Notes are accustomed to. 
 
Performance risk of the transaction parties 
Each of the Facility Agent, the Principal Paying Agent, the Trustee, the Security Trustee and the Transaction 
Administrator in respect of the Facility Agreement and the Notes plays a critical role in ensuring that sufficient 
proceeds are received under the Facility Agreement for the purposes of making payments of interest, principal and any 
other amounts payable under the Notes.  In particular, compliance by the Facility Agent of its role is crucial to ensure 
that upon the non-payment by the Borrower under the Facility Agreement certain actions are taken to support payments 
due under the Notes.  In the event that any of the Facility Agent, the Principal Paying Agent, the Trustee, the Security 
Trustee or the Transaction Administrator fails to discharge its duties in a timely manner, payments of interest, principal 
and any other amounts payable under the Notes may be affected. 
 
RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER 
 

Holders of the Notes have limited recourse to the Issuer 
 
The Issuer’s obligations in respect of the Notes are solely the corporate obligations of the Issuer and none of the holders 
of the Notes or any person acting on their behalf shall have any recourse against any of the directors, officers or 
employees of the Issuer for any claims, losses, damages, liabilities, indemnities or other obligations whatsoever in 
connection with any transactions contemplated by any Transaction Document entered into by the Issuer. 
 
The Issuer has no operating history and no other assets 
 
The Issuer is a newly-formed special purpose vehicle established specifically for the purposes of issuing the Notes and 
has no operating history and no material assets.  No assurances can be given that the Issuer will be profitable or that any 
particular return will be achieved.  The Issuer will not engage in any business activity other than the issuance of the 
Notes, the grant of the term loan under the Facility Agreement, other activities conducted in connection with the 
payment of amounts in respect of the Notes and other activities incidental or related to the foregoing.  As such, the 
Issuer has, and will have, no substantial assets other than its issued and paid-up share capital, its rights as lender under 
the Facility Agreement and as beneficiary  under the Guarantee, and any assets on which the Notes or other obligations 
are secured. 
 
No investigation has been made in respect of the Issuer 
 
No investigation, and limited searches and enquiries, have been made by or on behalf of the Issuer and no 
investigations, searches or enquiries have been made by or on behalf of any party, in respect of the Issuer. 
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The Issuer’s ability to make payments under the Notes will depend entirely on timely payments under the Facility 

Agreement by the Borrower or the Guarantee by the Guarantor 
 
The ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Notes will depend on the ability of the Borrower to make 
timely payments under the Facility Agreement failing which, the ability of the Guarantor to pay under the Guarantee.  
To the extent that any of the parties above are unable to discharge their obligations in a timely manner, the ability of the 
Issuer to meet its obligations to pay principal, interest and any other amounts payable under the Notes will be affected.  
Accordingly, investors are relying heavily on the creditworthiness of those parties. 
 
RISKS RELATING TO THE FACILITY AGREEMENT 
 
Performance risk of the Transaction Administrator and the Facility Agent 

 
Each of the Transaction Administrator and the Facility Agent plays a critical role in ensuring that sufficient proceeds 
are received under the Facility Agreement and the Guarantee for the purposes of making payments of interest, principal 
and any other amounts payable under the Notes.  In the event that either party fails to discharge such duties in a timely 
manner (for example, by failing to make a claim under the Guarantee within the prescribed time following any non-
payment under the Facility Agreement), payments of interest, principal and any other amounts payable under the Notes 
may be affected. 
 
RISKS RELATING TO THE GUARANTEE 
 
Payments under the Guarantee may be affected by any increase in the withholding tax rate under PRC tax laws 
 

PRC withholding tax is currently applicable to payments made under the Guarantee attributable to the interest payment 
component of the Facility Agreement.  Although payments made by the Guarantor under the Guarantee are subject to 
gross-up to cover any withholdings, the total payment under the Guarantee (including gross-up amounts) is capped at 
the amount set out in this Offering Circular.  If the rate of withholding tax is increased in the future and/or there are any 
changes to the applicable PRC tax laws, the payments obtained under the Guarantee may not be sufficient to cover a 
default by the Borrower under the Facility Agreement and the value of the Notes may be adversely affected. 
 

There may be uncertainty relating to the enforceability of and interpretation of the provisions of the Guarantee 

 
The Guarantee is governed by PRC law and contains provisions similar to those contained in customary commercial 
guarantees governed by English or Hong Kong law.  Whilst legal advice has been obtained in relation to the 
enforceability of the Guarantee under PRC law, there can be no assurance that the PRC courts would interpret 
provisions of the Guarantee in a manner similar to the English or Hong Kong courts.  Further, the procedures and 
timing for taking action in the PRC courts may be different from those investors are accustomed to in the English and 
Hong Kong courts. 
 
Payments under the Guarantee are subject to a cap 

 
Payments under the Guarantee (excluding any additional amounts payable by the Guarantor to account for deductions 
or withholdings for tax) are subject to a maximum amount of U.S.$200,000,000.  While this payment limit should be 
sufficient to cover payments of interest, principal and any Early Termination Fee under the Facility Agreement in most 
circumstances, there may be exceptional circumstances whereby the capped amount received under the Guarantee is 
insufficient to cover payments of interest, principal and any Early Termination Fee under the Facility Agreement. 
 
There may be uncertainties relating to the performance of obligations under the Guarantee 
 
The Guarantor is required by the Provisions on the Administration of Foreign Exchange of Cross-border Guarantee《跨境擔保外匯管理規定》and the Guidelines for Implementing the Provisions on the Administration of Foreign 

Exchange of Cross-border Guarantee《跨境擔保外匯管理操作指引》 (Huifa [2014] 29) (collectively, the “Foreign 

Exchange of Cross-border Guarantee Measures”) to register Guarantee and will submit the Guarantee for registration 
with SAFE within 15 business days after the date of execution of the Guarantee.  Even though legal advice has been 
obtained to the effect that failure to effect such registration will not affect the enforceability of the Guarantee, if such 
registration is not completed in accordance with the aforesaid provisions, the Guarantor may not be able to go through 
the procedures of purchase of foreign exchange and remittance to perform its obligations under the Guarantee and 
SAFE may impose a fine or other penalties on the Guarantor.  Consequently, the Issuer may not have sufficient funds to 
redeem or otherwise discharge its obligations under the Notes in time if the Borrower is unable to meet its repayment 
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obligations under the Facility Agreement and a demand is made under the Guarantee prior to such registration being 
completed.  Please see “The Issuer’s ability to make payments under the Notes will depend entirely on timely payments 

under the Facility Agreement by the Borrower or the Guarantee by the Guarantor” for further details. 
 
RISKS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF THE BORROWER 
 
The Borrower is the overseas trading and financing platform of the Guarantor, which also owns 50.24 per cent. of 

Wanda Group Co., Ltd. 

 
The Borrower is established as an overseas trading and financing platform of the Guarantor, and its principal activities 
consist of investment holding, as well as general wholesale trade (including general imports and exports) of products.  
The Borrower derives its revenue primarily through its trading activities on its own account or on behalf of Wanda 
Group Co., Ltd. on, for example, petrochemical products, tyre products, electric cable wire products and chemical 
related products as well as other raw materials.  These trading activities conducted by the Borrower may be 
denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars, Renminbi or Singapore dollars which may subject the Borrower to 
certain exchange rate risks.  Any adverse impact on the Borrower’s liquidity or profitability may affect the ability of the 
Borrower to discharge its payment obligations under the Facility Agreement.  Furthermore, the Borrower’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations also depend heavily on the business performance of Wanda Group Co., 
Ltd., which may also in turn affect the Borrower’s ability to make payments under the Facility Agreement. 
 
Limited availability of public information on the Borrower 
 
The Borrower is a private company and is not listed on any stock exchange and is not required to make periodical 
public announcements.  Therefore there is less publicly available information about the Borrower than is regularly 
made available by public companies in certain other countries. 
 
RISKS RELATING TO THE GUARANTOR AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “GROUP”) 
 
The guarantees the Guarantor provided to third parties expose the Guarantor to credit risks 
 
As at 31 March 2017, the Guarantor had an outstanding balance of guarantees in the amount of RMB 2,122 million 
provided to independent third parties for their financing activities with commercial banks, which provide guarantees for 
the Guarantor’s financing activities in return. In the past, some of the borrowings guaranteed by the Guarantor became 
overdue. Although the Guarantor has never been required to repay any of such borrowings for the relevant borrowers, 
the guarantees the Guarantor provided subject the Guarantor to credit risks. Should the borrowers not able to repay the 
borrowings, the Guarantor will be liable to repay for them upon the lender’s requests and the Guarantor’s financial 
conditions, and results of operations may be adversely affected. 
 
The business performance of the Group 
 
The business performance of the Group will invariably and substantially affect the Guarantor’s ability to comply with 
its obligations under the Guarantee and consequently the Borrower’s ability to discharge its payment obligations under 
the Facility Agreement. 
 
The Guarantor primarily engages in eight major businesses, namely, the manufacturing and sale of (i) petrochemical 
products, (ii) rubber and tyre products, (iii) electric cable wire products, (iv) chemical related products, (v) real estate 
and construction, (vi) port logistics and international trade and (vii) financial services.  These businesses are however 
prone to a number of risk factors including, without limitation, changes in government policies, compliance issues, 
conflicts of interest amongst business segments, industry competition, possible false and negative media reports, 
cyclical business activities and the general global or national economic conditions, all of which may affect the Group’s 
financial performance as a whole. 
 
The Group may not be able to refinance its indebtedness on maturity 
 
The Group has incurred significant indebtedness.  As at 31 December 2016, its total liabilities was approximately 
RMB24,723.6 million.  If, for any reason, the Group is unable to make scheduled payments in connection with its debt 
and other fixed payment obligations as they become due, the Parent Group may have to relocate financial resources to 
fulfil its obligations under the Guarantee and/or the Borrower’s payment obligations under the Facility Agreement. 
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If the Group is unable to effectively maintain its business, its financial condition and results of operations may be 

materially and adversely affected 
 
The Group’s financial condition and results of operations are affected by its ability to effectively improve or maintain 
the diversity and market position of its operations.  No assurance can be given that the diversity and market position of 
its operations will not deteriorate.  The diversity and market conditions may be affected by a variety of factors, many of 
which are beyond the Group’s control.  These factors include the slowdown and structured reform of the PRC economy, 
the PRC government’s monetary policies, adverse developments in the PRC economy or other major economies, and 
natural disasters.  These factors may adversely affect the business, liquidity or repayment capabilities of the Guarantor 
under the Guarantee and its ability to meet its obligations. 
 
If the Group is unable to successfully maintain the growth of its business, financial condition, results of operations 

and prospects may be materially and adversely affected 
 
The Group has continued growing in recent years.  Growth of the Group’s businesses are subject to China’s 
macroeconomic condition as well as other factors beyond its control, such as Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth, 
inflation rate, changes in the interest rates, and changes in laws, regulations and rules governing the banking and 
financial industries.  Therefore, the Group cannot assure that it will be able to successfully maintain the growth of its 
businesses.  Any of the above factors could prevent the Group and its subsidiaries from growing its businesses and 
thereby materially and adversely affect its financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
 
The Guarantor and its subsidiaries will be exposed to new risks as they continue to expand product and service 

offerings 

 
The Guarantor and its subsidiaries have been intensifying product development efforts while continually expanding 
product and service offerings to meet customer needs and to enhance competitiveness both in the PRC and 
internationally.  The Guarantor and its subsidiaries may therefore be exposed to new, more challenging risks, including: 
 

• insufficient experience or expertise in new products and services, which may prevent it from effectively 

competing with its competitors; 

• imitation of new products and services by its competitors; 

• lack of market acceptance of its new products and services among its customers; 

• inability to provide satisfactory customer services; 

• inability to attract necessary additional qualified staff on commercially reasonable terms; 

• lack of necessary financial, operational, management and human resources; 

• inability to obtain relevant regulatory approvals and permits; 

• inability to secure long-term supply of resources and inputs necessary for products; and 

• failure to comply with laws and regulations, approval or license requirements of the overseas markets into 

which it will expand. 

 
If it is unable to successfully expand its product and service offerings, or its new products and services prove to be less 
profitable than expected due to above risks, the Guarantor’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects may be materially and adversely affected. 

 

The Guarantor and its subsidiaries may not be able to recruit and retain a sufficient number of qualified staff 
 
The Guarantor and its subsidiaries’ future success depends significantly on the experience, expertise and marketing 
abilities of key personnel, including its senior management.  Loss of these personnel may adversely affect its business 
and results of operations. 
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If the Group fails to fully comply with applicable regulatory requirements, their reputation could be damaged, and 

their business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected 
 
The Group is subject to regulatory requirements set forth by various PRC regulatory authorities, in particular, those 
related to environment protection as well as import and export of products.  These regulatory authorities may conduct 
periodic or ad hoc inspections, spot checks and investigations on the Guarantor and its subsidiaries and have the 
authority to impose fines on it or to require it to take remedial or corrective measures based on their findings. 
 
No assurance can be given that the Guarantor or one of its subsidiaries will be able to comply with all the applicable 
regulatory requirements at all times, or that it will not be subject to any penalties or be required to take remedial or 
corrective measures in the future as a result of such non-compliance.  The Guarantor’s failure to comply with 
applicable regulatory requirements may damage its reputation and have a material adverse effect on its business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Guarantor and its subsidiaries may be unable to effectively detect and prevent their employees, their customers 

or any other third parties from engaging in illegal activities or other misconduct 
 
Fraud or other misconduct committed by the Guarantor or its subsidiaries’ employees or third parties may be difficult to 
detect or prevent and could subject it to financial losses and regulatory penalties as well as serious damage to its 
reputation. 
 
Illegal activities and other misconduct committed by the Guarantor or its subsidiaries’ employees and staff of its agency 
outlets include, but are not limited to, embezzlement, corruption, bribery, unauthorized extension of credit, illegal fund-
raising, and fraud, as well as misappropriation, theft and deception of customer funds.  Furthermore, the illegal 
activities or misconduct of the Guarantor or its subsidiaries’ customers or other third parties conducted to them, such as 
fraud, theft, and stealing of customer information, may damage their reputation or cause them to incur economic losses. 
 
Uncertainties in the global economy and, in particular, the PRC economy and the financial markets could materially 

and adversely affect the Guarantor and its subsidiaries’ financial condition and results of operations 
 
While the global economy has gradually recovered since the financial crisis in 2008, although at a slow pace, 
substantial uncertainties remain in the global and the PRC economy.  In recent years, while major economies, such as 
the European Union and Japan, remained sluggish, China and some other emerging markets have seen slowing growth 
rates.  According to the World Bank, growth rate of global economy for 2017 is projected to be 2.4 per cent., which is 
far lower than the average growth rate of around 5 per cent. in the five years prior to 2008.  According to the PRC 
government, China’s real GDP growth rate in 2015 was 6.9 per cent., which was the lowest in the past 25 years.  The 
slowing global economy growth and other factors have resulted in fluctuations in the global raw materials prices, such 
as coal, oil and copper, and the increasing volatilities in the international capital markets.  In addition, the increase in 
U.S. dollar interest rate in the United States, the world’s largest economy, the quantitative easing or negative interest 
rate policies implemented by the European Union and Japan in recent years, and the impact of the proposed exit of the 
United Kingdom from the European Union, have further intensified the uncertainties in the global economy. 
 
Uncertainties in the global and the PRC economies may lead to contraction of liquidity, reduced credit availability, 
deterioration in asset values, increase in bankruptcies, rising unemployment rates, declining consumer and business 
confidence and other adverse consequences.  These uncertainties may adversely affect the Group’s financial condition 
and results of operations in many ways, including, among other things: 
 

• The Group’s ability to raise additional capital on favorable terms, or at all, may be adversely affected; and 

• Trade and capital flows may further contract as a result of protectionist measures being introduced in certain 

markets, which could cause a further slowdown in economies and adversely affect the Group’s business 

prospects and sales of rubber, tyre and electrical products directly related to international trade and logistics. 

 
If the global and the PRC economies continue to grow slowly, or even experience a downturn, the Group’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. 
 



 

32 

The Group may be involved in legal and other disputes from time to time arising in the ordinary course of the 

Guarantor and its subsidiaries’ business 
 
The Group may be involved in legal and other disputes from time to time arising in the ordinary course of its business.  
These disputes primarily relate to civil and administrative disputes, with a majority over purchase and sales contracts.  
No assurance can be given that the Group will obtain judgment favorable to them in litigations in which they are 
involved.  Any disputes arising in the future may also damage their reputation, increase its operational costs, or divert 
its resources and management attention from its business. 
 
Certain countries or persons with whom the Guarantor or its customers transact with could be subject to U.S. 

sanctions or other sanctions 
 
U.S. law generally prohibits U.S. persons from directly or indirectly investing or otherwise doing business in or with 
certain countries or governments (such as Iran, Cuba, Crimea, North Korea, Sudan and Syria) and with certain persons 
or businesses that have been specially designated by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control 
or other U.S. government agencies.  Other governments and international or regional organizations also administer 
similar economic sanctions. 
 
The Guarantor and its subsidiaries may provide trade settlement, payments and other services to customers doing 
business with, or located in, the above countries or persons to which sanctions apply.  The Guarantor and its 
subsidiaries’ controls are designed from its position as a domestic business with limited international operations and 
seek to ensure compliance with applicable sanctions laws and requirements in that domestic context.  There is always 
the possibility that particular customers may engage in transactions that implicate the United States, European Union or 
other sanctions.  If it is later determined that its customers have involved it in transactions that violate or are 
sanctionable under the United States or other sanctions regulations, it may be subject to sanctions or other penalties by 
the United States or other countries, and its reputation and future business prospects could be adversely affected. 
 
The Group’s petrochemical product business may be adversely affected by the fluctuation of international prices of 

fuel oil, methanol and refined oil products 

 
The petrochemical product business accounts for a substantial portion of the overall business operation of the Guarantor.  
The Group consumes a large amount of fuel oil and methanol, its main raw materials, to produce its refined oil products.  
An increase of fuel oil or methanol prices may impact the Group’s cost of production for its refined oil products, which 
it may not be able to pass on to its customers in a timely manner or at all due in part to the control of retail prices by the 
PRC government.  A decline in refined oil products will reduce the Group’s revenue and impact its profitability, 
however an increase in the refined oil products prices, however, will increase the production costs of the Group’s 
chemical products which use refined oil products as raw materials.  The Group does not have, and will not have, control 
over the factors affecting international prices for these products.  While the Group may try to adjust the selling price of 
its products to track international prices of fuel oil, methanol and refined oil products, its ability to pass on the 
increased costs resulting from price fluctuations to its customers may be limited, and is dependent on international and 
domestic market conditions as well as the PRC government’s price control measures over refined oil products.  Due to 
the volatile prices on the international oil market in recent years, the NDRC promulgated a price-setting mechanism for 
domestic refined oil products so that domestic refined oil products prices are in line with those on the international 
markets.  Although the current price-setting mechanism for refined oil products in China allows the PRC government to 
adjust prices in the PRC market when the average international crude oil price fluctuates beyond certain levels within a 
certain time period, the PRC government still retains discretion as to whether or when to adjust the refined oil products 
prices.  The PRC government generally exercises certain price controls over refined oil products once international 
crude oil prices experience sustained rises or become significantly volatile.  For example, recently, the NDRC has made 
a series of decisions to lower the retail prices of gasoline and diesel by RMB85 per tonne and RMB80 per tonne and by 
RMB145 per tonne and RMB140 per tonne, in late 2015 and by RMB140 per tonne and RMB 135 per tonne in early 
2016, respectively.  As a result, the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially 
and adversely affected by the fluctuation of fuel oil, methanol and refined oil product prices. 
 
The Group faces significant competition in the markets in which it operates, which could adversely affect its 

businesses 
 
The Group faces significant competition in the markets in which it operates.  In its petrochemical products, tyre 
products, electric cable wire products and chemical related products, the Group competes with other large-scale 
domestic competitors in the PRC which may have certain competitive advantages over the Group such as market 
presence, production scale and technological knowhow.  The Group’s market position in its respective businesses 
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depends on its ability to anticipate and respond to various competitive factors, such as introducing new or improved 
products, responding to pricing strategies adopted by competitors and changes in customer preferences.  There can be 
no assurance that current or potential competitors of the Group will not offer products comparable or superior to those 
the Group at the same or lower prices or adapt more quickly to evolving industry trends or changing market 
requirements.  The Group may lose its customers to its competitors if, among other things, it fails to keep its prices and 
quality of its products at competitive levels for comparable products or if it is unable to differentiate itself from its 
competitors.  Increased competition in the markets in which the Group operates may also result in price reductions, 
reduced profit margins or loss of market share, any of which could adversely affect the business, financial condition 
and results of operations of the Group. 
 
The Group operates in a capital-intensive business, and a significant increase in capital costs could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s financial performance 
 
The Group’s business operation and development requires significant capital expenditures.  In particular, significant 
capital investment is required to build, maintain and operate its production facilities and engage in its construction and 
real estate activities.  The Group also requires significant capital for the purchase of manufacturing equipment, the 
development of new products and the development and implementation of new technologies.  Any potential increase in 
the price of equipment, or in the prices of key components and raw materials used to build such equipment could result 
in additional capital investment being required. 
 
Furthermore, a substantial portion of the Group’s capital could be incurred in advance of any additional sales to be 
generated by such new or upgraded production facilities or engagement in new financing or construction projects.  In 
the event that existing resources of the Group are not sufficient for its business needs, the Group may have to seek 
additional financing from external sources.  The Group’s ability to obtain external financing in the future is subject to a 
variety of uncertainties, including (i) obtaining the necessary PRC government approvals to raise finance for its 
business, (ii) its future financial condition, operating results and cashflows, and (iii) the general condition of the global 
and domestic financial markets and (iv) changes in the monetary policy of the PRC government with respect to lending 
rates and lending policies.  There is no assurance that the Group will be able to raise finance required for its planned 
capital expenditures on acceptable terms or at all.  If the Group is unable to raise such finance, it may have to reduce its 
planned capital expenditures and/or delay or even abandon its expansion plan, which could in turn have a material 
adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Production processes and results of operations of the Group may be impaired by manufacturing capacity constraints 
 
The Group’s ability to manufacture products is limited by the capacity of its production facilities and workforce.  The 
Group manages its capacity by various means including utilising its existing workforce or outsourcing, but it cannot 
guarantee it will be able to manage its capacity effectively nor can it guarantee the availability of skilled labour at 
reasonable cost at all. 
 
To expand its production capacity, the Group has to either upgrade its existing equipment or acquire new equipment 
and hire skilled workers to operate it.  There can be no assurance that the relevant equipment will be made available in 
a timely manner or at a reasonable cost, or that the Group will have access to a sufficient number of skilled employees 
to upgrade, install or operate the relevant equipment.  If the Group is unable to increase its production capacity 
effectively or in a timely manner, its business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 
 
The Group’s real estate and construction business is subject to concentration risk and cyclical downturn 
 
The Group’s real estate and construction business is concentrated in Dongying, PRC where it has developed a high-end 
residential property project and a commercial property complex named “Wanda Plaza” together with an established 
PRC real estate developer.  As a result the real estate and construction business of the Group is particularly vulnerable 
to a local-level and/or national economic downturn in the PRC given the concentration of its operations, which in turn 
will affect the demand and value of such projects and therefore may materially and adversely affect the results of 
operations of the Group. 
 
The Group’s port logistics and international trade business is subject to cyclical downturn 
 
The Group’s port logistics and international trade business is subject to fluctuations in economic growth in the PRC and 
globally.  In the event of a downturn in the PRC or global economic growth and trade more generally, demand for the 
Group’s export products including tyres and electrical products will likely decline and may materially and adversely 
affect the results of operations of the Group and the ability of the Guarantor to meet its obligations under the Guarantee. 
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Fluctuations in the supply and price of raw materials could result in increased operating expenses that the Group 

may not be able to pass on to its customers 
 
As part of its operations, the Group must obtain from its suppliers sufficient quantities of raw materials, such as fuel oil, 
steel, copper, rubber and other materials at acceptable prices and quality in a timely manner.  There can be no assurance 
that the Group will be able to obtain sufficient amount of raw materials from its existing suppliers or form alternative 
sources at acceptable prices, in a timely manner, or at all.  Furthermore, prices and availability of raw materials, such as 
steel and rubber that are critical to the production of the Group’s core products have been subject to various factors, 
including global economic conditions, foreign exchange rate fluctuations, pricing cyclicality, periodic shortages of 
supply in the PRC or national policies in force from time to time, thus increasing the uncertainty to secure raw 
materials by the Group.  There can be no assurance that shortages of raw materials will not occur in the future or that 
the Group will be able to pass on any increased costs to its customers.  Any failure to obtain adequate and sufficient raw 
materials, or to do so on commercially acceptable terms and in a timely manner, could interfere with the Group’s 
manufacturing operations, and have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
 
The inherent hazardous nature of the Group’s petrochemical product, tyre product, electric cable wire product and 

chemical related product manufacturing business exposes the Group to potential liabilities, which could harm its 

reputation and cause it to incur substantial costs 

 
The manufacturing of the Group’s petrochemical products, tyre products, electric cable wire products and chemical 
related products have inherent risk of fire, collisions, explosions and other disasters, environmental pollution, cargo and 
property loss or damage, and business interruption caused by mechanical failure, human error, political action, labour 
strikes, adverse weather conditions and other circumstances or events.  Despite compliance with the requisite safety 
requirements and standards, the Group is subject to risks surrounding these activities, such as the risk of equipment 
failure, industrial accidents, fire, explosion and failure of employees to follow proper safety procedures.  These hazards 
can cause personal injury and loss of life, damage to or destruction of property and equipment, and environmental 
damage and pollution, any of which could result in damage to the Group’s business reputation and corporate image, 
suspension of the Group’s operations and the imposition of civil or criminal penalties. 
 
Insurance policies, in particular, have become increasingly expensive and sometimes very difficult to obtain.  Moreover, 
there may be circumstances where the Group is not fully covered by insurance policies for environmental liability, 
third-party liability, business interruption or loss of profit arising from disruption of its operations such as accidents at 
its construction sites or facilities, demonstrations and protests by its workers or third parties.  Failure to effectively 
cover the Group against these risks for any of the above reasons could expose the Group to substantial costs and 
potentially lead to significant losses.  In addition, the occurrence of any of these risks could damage the Group’s 
reputation and relationships with regulators and other customers, which may materially hinder the Group’s prospects 
for winning tenders for new projects.  The occurrence of any of the above situations may have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Group may face intellectual property infringement claims, which could be time-consuming and costly and, if 

successful, result in the loss of significant rights and ability to continue providing new and existing products 
 
The Group’s business depends heavily on its ability to use and develop technology and know-how without infringing 
the intellectual property rights of third parties.  Many participants in the equipment manufacturing industry have a 
significant number of patents and have frequently demonstrated a readiness to commence litigation based on allegations 
of patent and other intellectual property infringement.  From time to time, third parties, including those patent holding 
companies who do not have concrete business operations in the industry and whose main business is to engage in 
litigation with companies like the Group, may in the future, assert infringement claims against the Group. 
 
Intellectual property litigation is expensive and time-consuming, and could divert management’s attention from its 
business.  If there is a successful claim of infringement against the Group, it may be required to pay substantial 
compensation, develop non-infringing technologies or enter into royalty or license agreements that may not be 
available on acceptable terms, if at all.  The Group’s failure, in such circumstances, to develop non-infringing 
technologies or license the proprietary rights on a timely basis with acceptable terms would harm its business.  
Protracted litigation could also result in the Group’s customers or potential customers deferring or limiting their 
purchases from it or use of its products until resolution of such litigation.  Also, the Group may be unaware of filed 
patent applications that relate to its products.  Parties making infringement claims may be able to obtain injunction, 
which could prevent the Group from selling its products or using technology that contains the allegedly infringing 
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intellectual property.  Such intellectual property litigation or proceedings could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Limited availability of public information on the Group 
 
Each member of the Group is a private company, is not listed on any stock exchange and is not required under PRC 
laws and regulations or the laws and regulations of its jurisdiction of incorporation to publish its financial statements or 
make periodical public announcements.  Therefore there is less publicly available information about any member of the 
Group than is regularly made available by public companies in certain other countries.  Additionally, copies of the 
audited and unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor produced by the Guarantor and made 
available after the financial year ended 31 December 2016, shall be in Chinese only and no English translations will be 
made available. 
 
RISKS RELATING TO THE PRC 
 
Fluctuations in exchange rates 

 
The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies may fluctuate significantly and is affected by, 
among other things, the domestic and international economies, political conditions and the supply and demand of 
currency.  Under current government policy, the Renminbi is permitted to fluctuate within a narrow and managed band 
against a basket of certain foreign currencies.  This change in policy resulted in an appreciation in the value of the 
Renminbi against the U.S. dollar. It is possible that the PRC government could adopt a more flexible currency policy, 
which could result in further and more significant revaluations of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar or any other 
foreign currency. 
 
Although the Issuer itself has no exposure to currency fluctuations, any fluctuations in the value of the Renminbi as 
against major currencies may affect the ability of the Borrower to make timely repayments under the Facility 
Agreement. 
 

Changes in the economic, political and social conditions in the PRC and policies adopted by the PRC government 

could adversely affect the Guarantor’s operations 
 
The Guarantor is based in the PRC and its assets are substantially located in the PRC.  Therefore, the results of its 
operations, financial condition and prospects are, to a significant degree, affected by the economic, political, legal 
developments and government policies in the PRC.  Furthermore, as the rating of the Notes is heavily reliant on the 
rating of the Guarantor, economic, political and social changes in the PRC which affect the business of the Guarantor 
may in turn affect its rating and the rating ascribed to the Notes. 
 
In recent years, the growth of the PRC’s economy has slowed and the global economic conditions are still 
comparatively unstable and uncertain.  If the PRC economy experiences significant downturn, the unfavourable 
business environment and economic conditions could materially and adversely affect the financial condition and results 
of the Guarantor.  Additionally, changes in market conditions and pattern of economic growth, as well as reform and 
consolidation of industries may affect various PRC industries and businesses, which in turn may adversely affect the 
Guarantor’s operations and financial condition. 
 
Furthermore, although the PRC’s economy has been transitioning from a planned economy to a more market-oriented 
economy for more than three decades, a substantial portion of productive assets in the PRC is still owned by the PRC 
government.  The PRC government also exercises significant control over the economic growth of the PRC through 
allocating resources, controlling foreign exchange, setting monetary policy and providing preferential treatments to 
particular industries or companies.  In recent years, the PRC government has implemented economic reform measures 
emphasising the use of market forces to drive economic development.  These economic reform measures may be 
adjusted or modified or applied inconsistently from industry to industry, or across different regions of the country.  As a 
result, while some of these measures may benefit the overall PRC economy, others may also have a less positive impact 
on the country’s economy and may negatively affect various industries and businesses across the PRC, including the 
Guarantor’s customers. 
 
The PRC legal system is constantly evolving and has inherent uncertainties that could limit available legal recourse 
 
PRC procedural and substantive laws may differ from comparable provisions of the local laws of jurisdictions with 
which the Noteholders are familiar.  The PRC legal system is based on written statutes.  Prior court decisions may be 
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cited for reference but have limited precedential value.  The interpretations of many laws, regulations and rules are not 
always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involve uncertainties, and may not be as 
consistent or predictable as in other more developed legal systems.  These uncertainties may impede the ability of the 
Facility Agent to enforce the Guarantee.  In addition, any litigation in the PRC may be protracted and result in incurring 
substantial costs and time. 
 
The PRC imposes foreign exchange control and its current policies allowing purchasing of foreign exchange with 

Renminbi to repay foreign exchange denominated foreign debt may alter in the future 
 
Despite a significant reduction of control by the PRC government over cross-border foreign exchange transactions, the 
PRC government continues to regulate conversion between the Renminbi and foreign currencies.  Although currently 
the PRC regulations permit an onshore entity to purchase foreign exchange with Renminbi for the purpose of 
remittance out of the PRC to repay foreign exchange-denominated foreign debt, the Issuer cannot assure that new PRC 
regulations will not be promulgated which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the purchase of foreign exchange 
with Renminbi and remittance of foreign exchange into or outside the PRC. 
 
Certain PRC regulations governing PRC companies are less developed than those applicable to companies 

incorporated in more developed countries 
 
Many of the Guarantor’s subsidiaries are established in the PRC and are subject to PRC regulations governing PRC 
companies.  These regulations contain certain provisions that are required to be included in the joint venture contracts, 
articles of association and all other major operational agreements of these PRC companies and are intended to regulate 
the internal affairs of these companies.  These regulations in general, and the provisions for protection of shareholders’ 
rights and access to information in particular, are less developed than those applicable to companies incorporated in 
Hong Kong, the United States, the United Kingdom and other developed countries or regions. 
 
There can be no assurance of the accuracy or comparability of facts, forecasts and statistics contained in this 

Offering Circular with respect to the PRC or its economy 
 
Facts, forecasts and statistics in this Offering Circular relating to the PRC and the PRC’s economy, including its market 
share information, are derived from various official and other publicly available sources which are generally believed 
by the Issuer and the Borrower to be reliable.  However, there can be no assurance as to the quality and reliability of 
such official source materials.  In addition, these facts, forecasts and statistics have not been independently verified by 
the Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor, Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the 
Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Account Bank, the Facility Agent, the MLAB, the Trustee, the 
Agents or their respective advisers and therefore none of the Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor, the Sole Global 
Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the 
Account Bank, the Facility Agent, the MLAB, the Trustee, the Agents or their respective advisers makes any 
representation as to the accuracy or fairness of such facts, forecasts and statistics, which may not be consistent with 
other information compiled within or outside the PRC and may not be complete or up to date.  Each of the Issuer and 
the Borrower has taken reasonable care in reproducing or extracting the information from such sources.  However, 
because of possibly flawed or ineffective methodologies underlying the published information or discrepancies between 
the published information and market practice and other problems, these facts, forecasts and other statistics may be 
inaccurate or may not be comparable from period to period or be comparable to facts, forecasts or statistics produced 
for other economies and should not be unduly relied upon. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

 
The Issuer will apply all proceeds of the issuance of the Notes amounting to U.S.$100,000,000 towards (a) the advance 
of the drawdown proceeds to the Borrower under the Facility; and (b) the capitalisation of the Note Expense Account 
with an amount of U.S.$2,000. 
 
The Borrower will in turn procure that the proceeds of such drawdown for (a) refinancing of its existing indebtedness, 
(b) general corporate purposes; and (c) the payment of all fees in connection with the Facility. 
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RATING OF THE NOTES 
 
It is a condition of the issuance of the Notes that the Notes are assigned a rating of not lower than AA+ by the Rating 
Agency. 
 
A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities, does not address the likelihood or timing of prepayment, 
if any, or the receipt of default interest and may be subject to revision, qualification or withdrawal at any time by the 
assigning rating organisation. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 
 
The following (other than the words in italics) is the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes substantially in the 

form in which it will appear on the reverse of each of the definitive certificates evidencing the Notes: 

 
The issue of U.S.$100,000,000 7.95 per cent. Fixed Rate Secured Notes due 2020 (the “Notes”, which expression, 
unless the context requires otherwise, includes any further securities issued pursuant to Condition 18 and to be 
consolidated and forming a single series therewith) was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of China 
Wanda International Funding Pte. Ltd. (the “Issuer”) passed on 8 December 2017.  The Notes are constituted by a trust 
deed (the “Trust Deed”) dated on or about 14 December 2017 (the “Closing Date”) between the Issuer and Citicorp 
International Limited as trustee (the “Trustee” which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee 
or trustees under the Trust Deed) for the holders of the Notes.  These terms and conditions (the “Conditions”) include 
summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Certificates 
evidencing the Notes.  A transaction administration agreement dated on or about the Closing Date (the “Transaction 
Administration Agreement”) has been entered into in relation to the Notes between the Issuer Citibank, N.A., Hong 
Kong Branch as account bank (the “Account Bank” which term shall include any successor account bank) and Citicorp 
International Limited as facility agent (the “Facility Agent” which term shall include any successor facility agent), 
transaction administrator (the “Transaction Administrator” which term shall include any successor transaction 
administrator), security trustee (the “Security Trustee” which term shall include all persons for the time being the 
security trustee or security trustees under the Security Trust Deed) and the Trustee.  An agency agreement (the “Agency 
Agreement”) dated on or about the Closing Date has been entered into in relation to the Notes between the Issuer, the 
Trustee, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as principal paying agent (the “Principal Paying Agent” which term shall 
include any successor principal paying agent), as registrar (the “Registrar” which term shall include any successor 
registrar), any paying agents (each a “Paying Agent” which term shall include the Principal Paying Agent and any 
successor or additional paying agent), any transfer agents (each a “Transfer Agent”, which term shall include any 
successor or additional transfer agent) and any other agents named in it.  “Agents” means the Principal Paying Agent, 
the Registrar, the Paying Agents, the Transfer Agents and any other agent or agents appointed from time to time with 
respect to the Notes.  Copies of the Trust Deed, the Transaction Administration Agreement (as defined below) and the 
Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at the specified offices of the Trustee and 
the Principal Paying Agent.  The Noteholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice 
of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of the Agency Agreement 
applicable to them. 
 
1 Form, Denomination and Title 
 

(a) Form and denomination: The Notes are issued in registered form, in the denomination of 
U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof (each an “Authorised 
Denomination”).  A certificate (each, a “Definitive Certificate”) will be issued to each holder of 
Notes in respect of its registered holding of Notes.  Each Definitive Certificate shall be numbered 
serially and shall have an identifying number which shall be recorded on the relevant Definitive 
Certificate and in the register of holders of the Notes (the “Register”). 

 
Upon issue, the Notes will be evidenced by a global certificate (the “Global Certificate”) registered 

in the name of a nominee of, and deposited with a common depositary for, Euroclear and 

Clearstream.  The Conditions are modified by certain provisions contained in the Global Certificate. 

 
Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interests in Notes 

evidenced by the Global Certificate will not be entitled to receive Definitive Certificates in respect of 

their individual holdings of Notes.  The Notes are not issuable in bearer form. 

 
(b) Title: Title to the Notes shall pass only by transfer and registration of title in the Register.  The 

holder of any Note shall, except as otherwise required by law, be treated as its absolute owner for all 
purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest 
in it or any writing (other than the endorsed form of transfer on), or the theft or loss of, the Definitive 
Certificate issued in respect of it), and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.  In these 
Conditions, “Noteholder” and (in relation to a Note) “holder” shall mean the person in whose name 
a Note is registered in the Register (or in the case of a joint holding, the first named thereof). 
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2 Status 
 
The Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and secured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times 
rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves.  The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes 
shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable law and subject to Condition 4, at all times rank at 
least equally with all the Issuer’s other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. 
 
3 Transfers of Notes and Issue of Definitive Certificates 
 

(a) Register: The Issuer will cause the Register to be kept at the specified office of the Registrar (which 
shall be outside the United Kingdom in all circumstances) and in accordance with the terms of the 
Agency Agreement, on which shall be entered the names and addresses of the holders of the Notes 
and the particulars of the Notes held by them and of all transfers of the Notes.  Each Noteholder shall 
be entitled to receive only one Definitive Certificate in respect of its entire holding of Notes. 

 
(b) Transfers: Subject to the Agency Agreement and Conditions 3(e) and 3(f), all or part of a Note 

(being in an Authorised Denomination) may be transferred by delivery of the Definitive Certificate 
issued in respect of that Note, with the form of transfer endorsed on such Definitive Certificate duly 
completed and signed by the holder or his attorney duly authorised in writing, to the specified office 
of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent.  No transfer of title to a Note will be valid unless and until 
entered on the Register.  In respect of any such transfer, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent and/or 
Issuer shall be entitled to request any information as to the source of payment used by any such 
transferee for purchasing the Note or otherwise as may be required to permit the Issuer to discharge 
its obligations under the laws of Singapore. 

 
Transfers of interests in the Notes evidenced by the Global Certificate will be effected in accordance 

with the rules of the relevant Clearing Systems. 

 
(c) Delivery of new Definitive Certificates: Each new Definitive Certificate to be issued upon a 

transfer of Notes will, within seven (7) business days (as defined below) of receipt by the Registrar 
or, as the case may be, any Transfer Agent of the Definitive Certificate and the form of transfer duly 
completed and signed, be made available for collection at the specified office of the Registrar or such 
Transfer Agent or, if so requested in the form of transfer, be mailed by uninsured mail at the risk of 
the holder entitled to the Notes but free of charge to the holder and at the Issuer’s expense to the 
address specified in the form of transfer.  The form of transfer is available at the specified offices 
during the normal office hours between 9:00 am to 3:00 pm (local time) of the Registrar and the 
relevant Transfer Agent. 

 
Where only part of a principal amount of the Notes (being that of one or more Notes) in respect of 
which a Definitive Certificate is issued is to be transferred or exchanged, a new Definitive Certificate 
in respect of the Notes not so transferred or exchanged (which shall be an Authorised Denomination) 
will, within seven (7) business days of delivery of the original Definitive Certificate to the Registrar 
or the relevant Transfer Agent, be made available for collection at the specified office of the 
Registrar or such Transfer Agent or, if so requested in the form of transfer, be mailed by uninsured 
mail at the risk of the holder of the Notes not so transferred or exchanged (but free of charge to the 
holder and at the Issuer’s expense) to the address of such holder appearing on the Register. 

 
In this Condition 3, “business day” shall mean a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public 
holiday) on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the 
Registrar, or (as the case may be) such Transfer Agent with which a Definitive Certificate is 
deposited in connection with a transfer or exchange is located. 

 
(d) Formalities free of charge: Registration of a transfer of Notes and issuance of new Definitive 

Certificates will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Agents, but 
upon (i) payment (or the giving of such indemnity and/or security and/or prefunding as the Issuer or 
any of the Agents may require) in respect of any tax or other governmental charges which may be 
imposed in relation to such transfer; (ii) the Registrar or (as the case may be) the relevant Transfer 
Agent being satisfied in its absolute discretion with the documents of title or identity of the person 
making the application; and (iii) the Registrar or (as the case may be) the relevant Transfer Agent 
being satisfied that the regulations concerning transfer of Notes referred to in paragraph (f) below, 
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have been complied with. 
 

(e) Closed periods: No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Note to be registered during the period 
of (i) seven (7) days ending on (but excluding) the due date for any payment of principal in respect of 
that Note, (ii) during the period of ten (10) days ending on (and including) any Record Date (as 
defined in Condition 7(a)), or (iii) after any such Note has been called for redemption. 

 
(f) Regulations: All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to detailed 

regulations concerning transfer of Notes, the initial form at which is scheduled to the Agency 
Agreement.  The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the 
Registrar and the Trustee, or by the Registrar, with the prior written approval of the Trustee.  A copy 
of the current regulations will be mailed (free of charge to the Noteholder and at the Issuer’s expense) 
by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon written request and is available during normal office hours 
between 9:00 am to 3:00 pm (local time) at the specified offices of the Registrar and each Transfer 
Agent. 

 
4 Security and Covenants 
 

(a) Security: The obligations of the Issuer to the Noteholders under the Notes and the Trust Deed are 
secured by security interests (the “Security”) pursuant to the Security Documents including: 

 
(i) a first ranking security assignment (the “Security Assignment”) given by the Issuer in 

favour of the Security Trustee over (x) all its rights, title, interest and benefit (present and 
future, actual and contingent) in, to and under the Facility Agreement and the Guarantee, 
including any proceeds arising thereunder; and (y) all its rights, title, interest and benefit 
(present and future, actual and contingent) in, to and under each Transaction Document and 
any other agreement or document incidental or ancillary to the Transaction Documents to 
which the Issuer is a party; and 

 
(ii) a first ranking charge (the “Accounts Charge”) given by the Issuer in favour of the 

Security Trustee of all its rights, title, interest and benefit (present and future, actual and 
contingent) in and to all sums of money which may now be or hereafter are from time to 
time standing to the credit of each and all of the Issuer Accounts and any other bank 
accounts in which the Issuer may at any time acquire any right, title or interest or benefit for 
the purpose of the Notes, together with all interest accruing from time to time thereon and 
the debts represented thereby. 

 
(b) Enforcement: If there has been an Acceleration Event or in any other event where the Security 

becomes enforceable, the Trustee may, in accordance with the provisions of these Conditions, the 
Trust Deed and the Security Documents, instruct the Security Trustee to enforce the Security.  Each 
of the Trustee and the Security Trustee shall not be bound to take any such proceedings or action, 
unless it is indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. 

 
(c) Application of proceeds: Under the Security Documents and the Trust Deed, all moneys received by 

the Security Trustee and the Trustee in connection with the realisation or enforcement of the Security 
will, regardless of any appropriation of all or part thereof by the Issuer, be held by the Security 
Trustee and the Trustee on trust and applied in accordance with the Security Documents and the Trust 
Deed respectively. 

 
(d) Discharge: Subject to the terms of the relevant Security Document, upon the Security Trustee being 

satisfied that all security obligations have been irrevocably paid in full, the Security Trustee shall at 
the request and cost of the Issuer discharge the Security. 

 
(e) Covenants: Pursuant to clause 6.14 (Restrictions) of the Trust Deed, so long as any Note remains 

outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), except for the Security over the Secured Property, and 
unless (x) the Trustee in its absolute discretion deems not materially less beneficial to the interest of 
the Noteholders or (y) it is otherwise approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the 
Trust Deed) (an “Extraordinary Resolution”) of the Noteholders, the Issuer will not: 

 
(i) (except in a Qualifying Transaction) engage in any business other than acquiring and 
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holding the Secured Property and entering into the Transaction Documents, acquiring, 
benefiting from or entering into any Security Document, entering into related agreements 
and transactions and performing any act incidental to or necessary in connection with any of 
the foregoing; 

 
(ii) dispose of any Secured Property or any interest therein, or create any mortgage, charge or 

other security or right of recourse in respect thereof in favour of any person other than the 
Security referred to in the Security Documents; 

 
(iii) cause or permit any Security Document or the priority of the Security created by the 

Security Documents to be amended, terminated or discharged (other than as contemplated 
by the Security Documents); 

 
(iv) release any party to any Security Document from any existing obligations thereunder; 

 
(v) have any subsidiaries; 

 
(vi) consent to any variation of, or exercise any powers or consent or waiver pursuant to, the 

terms of the Facility Agreement (including the giving of any instruction, authority, direction, 
and sanction, as well as the exercise of any rights thereunder), any Security Document, or 
any other related transactions; 

 
(vii) consolidate or merge with any other person or convey or transfer its properties or assets 

substantially as an entirety to any person (other than as contemplated by the Security 
Documents); 

 
(viii) have any employees; 

 
(ix) issue any shares (other than such shares as are in issue at the date hereof) or declare any 

dividends or make any distribution to its shareholders; 
 

(x) open or have any interest in any account with a bank or financial institution unless such 
account relates to any Qualifying Transaction, any Notes, the Transaction Documents or any 
Secured Property or any party thereto, save where either such account or the Issuer’s 
interest in it is simultaneously charged in favour of the Security Trustee so as to form part of 
such Secured Property or such account is opened in connection with the administration and 
management of the Issuer and only moneys necessary for that purpose are credited to it; 

 
(xi) subject as provided in paragraph (i) above, incur any other indebtedness for borrowed 

moneys; or 
 

(xii) purchase, own, lease or otherwise acquire any real property (including office premises or 
like facilities). 

 
(f) Covenant: So long as any Note remains outstanding, the Issuer undertakes that the Issuer shall not 

carry on any business or other activities other than those in connection with the issue of, and 
performance of its obligations under, the Notes and the lending of the proceeds of the issue of the 
Notes to the Borrower pursuant to the Facility Agreement and any other activities incidental thereto. 

 
In these Conditions: 

 
(i) “Account Bank” means Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch and its successors and assigns; 

 
(ii) “Account Bank Agreement” means the account bank agreement dated on or about the Closing Date 

between the Issuer, the Transaction Administrator and the Account Bank; 
 

(iii) “Borrower” means Hontop Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (鸿泰能源（新加坡）有限公司); 

 
(iv) “Code” means the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended; 
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(v) “Facility Agent” means Citicorp International Limited and its successors and assigns; 
 

(vi) “Facility Agreement” means the Facility Agreement dated 11 December 2017 (as may be amended 
from time to time) between, among others, the Issuer (as Lender under the Facility Agreement) and 
the Borrower, in relation to a term loan of up to U.S.$100,000,000 (the “Loan”); 

 
(vii) “FATCA” means: 

 
(a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the Code or any associated regulations; 

 
(b) any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an intergovernmental 

agreement between the U.S. and any other jurisdiction, which (in either case) facilitates the 
implementation of paragraph (a) above;  

 
(c) any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any treaty, law or regulation referred to in 

paragraphs (a) or (b) above with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. government or 
any governmental or taxation authority in any other jurisdiction; or 

 
(d) any treaty, law, regulation, instruction or other official guidance analogous to paragraphs (a) 

or (b) of this definition enacted or amended in any other jurisdiction from time to time, and 
any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any such treaty, law, regulation, 
instruction or other official guidance with any governmental or taxation authority in any 
jurisdiction. 

 
(viii) “Guarantee” means the irrevocable letter of guarantee issued by the Guarantor in favour of the 

Borrower in respect of the Borrower’s obligations under the Facility Agreement dated 11 December 
2017; 

 

(ix) “Guarantor” means Wanda Holding Group Co., Ltd. (万达控股集团有限公司); 
 

(x) “Issuer Accounts” means the note payment account and the note expense account, each as an interest 
bearing account in the name of the Issuer with the Account Bank on the terms of the Account Bank 
Agreement; 

 
(xi) “Issuer Administrator” means Intertrust Singapore Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. and its successors 

and assigns; 
 

(xii) a “Note Event of Default” means any of the events set out in Condition 9; 
 

(xiii) “Qualifying Transaction” means any transaction having a similar structure of the transaction 
contemplated under the Transaction Documents with the Borrower as the underlying borrower; 

 
(xiv) “Secured Parties” means the Security Trustee for itself and on behalf of the Trustee (for itself and on 

behalf of the Noteholders), the Agents, the Account Bank, the Transaction Administrator, the Facility 
Agent and the Issuer Administrator; 

 
(xv) “Secured Property” means the assets, shares, rights, interests and benefits from time to time which 

are, or expressed to be, the subject of the Security; 
 

(xvi) “Security Documents” means the Security Trust Deed, the Security Assignment, the Accounts 
Charge and any other document designated as a Security Document by the Issuer and the Security 
Trustee; 

 
(xvii) “Security Trust Deed” means the security trust deed dated on or about the Closing Date between the 

Issuer and the Security Trustee; 
 

(xviii) “Transaction Documents” means the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Security Documents, 
the Transaction Administration Agreement, the Account Bank Agreement, the Notes and any other 
document designated as a Transaction Document by the Issuer and the Security Trustee. 
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5 Interest 
 

(a) Interest Payments:  The Notes bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and 
including the Closing Date.  Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for redemption 
unless, upon surrender of the Definitive Certificate evidencing such Note, payment of principal is 
improperly withheld or refused.  In such event it shall continue to bear interest at such rate (both 
before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in 
respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant holder, and (ii) the 
day seven (7) days after the Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent has notified Noteholders of receipt 
of all sums due in respect of all the Notes up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is 
failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions). 

 
(b) Note Payment Dates:  Interest will be payable on the Notes semi-annually in arrear on 14 June and 

14 December of each year, provided that:  
 

(i) the first Note payment date will be 14 June 2018; 
 

(ii) if the Notes have not been previously redeemed in full, the final Note payment date shall be 
the Expected Maturity Date (or, if applicable, the Legal Maturity Date); and 

 
(iii) if any interest payment date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, it 

shall be adjusted in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention, 
 

(each such note payment date, as so adjusted for Business Days, being a “Note Payment Date”). 
 

(c) Interest Periods:  Interest on the Notes will be payable by reference to successive interest periods 
(each, an “Interest Period”).  The initial Interest Period will commence on (and include) the Closing 
Date and end on (but exclude) 14 June 2018.  Each successive Interest Period (other than the final 
Interest Period) will commence on and include the last day of the immediately preceding Interest 
Period and end on (but exclude) the 14th day of the month falling six (6) calendar months from such 
commencement date, so that each Interest Period will end on (but exclude) 14 June or 14 December 
of any given year.  If the Notes have not been previously redeemed in full, the final Interest Period 
will commence on (and include) the last day of the Interest Period ending in June 2020 and end on 
(but exclude) the Legal Maturity Date. 

 
(d) Rate of interest:  The rate of interest payable: in respect of the Notes will be 7.95 per cent. per 

annum. 
 

(e) Determination of Interest Amounts:  The amount of interest for each Note (the “Interest Amount”) 
will be calculated by reference to the principal amount of the Note then outstanding as at the first day 
(taking into account all payments (if any) of the principal amount of the Note on such day) of such 
Interest Period and a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months and rounding the resulting figure down 
to the nearest U.S. cent. 

 
(f) Definitions:  In these Conditions: 

 
(i) “Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which 

banks are open for general business in Beijing, Singapore, Hong Kong and New York; and 
 

(ii) “Following Business Day Convention” means the convention for adjusting any relevant 
date such that if such relevant date does not fall on a Business Day, it shall be postponed to 
the next day which is a Business Day. 

 
6 Redemption and Purchase 
 

(a) Final redemption: Unless previously redeemed, the Notes will be redeemed in full (and not in part), 
to the extent of funds available in accordance with the priority of payments set forth in the 
Transaction Administration Agreement, at their principal amount, together with accrued interest, on 
the Expected Maturity Date.  The Notes may not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer. 
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If insufficient funds are available to redeem the Notes in full at their principal amount, together with 
accrued interest, on the Expected Maturity Date, the Issuer will redeem in accordance with the 
priority of payments set forth in the Transaction Administration Agreement, the Notes in full at their 
principal amount, together with accrued interest, on the Legal Maturity Date. 

 
(b) Early Redemption: Following a Loan Acceleration or a Loan Prepayment under the Facility 

Agreement, the Issuer shall forthwith give notice to the Trustee and the Noteholders in accordance 
with Condition 17 to redeem the Notes in full, in accordance with the priority of payments set forth 
in the Transaction Administration Agreement, on the Early Redemption Date at the Early 
Redemption Amount as at such date. 

 
(c) Redemption at the option of Noteholders: Subject to Condition 6(f), each Noteholder will have the 

right, at such Noteholder’s option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not some only of that 
Noteholder’s Notes on (x) a Put Settlement Date in 2018 at 99.008 per cent. of their principal amount, 
together with accrued interest to the relevant Put Settlement Date; or (y) a Put Settlement Date in 
2019 at 99.483 per cent. of their principal amount, together with accrued interest to the relevant Put 
Settlement Date (each of these amounts, the “Put Settlement Amount”).  To exercise such right, the 
relevant Noteholder must deposit at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other 
Paying Agent a duly completed and signed notice of redemption, in the form for the time being 
current, obtainable from the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent 
(a “Put Exercise Notice”), together with the Certificates evidencing the Notes to be redeemed (if 
applicable), not more than 60 Business Days and not less than 30 Business Days prior to: 

 
(i) the Note Payment Date falling in December 2018 for redemption on such Note Payment 

Date; or 
 

(ii) the Note Payment Date falling in December 2019 for redemption on such Note Payment 
Date, 

 
each such Note Payment Date being a “Put Settlement Date”. 

 
A Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem the Notes 
held by the relevant Noteholder subject to the Put Exercise Notice and the Certificates evidencing the 
Notes to be redeemed (if applicable) being delivered as aforesaid on the applicable Put Settlement 
Date. 

 
For the avoidance of doubt, no redemption at the option of Noteholders will take place if the relevant 
Put Settlement Date falls on the same date as the Early Redemption Date for the early redemption 
pursuant to Condition 6(b) above. 

 
(d) Cancellation: All Notes redeemed will be cancelled by the Paying Agent or the Registrar to whom 

such Notes are presented for redemption or surrender, and may not be resold or reissued. 
 

(e) Certain definitions: For the purposes of these Conditions: 
 

(i) “Early Redemption Amount” means, on any date, an amount equal to the sum of (i) the 
principal amount of the Notes outstanding as at such date (ii) accrued interest thereon to, but 
excluding, such date and (iii) the aggregate Early Redemption Fee under the Facility 
Agreement; 

 
(ii) “Early Redemption Date” means the date falling nine (9) Business Days after the earlier of 

(i) the date on which the acceleration in full of the Facility Agreement occurs; (ii) the date 
on which the Facility Agreement becomes due for repayment pursuant to a Loan Prepayment, 
as notified to the Transaction Administrator by the Facility Agent; 

 
(iii) “Early Redemption Fee” means an additional amount equivalent to the Early Termination 

Fee (as defined in the Facility Agreement); 
 

(iv) “Expected Maturity Date” means the day falling six (6) Business Days prior to the Legal 
Maturity Date; 
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(v) “Legal Maturity Date” means 14 December 2020; 

 
(vi) “Loan” means, as the context requires, the loan made or to be made under the Facility 

Agreement or the principal amount outstanding for the time being of the loan; 
 

(vii) “Loan Acceleration” means the acceleration in full of the Loan in accordance with the 
terms of the Facility Agreement; and 

 
(viii) “Loan Prepayment” means (i) the mandatory prepayment of the Loan arising from a 

Mandatory Prepayment Event (as defined in the Facility Agreement); or (ii) the voluntary 
full prepayment of the Loan, pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the Facility 
Agreement. 

 
(f) Notice of redemption: All Notes in respect of which any notice of redemption is given under this 

Condition 6 shall be redeemed on the date, in such place and in such manner as specified in such 
notice in accordance with this Condition 6. 

 
If there is more than one notice of redemption given of any Notes (which shall include any notice 
given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(b) and any Put Exercise Notice given by a Noteholder 
pursuant to Condition 6(c)), the notice given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(b) shall prevail. 

 
Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be responsible for calculating or verifying any 
calculations of any amounts payable under any notice of redemption and none of them shall be liable 
to any Noteholders, the Issuer or any other person for not doing so. 

 
7 Payments 
 

(a) Method of Payment: 
 

(i) Payments of principal shall be made (subject to surrender of the relevant Definitive 
Certificates at the specified office of any Paying Agent if no further payment falls to be 
made in respect of the Notes evidenced by such Definitive Certificates) in the manner 
provided in paragraph (ii) below. 

 
(ii) Interest on each Note shall be paid on the due date to the person shown on the Register at 

the close of business on the fifth Payment Business Day before the due date for payment 
thereof (the “Record Date”).  Payments of interest on each Note shall be made in USD 
either by transfer to the registered account of the Noteholder or by cheque drawn on a bank 
that processes USD payments and mailed to the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) 
of such Note at its address appearing in the Register. 

 
(iii) For the purposes of this Condition 7, a Noteholder’s “registered account” means the USD 

account maintained by or on behalf of it with a bank that processes USD payments, details 
of which appear on the Register at the close of business on the fifth Payment Business Day 
before the due date for payment. 

 
(iv) If the amount of principal being paid upon surrender of the relevant Definitive Certificate is 

less than the outstanding principal amount of the Notes evidenced by such Definitive 
Certificate, the Registrar will annotate the Register with the amount of principal so paid and 
will (if so requested in writing by the Issuer or a Noteholder) issue a new Definitive 
Certificate at the Issuer’s expense with a principal amount equal to the remaining unpaid 
outstanding principal amount.  If the amount of interest being paid is less than the amount 
then due, the Registrar will annotate the Register with the amount of interest so paid. 

 
(b) Payment initiation: Where payment is to be made by transfer to a registered account, payment 

instructions (for value on the due date or, if that is not a Payment Business Day, for value on the first 
following day which is a Payment Business Day) will be initiated, and where payment is to be made 
by cheque, the cheque will be mailed, on the due date for payment (or, if that date is not a Payment 
Business Day, on the first following day which is a Payment Business Day), or, in the case of 
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payments of principal where the relevant Definitive Certificate has not been surrendered at the 
specified office of any Paying Agent or of the Registrar, on a Payment Business Day on which the 
Principal Paying Agent is open for business and on which the relevant Definitive Certificate is 
surrendered. 

 
(c) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or 

other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of 
Condition 8.  No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of such 
payments. 

 
(d) Appointment of Agents: The Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar and the Transfer Agent initially 

appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Agents act solely 
as agents of the Issuer (or, in certain circumstances specified in the Trust Deed, the Trustee) and do 
not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder.  The Issuer 
reserves the right at any time with the prior written approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the 
appointment of the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or any of the other 
Agents and to appoint additional or other Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain 
(i) a Principal Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar with a specified office outside the United Kingdom, (iii) 
a Transfer Agent and (iv) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on 
which the Notes may be listed, in each case, as approved by the Trustee. 

 
Notice of any such termination or appointment or any change of any specified office of an Agent 
shall promptly be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders. 

 
(e) Delay in payment: Noteholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay 

after the due date in receiving the amount due on a Note if the due date is not a Payment Business 
Day or if the Noteholder is late in surrendering or cannot surrender its Definitive Certificate (if 
required to do so). 

 
(f) Non-Payment Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Note is not a Payment 

Business Day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Business 
Day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment or if a cheque mailed in 
accordance with Condition 7(a)(ii) arrives after the due date for payment. 

 
In this Condition 7, “Payment Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public 
holiday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in Beijing, Singapore, 
New York and Hong Kong, the place in which the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent is 
located and (if surrender of the relevant Definitive Certificate is required) the relevant place of 
presentation. 

 
8 Taxation 
 

(a) All payments of principal, interest and Early Redemption Fee by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect 
of the Notes shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, 
duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld 
or assessed by or within Singapore or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless 
such withholding or deduction is required by law or made for or on account of FATCA. 

 
(b) If any such withholding or deduction is required by law or made for or on account of FATCA, the 

Issuer shall make such payments in accordance with Condition 7 after such withholding or deduction 
has been made and shall account to the relevant authorities for the amount so required to be withheld 
or deducted.  Neither the Issuer nor any of the Agents (or any other party) will be obliged to make 
any additional payments to the holders of the Notes in respect of such withholding or deduction. 

 
Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the 

Notes by any person who is not resident in Singapore and carries on any operations in Singapore through a 

permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to 

certain conditions) under the ITA shall not apply if such person acquires such Notes using the funds and 

profits of such person’s operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore.  Any person whose 

interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost derived from the Notes is not 
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exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such income in a return of income 

made under the ITA. 
 
9 Note Events of Default 
 

If any of the following events occurs, the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by 
holders of at least one third in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an 
Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject to it being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its 
satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer that the Notes are, and they shall immediately become, due and payable 
at their principal amount together (if applicable) with accrued interest (the giving of such notice being an 
“Acceleration Event”): 

 
(a) Non-Payment: there has been a failure to pay the principal, interest or any Early Redemption Fee (in 

each case, under the Notes only) within two (2) Business Days after the same has become due and 
payable; 

 
(b) Breach of other obligations: there has been a material default by the Issuer in the performance or 

observance of any other obligation, condition, provision, representation or warranty binding upon or 
made by it under the Notes or the other Transaction Documents, and such material default, if capable 
of being remedied or cured, is not remedied or cured within two (2) Business Days.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, “material default” as used in this paragraph (b) shall refer to any material default 
by the Issuer that is likely to result in any non-payment by the Issuer under the Notes; 

 
(c) Enforcement proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, 

enforced or sued out on or against all or, a material part of the property, assets or revenues of the 
Issuer and is not discharged or stayed within thirty (30) days of having been so levied, enforced or 
sued out; 

 
(d) Insolvency: the Issuer is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or 

unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a material 
part of its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or 
for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or 
declared in respect of or affecting all or any material part of the debts of the Issuer; 

 
(e) Winding-up: an administrator is appointed, an order of any court of competent jurisdiction is made 

or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer, or the Issuer 
ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or, substantially all of its business or operations, except for 
the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or 
consolidation on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders; 

 
(f) Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more of 

its obligations under any of the Notes or the Transaction Documents; or 
 

(g) Analogous events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an 
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in paragraphs (c) to (f) of this Condition 9. 

 
10 Prescription 
 

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes shall be prescribed and become void unless 
made within ten (10) years (in the case of principal or Early Redemption Fee) or five (5) years (in the case of 
interest) from the appropriate payment dates in respect of them. 

 
11 Limited Recourse and No Petition 
 

(a) Limited Recourse: Recourse against the Issuer, and the liability of the Issuer, in relation to its 
obligations under the Notes and the Transaction Documents, shall be limited at all times to the 
amounts from time to time available in accordance with, and in the order of priorities set out in 
clause 5 (Payments) of the Transaction Administration Agreement.  Accordingly, no Noteholder (or 
other Secured Party) shall have any claim or recourse against the Issuer in respect of any amount 
which is or remains, or will remain, unsatisfied when no further amounts are receivable or 
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recoverable in respect of the Secured Property and all funds comprising the Secured Property and/or 
representing the proceeds of realisation thereof have been applied in accordance with the provisions 
of the Transaction Documents, and any unsatisfied amounts shall be waived and extinguished and the 
Notes shall cease to be outstanding.  In addition, where compliance with the obligations imposed on 
the Issuer under any Transaction Document would require the expenditure by the Issuer of its own 
funds, the obligations of the Issuer shall be limited to the extent that it is put in funds to meet such 
expenditure. 

 
(b) No Petition: No Noteholder shall have the right to take any action to commence any case, 

proceedings, proposal or other action under any existing or further law of any jurisdiction, domestic 
or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganisation, arrangement in the name of insolvency 
proceedings, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with 
respect to the Issuer or the debts of the Issuer, provided that, nothing in this paragraph (b) shall: 

 
(i) prevent the Trustee or the Security Trustee (subject to them being first indemnified and/or 

secured and/or pre-funded to their satisfaction) from initiating any proceedings for the 
purpose of enforcing the obligations of the Issuer under the Transaction Documents or from 
obtaining a declaratory judgment as to the obligations of the Issuer under the Transaction 
Documents owed to any Noteholder (provided that no action is taken to enforce or 
implement such judgment); or 

 
(ii) prevent any Noteholder from lodging a claim in any action as aforesaid which is initiated by 

any person (other than the Trustee). 
 

(c) Corporate obligations: The Issuer’s obligations are corporate obligations of the Issuer and no 
Noteholder shall have any recourse against any of the directors, officers or employees of the Issuer 
for any claims, losses, damages, liabilities, indemnities or other obligations whatsoever in connection 
with any transactions contemplated by any Transaction Document. 

 
12 Replacement of Definitive Certificates 
 

If any Definitive Certificate is mutilated, defaced or alleged to be lost, stolen or destroyed it may be replaced 
at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange 
or other relevant authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection 
with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity, pre-funding and otherwise as the 
Issuer and/or such Agent may require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing 
market practice).  Mutilated or defaced Definitive Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will 
be issued. 

 
13 Meetings of Noteholders and Modification 
 

(a) Meetings of Noteholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of 
Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary 
Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed.  Such a 
meeting may be convened by the Trustee or the Issuer, and shall be convened by the Trustee if 
requested in writing by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in principal amount of the 
Notes for the time being outstanding and is indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its 
satisfaction against all costs and expenses.  The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an 
Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or representing more than 50 per cent. 
of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned 
meeting two or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the 
Notes held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, 
inter alia, (i) to modify the maturity of the Notes or the dates on which interest is payable in respect 
of the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount of, any premium payable in respect of, or 
interest on, the Notes, (iii) to change the currency of payment of the Notes, (iv) to modify the 
definition of “Noteholders” in the Security Trust Deed, (v) to modify any Security Document in a 
manner which would affect the nature or the scope of the Secured Property, (vi) to modify the 
Security Trust Deed to vary the manner in which the proceeds of enforcement of the Security are 
distributed by the Security Trustee, (vii) to modify clause 6.35 (“Directions from Trustee”) of the 
Security Trust Deed, (viii) to modify any Security Document in a manner which would or is likely to 
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have a material adverse effect on the Security, (ix) to instruct the Issuer to exercise a right of 
acceleration or prepayment under the Facility Agreement, or (x) to modify the provisions concerning 
the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary 
Resolution, in which case the necessary quorum will be two or more persons holding or representing 
not less than 66 per cent., or at any adjourned meeting not less than 33 per cent., in aggregate 
principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding.  Any Extraordinary Resolution duly 
passed shall be binding on the Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which 
such resolution was passed). 

 
The Trust Deed provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less 
than 90 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Notes outstanding shall for all purposes be as 
valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened 
and held.  Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in 
the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders. 

 
(b) Modification and waiver: The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to (i) any 

modification of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of any Transaction Documents or 
the Notes which is, in its opinion, of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a 
manifest error or is to comply with any mandatory provision of applicable law, and (ii) any other 
modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach 
or proposed breach, of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of any Transaction 
Documents or the Notes which is in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the 
interests of the Noteholders.  Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the 
Noteholders.  The Security Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Trustee or the Secured 
Parties, to any modification to the Security Documents which is of a formal, minor or technical 
nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of applicable 
law. 

 
(c) Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions, rights, powers and 

discretions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition 13) the Trustee shall have 
regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of 
such exercise for individual Noteholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any 
Noteholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer or the Trustee any indemnification or payment in 
respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders. 

 
14 Provision of Information 
 

Each Noteholder (and any beneficial owner of an interest in a Note) shall provide any forms, certifications and 
other documentation reasonably requested by (or on behalf of) the Issuer, any Agent or a taxing authority in 
order to enable the Issuer or such Agent to comply with FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and 
withhold from any such payments.  For the avoidance of doubt, such documentation may include, inter alia, 
identifying information (residence, citizenship, telephone number) about such holder or owner as well as 
identifying information about equity holders in such holder or owner. 

 
15 Enforcement 
 

At any time after the occurrence of an Acceleration Event, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without 
further notice, institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust 
Deed and the Notes (including without limitation, instructing the Security Trustee pursuant to Condition 4(b)), 
but it need not take any such proceedings unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary 
Resolution or so requested in writing by Noteholders holding at least one third in principal amount of the 
Notes outstanding, and (b) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.  
No Noteholder may proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, 
fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing. 

 
16 Indemnification of the Trustee 
 

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility, 
including provisions relieving it from taking proceedings to enforce payment unless indemnified and/or 
secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.  The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with 
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the Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor and any entity related to any of them without accounting for any profit. 
 

The Trustee may rely without liability to Noteholders on any report, confirmation, opinion or certificate or any 
advice of accountants, lawyers, financial advisers, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not 
addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement 
letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or any other person or in any other manner) by reference to a 
monetary cap, methodology or otherwise.  The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such 
report, confirmation, opinion or certificate or advice and such report, confirmation, opinion or certificate or 
advice shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Noteholders. 

 
Whenever the Trustee is required or entitled by the terms of the Trust Deed or these Conditions to exercise any 
discretion or power, take or refrain from taking any action, make any decision or give any direction, the 
Trustee is entitled, prior to exercising any such discretion or power, taking or refraining from taking any such 
action, making any such decision or giving any such direction, to seek directions from the Noteholders by way 
of Extraordinary Resolution, and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or liability incurred by the 
Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor, the Noteholders or any other person as a result of any delay in it 
exercising such discretion or power, taking such action, making such decision or giving such direction as a 
result of seeking such direction from the Noteholders or in the event that no direction is given to the Trustee 
by the Noteholders. 

 
None of the Trustee, the Security Trustee or any of the Agents shall be responsible for the performance by the 
Issuer, the Borrower, the Guarantor and any other person appointed by the Issuer, the Borrower and/or the 
Guarantor in relation to the Notes of the duties and obligations on their part expressed in respect of the same 
and, unless it has written notice from the Issuer, the Borrower or the Guarantor to the contrary, the Trustee, the 
Security Trustee and each Agent shall assume that the same are being duly performed.  None of the Trustee, 
the Security Trustee or any Agent shall be liable to any Noteholder or any other person for any action taken by 
the Trustee, the Security Trustee or such Agent in accordance with the instructions of the Noteholders.  The 
Trustee and the Security Trustee shall be entitled to rely on: (i) (in the case of the Trustee) any direction, 
request or resolution of Noteholders given by holders of the requisite principal amount of Notes outstanding or 
passed at a meeting of Noteholders convened and held in accordance with the Trust Deed, and (ii) (in the case 
of the Security Trustee) any notice or instruction from the Trustee.  Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents 
shall be under any obligation to ascertain whether any Note Event of Default has occurred or monitor 
compliance by the Issuer, the Borrower or the Guarantor with the provisions of the Transaction Documents or 
these Conditions. 

 
17 Notices 
 

Notices to Noteholders will be valid if (a) made in writing in English and mailed to them by uninsured mail at 
the Issuer’s expense at their addresses in the Register maintained by the Registrar; or (b) published at the 
Issuer’s expense in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Asia (which is 
expected to be The Wall Street Journal Asia).  The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a 
manner that complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on 
which the Notes are for the time being listed. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date 
of such publication or, if published more than once, on the first date on which publication is made. 

 
So long as the Notes are evidenced by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of 

Euroclear and Clearstream any notice to the holders of the Notes shall be validly given by the delivery of the 

relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream for communication by it to entitled accountholders in 

substitution for notification as required by the Conditions. 

 
18 Further Issues 
 

The Issuer is at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders to create and issue further 
securities having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all material respects (or in all material respects 
save for the first payment of interest on them) and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single 
series with the outstanding Notes.  Any further securities shall be constituted by a deed supplemental to the 
Trust Deed. 
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19 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 
 

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of 
Third Parties) Act 1999. 

 
20 Governing Law 
 

(a) Governing Law: The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Security Documents (other than the 
Accounts Charge which is governed by Hong Kong law) and the Notes and any non-contractual 
obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by and shall be construed in 
accordance with English law. 

 
(b) Jurisdiction: The courts of England are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes 

which may arise out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Security 
Documents (other than the Accounts Charge, whereas the courts of Hong Kong are to have non-
exclusive jurisdiction) and the Notes and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of 
or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the Notes (“Proceedings”) may be 
brought in such courts.  Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction 
of such courts. 

 
(c) Agent for Service of Process: Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the Security 

Documents (other than the Accounts Charge pursuant to which the Issuer has irrevocably appointed 
an agent in Hong Kong), the Issuer has irrevocably appointed an agent in England to receive service 
of process in any Proceedings in England based on any of the Notes. 

 
(d) Waiver of Immunity: The Issuer has, pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the 

Security Documents, waived any right to claim sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or 
execution and any similar defence, and has irrevocably consented to the giving of any relief or the 
issue of any process, including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any 
property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment made or given 
in connection with any Proceedings. 
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THE FACILITY AGREEMENT 

 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Facility Agreement.  This summary does not purport to be 

complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to all of the provisions of the Facility Agreement.  It does not 

restate those agreements among the parties thereto in their entirety. 

 
The key provisions of the Facility Agreement are summarised below. 
 
As the Issuer is the sole lender under the Facility Agreement, references to “Majority Lenders” and “Lenders” in the 
summary below shall be construed as references to the Issuer (in its capacity as sole lender under the Facility 
Agreement). 
 
Facility Type 
 

Term loan facility (the “Facility”) 

Aggregate Facility 
Amount 
 

U.S.$100,000,000 (the “Facility Amount”) 

Final Maturity Date 
 

14 December 2020 (the “Final Maturity Date”) 

Purpose 
 

The Borrower shall ensure that all amounts borrowed by it under the Facility are applied 
towards: 
 
(a) refinancing of its existing indebtedness; 

 
(b) general corporate purposes; and 
 
(c) payment of all fees in connection with the Facility. 
 

Interest Period 
 

(a) Subject to the provisions of the Facility Agreement, each Interest Period for the 
Loan shall be six (6) months. 

 
(b) The first Interest Period for the Loan shall commence on (and include) the 

Utilisation Date and end on (but exclude) 14 June 2018. 
 
(c) Each successive Interest Period will commence on (and include) the last day of the 

immediately preceding Interest Period and end on (but exclude) the 14th day of the 
month falling six (6) calendar months from such commencement date, so that each 
Interest Period will end on (but exclude) 14 June or 14 December of any given year. 

 
(d) The final Interest Period shall commence on (and include) 14 June 2020 and end on 

(but exclude) the Final Maturity Date. 
 
(e) An Interest Period for the Loan shall not extend beyond the Final Maturity Date. 
 
“Utilisation” means the utilisation of the Facility. 
 
“Utilisation Date” means the date of the Utilisation, being the date on which the Loan is 
made or to be made. 
 

Loan 
 

“Loan” means, as the context requires, the loan made or to be made under the Facility 
Agreement or the principal amount outstanding for the time being of the loan. 
 

Interest Rate 
 

7.95 per cent. per annum 
 

Payment of Interest 
 

(a) On each Interest Payment Date the Borrower shall pay accrued interest on the Loan. 
 
(b) For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding that each Interest Payment Date falls 

before the last day of the Interest Period relating to it, the Borrower agrees that the 
interest payable on each Interest Payment Date shall be calculated on the basis of 
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the entire Interest Period relating to that Interest Payment Date (as opposed to the 
interest payable up to that Interest Payment Date). 

 
“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which 
banks are open for general business in Beijing, Singapore, Hong Kong and New York. 
 
“Interest Payment Date” means the Business Day which is the ninth (9th) Business Day (for 
the avoidance of doubt, in inverse chronological order) prior to the Interest Payment 
Reference Date in relation to the last day of each Interest Period. 
 
“Interest Payment Reference Date” means, in relation to the last day of each Interest 
Period, 
 
(a) if the last day of such Interest Period is a Business Day, that last day; or 
 
(b) if the last day of such Interest Period is not a Business Day, the next Business Day in 

the same calendar month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is 
no such next Business Day in the same calendar month). 

 
Conditions of 
Utilisation 
 

(a) The Lenders will only be obliged to comply with clause 5.4 (Lenders’ participation) 
of the Facility Agreement in relation to any Utilisation Request if on or before the 
Utilisation Date for the Utilisation, the Facility Agent has received all of the 
documents and other evidence listed below in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Facility Agent (acting on the instructions of the MLAB). The Facility Agent shall 
notify the Borrower and the Lenders promptly upon receiving such documents and 
other evidence: 

 
(i) a copy of the constitutional documents of the Borrower; 

 
(ii) a copy of the constitutional documents of the Guarantor; 

 
(iii) a copy of a resolution of the board of directors and a resolution of the 

shareholder(s) of the Borrower and a letter of authorisation from the 
Guarantor; 

 
(iv) a specimen of the signature of each person authorised by any resolution 

referred to in (iii) above; 
 

(v) a certificate from the Borrower (signed by a director thereof) confirming 
that borrowing the Total Commitment would not cause any borrowing or 
other limit binding on it to be exceeded; 

 
(vi) a certificate of an authorised signatory of each Transaction Obligor 

certifying that each copy document relating to it specified in this paragraph 
(a) is correct, complete and in full force and effect as at a date no earlier 
than the date of the Facility Agreement; 

 
(vii) the duly executed Finance Documents; 

 
(viii) a copy of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Borrower for 

the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 and a 
copy of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for 
the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016; 

 
(ix) a copy of any other Authorisation or other document, opinion or assurance 

which the Facility Agent considers to be necessary or desirable (acting on 
the instructions of the Majority Lenders) (if it has notified the Borrower 
accordingly) in connection with the entry into and performance of the 
transactions contemplated by any Finance Document or for the validity and 
enforceability of any Finance Document; 
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(x) evidence that the fees, costs and expenses then due from the Borrower 

pursuant to clause 9 (Fees) and/or clause 14 (Costs and Expenses) of the 
Facility Agreement have been paid or will be paid by the Utilisation Date; 

 
(xi) confirmation that each Lender has completed and is satisfied with the 

results of its “know your customer” and similar procedures with respect to 
the Borrower; 

 
(xii) confirmation from each Lender that it has or will obtain sufficient funding 

from its financing arrangements to provide its participation in the 
Utilisation; 

 
(xiii) evidence that a pre-registration certificate has been obtained in respect of 

the Facility Agreement and/or the Guarantee from the relevant NDRC 
office in accordance with applicable laws and regulations; 

 
(ix) evidence that the process agent specified in clause 35.2 (Service of process) 

of the Facility Agreement has accepted its appointment; and 
 

(x) Hong Kong, English, Singaporean and PRC law legal opinions. 
 
(b) Subject to the above, the Lenders will only be obliged to comply with clause 5.4 

(Lenders’ participation) of the Facility Agreement in relation to the Loan if on the 
date of the Utilisation Request and on the proposed Utilisation Date: 

 
(i) no Default is continuing or would result from the proposed Loan; and 

 
(ii) the representations and/or warranties to be repeated by any or all of the 

Transaction Obligors under any or all of the Finance Documents upon the 
date of the Utilisation Request or the Utilisation Date are true in all 
material respects (whether before or after giving effect to the proposed 
Loan). 

 
“Administrative Parties” means each of the Facility Agent and the MLAB (each an 
“Administrative Party”). 
 
“Authorisation” means: 
 
(a) an authorisation, consent, approval, resolution, licence, exemption, filing, 

notarisation, lodgement or registration; and/or 
 
(b) in relation to anything which will be fully or partly prohibited or restricted by law if 

a Governmental Agency intervenes or acts in any way within a specified period after 
lodgement, filing, registration or notification, the expiry of that period without 
intervention or action. 

 
“Availability Period” means the period from and including the date of the Facility 
Agreement to and including 22 December 2017, or such later date as the Facility Agent 
(acting on the instructions of the MLAB) may notify to the Borrower. 
 
“Commitment” means: 
 
(a) in relation to the Original Lender, the Total Commitment; and 
 
(b) in relation to any other Lender, the amount of any Commitment transferred to it 

pursuant to clause 19 (Changes to the Lenders) of the Facility Agreement, 
 
to the extent not cancelled or reduced under the Facility Agreement or transferred by it 
pursuant to clause 19 (Changes to the Lenders) of the Facility Agreement. 
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“Default” means an Event of Default or any event or circumstance which would (with the 
expiry of a grace period, the giving of notice, the making of any determination under the 
Finance Documents, the occurrence of any other event or circumstance or any combination 
of any of the foregoing) be an Event of Default. 
 
“Fee Letter” means any letter or letters referring to the Facility Agreement or the Facility 
between one or more Administrative Parties and the Borrower setting out the fees referred to 
in clause 9 (Fees) of the Facility Agreement. 
 
“Finance Documents” means the Facility Agreement, the Guarantee, the Fee Letter, the 
Utilisation Request, and each other document designated as such by the Facility Agent 
(acting on the instructions of the Majority Lenders) (each a “Finance Document”). 
 
“Guarantee” means the irrevocable letter of guarantee issued by the Guarantor in favour of 
the Original Lender in respect of the obligations of the Borrower under the Facility, which is 
in a form substantially set out in Schedule 10 (Form of Letter of Guarantee) to the Facility 
Agreement. 
 

“Guarantor” means Wanda Holding Group Co. Ltd. (万达控股集团有限公司). 
 
“Majority Lenders” means a Lender or Lenders with an aggregate Commitment more than 
662/3 per cent. of the Total Commitment (or, if the Total Commitment has been reduced to 
zero, the aggregate of more than 662/3 per cent. of the Total Commitment immediately prior 
to the reduction). 
 
“Total Commitment” means the aggregate of the Commitment, being US$100,000,000. 
 
“Transaction Obligors” means the Borrower and the Guarantor (each a “Transaction 
Obligor”). 
 
“Utilisation Request” means a notice substantially in the form set out in Schedule 2 (Form 

of Utilisation Request) to the Facility Agreement. 
 

Repayment of the 
Loan 

(a) The Borrower shall repay the Loan in full on the Business Day which is the ninth 
(9th) Business Day (for the avoidance of doubt, in inverse chronological order) prior 
to the Final Maturity Reference Date. 

 
(b) Notwithstanding the above, the Borrower agrees that for the purposes of calculating 

interest payable for the Interest Period ending on the Final Maturity Date (the 
“Relevant Maturity Date Interest Period”), the total outstanding amount of the 
Loan (before such repayment above) shall be deemed to have been outstanding for 
the entire Relevant Maturity Date Interest Period. 

 
“Final Maturity Reference Date” means: 
 
(a) if the Final Maturity Date is a Business Day, the Final Maturity Date, or 
 
(b) if the Final Maturity Date is not a Business Day, the next Business Day in the same 

calendar month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is no such 
next Business Day in the same calendar month). 

 
No re-borrowing 
 

The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Facility which is prepaid or repaid. 
 

Mandatory 
Prepayment arising 
from a Mandatory 
Prepayment Event 
 

Upon the occurrence of a Mandatory Prepayment Event: 
 
(a) the Borrower or any Finance Party shall promptly notify the Facility Agent upon 

becoming aware of that event and the Facility Agent shall promptly notify the 
Borrower and all Lenders upon the receipt of such notification; 
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(b) subject to clause 6.7 (Restrictions) of the Facility Agreement, upon the occurrence 
of a Mandatory Prepayment Event, the Facility Agent (acting on the instructions of 
the Majority Lenders) shall give notice (a “Mandatory Prepayment Notice”) to the 
Borrower that the outstanding Loan is due and payable on the Mandatory 
Prepayment Date whereupon: 

 
(i) the Facility will be cancelled; and 

 
(ii) the Borrower shall pay the Mandatory Prepayment Amount on the 

Mandatory Prepayment Date; and 
 
(c) all Lenders are deemed to have instructed the Facility Agent to deliver a Mandatory 

Prepayment Notice to the Borrower in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) above. 
 
“Acceleration Date” means a date on which all of the Loan is declared due and payable 
pursuant to clause 18.15 (Acceleration) of the Facility Agreement. 
 
“Early Termination Date” means, in relation to an Acceleration Date or a relevant 
Prepayment Date, the date falling nine (9) Business Days after that Acceleration Date or 
relevant Prepayment Date (as the case may be). 
 
“Early Termination Fee” means: 
 
(a) in relation to (i) an Acceleration Date on which all of the Loan is accelerated under 

clause 18.15 (Acceleration) of the Facility Agreement or (ii) a Mandatory 
Prepayment Date on which all of the Loan is or becomes due for prepayment 
pursuant to clause 6.3 (Mandatory prepayment arising from a Mandatory 

Prepayment Event) of the Facility Agreement, a fee computed at the rate of three 
and a half (3.5) per cent. per annum on the full principal amount of all of the Loan 
for the period from and including the Early Termination Date in relation to that 
Acceleration Date or Prepayment Date (as the case may be) to but excluding the 
Final Maturity Date; or 

 
(b) in relation to a Voluntary Prepayment Date on which all of the Loan is or becomes 

due for prepayment pursuant to clause 6.5 (Voluntary prepayment) of the Facility 
Agreement, a fee of: 

 
(i) 101.033 per cent. of the full principal amount of all of the Loan if the 

relevant Voluntary Prepayment Date falls in 2018; or 
 

(ii) 101.033 per cent. of the full principal amount of all of the Loan if the 
relevant Voluntary Prepayment Date falls in 2019. 

 
For the avoidance of doubt, no Early Termination Fee is payable for mandatory partial 
prepayment pursuant to clause 6.4 (Mandatory partial prepayment arising from a Partial 

Prepayment Trigger Event) of the Facility Agreement. 
 
“Mandatory Prepayment Amount” shall mean all outstanding Loans, together with accrued 
interest (such accrued interest to be calculated in accordance with the sub-paragraph below), 
and the applicable Early Termination Fee to be paid by the Borrower on the Mandatory 
Prepayment Date, provided that, for the purposes of calculating accrued interest on an 
outstanding Loan to be prepaid, the Borrower agrees that such amount will include, in 
addition to the interest accrued up to (but excluding) the Mandatory Prepayment Date, an 
amount equal to the amount of interest which would have accrued on the Loan for the period 
from, and including, that Mandatory Prepayment Date to, but excluding, the Early 
Termination Date following that Mandatory Prepayment Date, as if the Loan had not been 
prepaid prior to the end of that period. 
 
“Mandatory Prepayment Date” shall mean in relation to a mandatory prepayment pursuant 
to clause 6.3 (Mandatory prepayment arising from a Mandatory Prepayment Event) of the 
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Facility Agreement, the Business Day falling the fifth (5th) Business Days from the date of 
notification to the Borrower by the Facility Agent (acting on the instructions of the Majority 
Lenders) of the occurrence of a Mandatory Prepayment Event. 
 
“Mandatory Prepayment Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if: 
 
(a) (Guarantor Default Event) a Guarantor Default Event has occurred and is 

continuing; or 
 
(b) (Illegality affecting the Lender) it is or will become unlawful in any applicable 

jurisdiction for a Lender to perform any of its obligations as contemplated by the 
Facility Agreement or to fund or maintain its participation in the Loan or any part 
thereof; or 

 
(c) (Failure to complete SAFE or NDRC registration) the registration of the Guarantee 

with SAFE or NDRC in accordance with the requirements of applicable laws and 
regulation is not completed within 45 Business Days of the date of the Facility 
Agreement, 

 
provided that, unless the Facility Agent has received express written notice that a Mandatory 
Prepayment Event has occurred, the Facility Agent may assume that no Mandatory 
Prepayment Event has occurred.  The Facility Agent shall not be obliged to monitor or 
determine whether any Mandatory Prepayment Event has occurred, and shall not be 
responsible or liable to any person for any loss arising from any failure to do so. 
 
“Partial Prepayment Amount” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in clause 6 (Repayment 

and Prepayment) of the Facility Agreement. 
 
“Partial Prepayment Date” shall mean the Interest Payment Date falling in: 
 
(a) December 2018 where the relevant Put Exercise Notice specifies the immediately 

following Interest Payment Reference Date as the redemption date of the relevant 
Repackaged Notes; or 

 
(b) December 2019 where the relevant Put Exercise Notice specifies the immediately 

following Interest Payment Reference Date as the redemption date of the relevant 
Repackaged Notes. 

 
A “Partial Prepayment Trigger Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if the Original 
Lender receives a Put Exercise Notice and such notice has been forwarded to the Facility 
Agent. 
 
“Prepayment Amount” means the Mandatory Prepayment Amount, the Partial Prepayment 
Amount or the Voluntary Prepayment Amount (as the context shall require). 
 
“Prepayment Date” means the Mandatory Prepayment Date, the Partial Prepayment Date or 
the Voluntary Prepayment Date (as the context shall require). 
 
A “Put Exercise Notice” has the meaning given to it in condition 6(c) of the Repackaged 
Notes. 
 
“Repackaged Notes” shall mean the US$100,000,000 7.95 per cent. Fixed Rate Secured 
Notes due 2020 to be issued by the Original Lender. 
 
“Voluntary Prepayment Amount” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in clause 6 
(Repayment and Prepayment) of the Facility Agreement. 
 
“Voluntary Prepayment Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in clause 6 (Repayment 

and Prepayment) of the Facility Agreement. 
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Mandatory partial 
prepayment arising 
from a Partial 
Prepayment Trigger 
Event 

Upon the occurrence of a Partial Prepayment Trigger Event: 
 
(a) subject to Clause 6.7 (Restrictions) of the Facility Agreement, the Facility Agent 

shall, on the tenth (10th) Business Day immediately preceding the relevant Partial 
Prepayment Date, deliver to the Borrower a Partial Prepayment Notice stating that 
the Partial Prepayment Amount that is due and payable on the Partial Prepayment 
Date whereupon: 

 
(i) the Borrower shall prepay the Affected Principal Amount, together with 

accrued interest (such accrued interest to be calculated in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (ii) below) (together, the “Partial Prepayment Amount”) 
on the Partial Prepayment Date; and 

 
(ii) for the purposes of calculating accrued interest on the Affected Principal 

Amount on the Loan to be prepaid, the Borrower agrees that such amount 
will include, in addition to the interest accrued up to (but excluding) the 
Partial Prepayment Date, an amount equal to the amount of interest which 
would have accrued on the Affected Principal Amount for the period from, 
and including, that Partial Prepayment Date to, but excluding, the Early 
Termination Date following that Partial Prepayment Date, as if the 
Affected Principal Amount had not been prepaid prior to the end of that 
period; and 

 
(b) all Lenders are deemed to have instructed the Facility Agent to give a notice in 

accordance with paragraph (a) above. 
 
Upon receipt of a Partial Prepayment Notice, the Borrower shall deliver an 
acknowledgement to the Facility Agent within three (3) Business Days.  If the Facility Agent 
does not receive such acknowledgement from the Borrower within three (3) Business Days 
of delivery of Partial Prepayment Notice, the Facility Agent shall promptly deliver another 
Partial Prepayment Notice to the Borrower. 
 
“Affected Principal Amount” shall mean the aggregate principal amount of the Repackaged 
Notes to be redeemed early on the Interest Payment Reference Date immediately following 
the relevant Partial Prepayment Date pursuant to condition 6(c) of the Repackaged Notes. 
 
“Partial Prepayment Notice” means a notice substantially in the form set out in schedule 6 
(Form of Partial Prepayment Notice) to the Facility Agreement. 
 

Voluntary 
prepayment 
 

(a) Subject to Clause 6.7 (Restrictions) of the Facility Agreement, the Borrower may 
prepay the whole of the Loan by giving the Facility Agent a Voluntary Prepayment 
Notice not more than sixty (60) Business Days and not less than thirty (30) Business 
Days prior to: 

 
(i) the Interest Payment Reference Date falling in December 2018 for 

prepayment on the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date; or 
 

(ii) the Interest Payment Reference Date falling in December 2019 for 
prepayment on the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date, 

 
each such Interest Payment Date being a “Voluntary Prepayment Date”. 

 
(b) The Borrower agrees that the prepayment amount (the “Voluntary Prepayment 

Amount”) payable by it on the Voluntary Prepayment Date shall be the aggregate of 
(i) the outstanding Loan, together with accrued interest (such accrued interest to be 
calculated in accordance with paragraph (d) below), and (ii) the applicable Early 
Termination Fee. 

 
(c) Upon receipt of a Voluntary Prepayment Notice by the Facility Agent, all Lenders 

are deemed to have instructed the Facility Agent to, as soon as reasonably 
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practicable, give a notice to the Borrower setting out (x) the Voluntary Prepayment 
Date, and (y) the Voluntary Prepayment Amount as determined by the Facility 
Agent. 

 
(d) For the purpose of calculating accrued interest on the outstanding Loan to be 

prepaid, the Borrower agrees that such amount will include, in addition to the 
interest accrued up to (but excluding) the Voluntary Prepayment Date, an amount 
equal to the amount of interest which would have accrued on the Loan for the period 
from, and including, that Voluntary Prepayment Date to, but excluding, the Early 
Termination Date following that Voluntary Prepayment Date, as if the Loan had not 
been prepaid prior to the end of that period. 

 
(e) For the avoidance of doubt, a Voluntary Prepayment Notice, once given, is 

irrevocable and voluntary prepayment shall relate to all but not part of the Loan. 
 

(f) The Borrower will give prior notice in writing to the Facility Agent of any proposed 
voluntary prepayment of the Loan pursuant to Clause 6.5 of the Facility Agreement. 

 
“Voluntary Prepayment Notice” means a notice substantially in the form set out in schedule 
7 (Form of Voluntary Prepayment Notice) to the Facility Agreement. 
 

Default Interest 
 

(a) If the Borrower fails to pay any amount payable by it under a Finance Document on 
its due date, interest shall accrue on such overdue amount from the due date up to 
the date of actual payment (both before and after judgment) at a rate which is one 
(1) per cent. per annum higher than the rate which would have been payable if such 
overdue amount had, during the period of non-payment, constituted the Loan in the 
currency of such overdue amount for successive Interest Periods, each of a duration 
selected by the Facility Agent.  Any interest accruing under this clause on any 
overdue amount owing by the Borrower shall be immediately payable by the 
Borrower on demand. 

 
(b) Default interest (if unpaid) arising on any Unpaid Sum will be compounded with 

that Unpaid Sum at the end of each Interest Period applicable to that Unpaid Sum 
but will remain immediately due and payable. 

 
“Unpaid Sum” means any sum due and payable but unpaid by any Transaction 
Obligor under any or all of the Finance Documents. 

 
Early Termination 
Fee 

(a) The Borrower agrees to pay an Early Termination Fee to the Lenders if all of the 
Loan (i) is accelerated under clause 18.15 (Acceleration) of the Facility Agreement, 
(ii) becomes due for prepayment pursuant to clause 6.3 (Mandatory prepayment 

arising from a Mandatory Prepayment Event) of the Facility Agreement, or (iii) is 
to be voluntarily prepaid by the Borrower pursuant to clause 6.5 (Voluntary 

prepayment) of the Facility Agreement.  Such Early Termination Fee shall be paid 
together with, and in addition to, the principal and accrued interest to be repaid or 
prepaid. 

 
(b) The Borrower agrees that such Early Termination Fee is a genuine pre-estimate of 

the losses expected to be incurred by the Lenders in accordance with their funding 
obligations and is arrived at after commercial and arm’s length negotiations. 

 
Representations and 
Warranties 

The Borrower shall give the usual and customary representations and warranties to each 
Finance Party for transactions of this type, including, without limitation: 
 
(a) Status 
 

(i) It is a limited company duly incorporated and validly existing under the 
laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation. 

 
(ii) Each of it and its Subsidiaries has the power to own its assets and carry on 
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its business as it is being conducted. 
 

(iii) It is not a FATCA FFI (which is not also a FATCA Exempt Party) or a U.S. 
Tax Obligor. 

 
“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 

 
“FATCA” means: 

 
(a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the Code or any associated regulations; 

 
(b) any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an 

intergovernmental agreement between the U.S. and any other jurisdiction, 
which (in either case) facilitates the implementation of any law or 
regulation referred to in paragraph (a) above; 

 
(c) any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any treaty, law or 

regulation referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b) above with the U.S. Internal 
Revenue Service, the U.S. government or any governmental or taxation 
authority in any other jurisdiction; or 

 
(d) any treaty, law, regulation, instruction or other official guidance analogous 

to paragraphs (a) or (b) of this definition enacted or amended in any other 
jurisdiction from time to time, and any agreement pursuant to the 
implementation of any such treaty, law, regulation, instruction or other 
official guidance with any governmental or taxation authority in any 
jurisdiction. 

 
“FATCA Deduction” means a deduction or withholding from a payment under a 
Finance Document required by FATCA. 

 
“FATCA Exempt Party” means a party that is entitled to receive payments free 
from any FATCA Deduction.  For the avoidance of doubt, a Party shall be presumed 
to be a FATCA Exempt Party if it has a valid FATCA GIIN issued to it. 

 
“FATCA FFI” means a foreign financial institution as defined in section 1471(d)(4) 
of the Code which, if any Finance Party is not a FATCA Exempt Party, could be 
required to make a FATCA Deduction. 

 
“FATCA GIIN” means the Global Intermediary Identification Number issued and 
assigned to an entity pursuant to FATCA. 

 
“Finance Parties” means the Facility Agent, the MLAB and the Lenders (each a 
“Finance Party”). 

 
“Subsidiary” means in relation to any company, corporation or entity, a company, 
corporation or entity: 

 
(a) which is controlled, directly or indirectly, by the first mentioned company, 

corporation or entity; 
 

(b) more than half the issued equity share capital, registered capital or equity 
interest of which is beneficially owned, directly or indirectly by the first 
mentioned company, corporation or entity; or 

 
(c) which is a Subsidiary of another Subsidiary of the first mentioned 

company, corporation or entity. 
 

“US Tax Obligor” means: 
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(a) a Transaction Obligor which is a resident for tax purposes in the US; or 
 

(b) a Transaction Obligor some or all of whose payments under the Finance 
Documents are from sources within the United States for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes. 

 
(b) Binding obligations 
 

The obligations expressed to be assumed by it in each Finance Document are legal, 
valid, binding and enforceable obligations. 

 
(c) Non-conflict with other obligations 
 

The entry into and performance by it of, and the transactions contemplated by, the 
Finance Documents to which it is a party do not and will not: 

 
(i) conflict with: 

 
(A) any law or regulation applicable to it; 

 
(B) the constitutional documents of it or any of its Subsidiaries; or 

 
(C) any agreement or instrument binding upon it or any of its 

Subsidiaries or any asset of it or any of its Subsidiaries; or 
 

(ii) result in the existence of or oblige it or its Subsidiaries to create any 
security over all or any of the assets of it or its Subsidiaries. 

 
(d) Power and authority 
 

(i) It has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all 
necessary action to authorise its entry into, performance and delivery of, 
the Finance Documents to which it is a party and the transactions 
contemplated by those Finance Documents. 

 
(ii) No limit on its powers will be exceeded as a result of the borrowing or 

giving of guarantees or indemnities contemplated by the Finance 
Documents to which it is a party. 

 
(e) Insolvency 
 

No Insolvency Event has occurred in relation to the Transaction Obligors or the 
Group. 

 
“Affiliates” means, in relation to any person: 

 
(a) the head office of that person, a representative or branch office of that 

person; or 
 

(b) a Subsidiary of that person or a Holding Company of that person or any 
other Subsidiary of that Holding Company, or the head office, a 
representative or branch office of any of the foregoing. 

 
“Group” means the Borrower, the Guarantor and its Affiliates taken as a whole. 

 
“Holding Company” means, in relation to a company, corporation or entity, any 
other company, corporation or entity in respect of which it is a Subsidiary. 

 
“Insolvency Event” in relation to an entity means that such entity: 

 



 

63 

(a) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger 
in which the surviving entity assumes all the obligations of the dissolved 
entity hereunder); 

 
(b) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing 

its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due; 
 

(c) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the 
benefit of its creditors; 

 
(d) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar 

official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction 
over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the 
jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of 
insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or 
insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ rights or any law 
regarding rehabilitation and/or resolution of financial institutions, or a 
petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, 
supervisor or other official; 

 
(e)  has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or 

bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or 
other similar law affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is presented for its 
winding-up or liquidation, and, in the case of any such proceeding or 
petition instituted or presented against it, such proceeding or petition is 
instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in paragraph (d) 
above and: 

 
(i) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of 

an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or 
liquidation; or 

 
(ii) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case 

within 30 days of the institution or presentation thereof; 
 

(f) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or 
liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger 
in which the surviving entity assumes all the obligations of the dissolved 
entity hereunder); 

 
(g) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional 

liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official 
for it or for all or substantially all its assets (other than, for so long as it is 
required by law or regulation not to be publicly disclosed, any such 
appointment which is to be made, or is made, by a person or entity 
described in paragraph (d) above); 

 
(h) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has 

a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, 
enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such 
secured party maintains possession for thirty (30) days, or any such process 
is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within thirty 
(30) days thereafter; 

 
(i) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the 

applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the 
events specified in paragraphs (a) to (h) above; or 

 
(j) takes any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, 

or acquiescence, in any of the foregoing acts. 
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(f) Validity and admissibility in evidence 
 

All Authorisations required or desirable: 
 

(i) to enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights and comply with its 
obligations in the Finance Documents to which it is a party; 

 
(ii) to make the Finance Documents to which it is a party admissible in 

evidence in its jurisdiction of organisation; and/or 
 

(iii) for it and its Subsidiaries to carry on their respective business, 
 

have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect. 
 
(g) Governing law and enforcement 
 

The choice of law of each Finance Document to which it is a party will be 
recognised and enforced in its jurisdiction of incorporation. 

 
(h) No deductions, filing or stamp taxes 
 

(i) It is not necessary under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation that the 
Finance Documents be filed, recorded or enrolled with any court or other 
authority in that jurisdiction or that any stamp, registration or similar tax be 
paid on or in relation to any or all of the Finance Documents or the 
transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents. 

 
(ii) It is not required under the law applicable where it is incorporated or 

resident or at the address specified in the Facility Agreement to make any 
deduction for or on account of Tax from any payment it may make under 
any Finance Document. 

 
“Tax” means any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding of a similar 
nature (including any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to 
pay or any delay in paying any of the same). 

 
(i) No default 
 

(i) No Event of Default is continuing or might reasonably be expected to result 
from the making of the Utilisation. 

 
(ii) No other event or circumstance is outstanding which constitutes a default 

under any other agreement or instrument which is binding on it or any of its 
Subsidiaries or to which any asset of it or any of its Subsidiaries is subject 
which might have a Material Adverse Effect. 

 
“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on: 

 
(a) the business, conditions (financial or otherwise) or prospects of: 

 
(i) the Borrower; 

 
(ii) the Guarantor; or 

 
(iii) the Group taken as a whole; 

 
(b) the ability of any Transaction Obligor to perform its obligations under any 

or all of the Finance Documents; or 
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(c) the legality, validity or enforceability of any or all of the Finance 
Documents or any or all of the rights or remedies of any Finance Party 
under any or all of the Finance Documents. 

 
(j) No misleading information 
 

(i) Any information (including, without limitation, the information set out in 
Schedule 9 (Description of the Borrower and the Guarantor) to the Facility 
Agreement and the information about the Guarantor as set out in Schedule 
10 (Form of Letter of Guarantee) to the Facility Agreement contained in or 
provided by or on behalf of any member of the Group or any Transaction 
Obligor was true, complete and accurate in all material respects as at the 
date it was given and is not misleading in any respect. 

 
(ii) Any financial projections supplied by or on behalf of any Transaction 

Obligor, any member of the Group or any affiliate of any of the foregoing 
have been prepared on the basis of recent historical information and on the 
basis of reasonable assumptions. 

 
(iii) All information supplied by or on behalf of any Transaction Obligor, any 

member of the Group or any affiliate of any of the foregoing is true, 
complete and accurate in all material respects as at the date it was given 
and is not misleading in any respect. 

 
(k) Description of the Borrower and the Guarantor 
 

(i) The information set out in Schedule 9 (Description of the Borrower and the 

Guarantor) to the Facility Agreement contains all information with respect 
to the Borrower and the Group that is material to enable the Finance Parties 
to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial 
position, profits and losses, and prospects of the Borrower and the Group. 

 
(ii) The statements contained in Schedule 9 (Description of the Borrower and 

the Guarantor) to the Facility Agreement relating to the Borrower and to 
the Group are in every material respect true and accurate and not 
misleading. 

 
(iii) There are no other facts in relation to the Borrower or the Group the 

omission of which would make any statement in Schedule 9 (Description 

of the Borrower and the Guarantor) to the Facility Agreement misleading 
in any material respect. 

 
(iv) All reasonable enquiries have been made by the Borrower to ascertain such 

facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements as 
set out in Schedule 9 (Description of the Borrower and the Guarantor) to 
the Facility Agreement. 

 
(l) Financial statements 
 

(ii) The Borrower’s consolidated financial statements and the Guarantor’s 
consolidated financial statements most recently supplied to the Facility 
Agent were prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, save 
to the extent expressly disclosed in such financial statements. 

 
(ii) The Borrower’s consolidated financial statements and the Guarantor’s 

consolidated financial statements most recently supplied to the Facility 
Agent give a true and fair view of and represent the Borrower’s financial 
condition and operations or (as the case may be) the Guarantor’s 
consolidated financial condition and operations, in each case at the end of 
and during the applicable period to which such financial statements relate, 
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save to the extent expressly disclosed in such financial statements. 
 

(iii) There has been no material adverse change in the Borrower’s business or 
consolidated financial condition since the date of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Borrower most recently supplied to the Facility Agent 
and there has been no material adverse change in the business or 
consolidated financial condition of the Guarantor since the date of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor most recently supplied 
to the Facility Agent. 

 
(iv) There are no outstanding guarantees or contingent payment obligations of 

the Borrower in respect of indebtedness of any party except as described in 
the Borrower’s consolidated financial statements most recently supplied to 
the Facility Agent, and the Borrower is in compliance with all of its 
obligations under any such outstanding guarantees or contingent payment 
obligations. 

 
“GAAP” means: 

 
(a) in respect of the Borrower, the generally accepted accounting principles in 

Singapore; and 
 

(b) in respect of the Guarantor, the generally accepted accounting principles in 
the PRC. 

 
(m) Pari passu ranking 
 

The Borrower’s payment obligations under the Finance Documents rank at least 
pari passu with the claims of all of its other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors, 
except for obligations mandatorily preferred by law applying to companies 
generally. 

 
(n) Title 
 

(i) The Transaction Obligors and each of their respective Subsidiaries have 
good and marketable title to all real property, personal property and any 
other assets owned by them or any rights or interests thereto, in each case 
as is necessary to conduct the business now operated by them (for the 
purposes of this clause, “Assets”). 

 
(ii) The Transaction Obligors and each of their respective Subsidiaries have 

received all necessary approvals in order to have good and marketable title 
to their Assets, including without limitation approvals relating to the 
evaluation, acquisition and perfection of such title. 

 
(iii) There are no charges, liens, encumbrances or other security interests or 

third party rights or interests granted outside its ordinary course of 
business, or conditions, planning consents, orders, regulations, defects or 
other restrictions affecting any of such Assets of the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries which could have a material adverse effect on the value of 
such Assets, or limit, restrict or otherwise have a material adverse effect on 
the ability of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to utilise or develop 
any such Assets and, where any such Assets are held under lease, each 
lease is a legal, valid, subsisting and enforceable lease. 

 
(o) Approvals 
 

(i) The Transaction Obligors possess adequate certificates, authorisations, 
licences, orders, consents, approvals or permits (for the purposes of this 
clause, “Approvals”) issued by, and have made all declarations and filings 
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with, all appropriate national, state, local and other governmental agencies 
or bodies, all exchanges and all courts and other tribunals, domestic or 
foreign, necessary to own or lease, as the case may be, and to operate their 
properties and to conduct the business now operated by them. 

 
(ii) The Transaction Obligors are in compliance with the terms and conditions 

of all such Approvals. 
 

(iii) All of the Approvals are valid and in full force and effect. 
 

(iv) The Transaction Obligors have not received any notice of proceedings 
relating to the revocation or modification of any such Approvals or are 
otherwise aware that any such revocation or modification is contemplated 
or threatened. 

 
(p) Taxes and assessments 
 

(i) All returns, reports or filings which ought to have been made by or in 
respect of each of the Transaction Obligors for taxation purposes have been 
made and all such returns are correct and on a proper basis and are not the 
subject of any dispute with the relevant revenue or other appropriate 
authorities and to the best of the knowledge of the Borrower (after due and 
careful enquiry) do not reveal any circumstances likely to give rise to any 
such dispute and the provisions, charges, accruals and reserves included in 
the financial statements are sufficient to cover all taxation of each of the 
Transaction Obligors existing in all accounting periods ended on or before 
the accounting reference date to which the financial statements relate 
whether payable then or at any time thereafter.  No liability for tax which 
has not been provided for in the financial statements of each of the 
Transaction Obligors has arisen or has been asserted by the tax authorities 
against each of the Transaction Obligors. 

 
(ii) Each of the Transaction Obligors has duly and in a timely manner paid all 

taxes that have become due, including, without limitation, all taxes 
reflected in the tax returns referred to in paragraph (i) above, or any 
assessment, proposed assessment, or notice, either formal or informal, 
received by each of the Transaction Obligors. 

 
(q) No proceedings pending or threatened 
 

There are no police, legal, governmental or regulatory investigations, litigation, 
arbitration nor any pending actions, suits, or proceedings against or affecting any 
member of the Group or any of its properties, or to the best of the Borrower’s 
knowledge and belief (after due and careful enquiry), any of the executive directors, 
officers or employees of any member of the Group, which, if determined adversely 
to that member of the Group or any of its respective executive directors, officers, 
properties or employees, would individually or in the aggregate have a Material 
Adverse Effect, and, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge (after due and careful 
enquiry), no such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings are threatened or 
contemplated. 

 
(r) Authorised signatures 
 

Any person specified as its authorised signatory under Schedule 1 (Conditions 

Precedent) to or clause 16.5(a)(v) (Information: miscellaneous) of the Facility 
Agreement is authorised to sign the Utilisation Request and other notices on its 
behalf. 

 
(s) Anti-corruption and anti-money laundering law 
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(i) None of the Transaction Obligors, or any of their respective Subsidiaries, 
or any of their respective directors or, to the best of the Borrower’s 
knowledge (after due inquiry), any of their respective officers, agents, 
employees or other persons acting on any of their behalf, is aware of or has 
taken any action, directly or indirectly, that would result in a violation by 
such persons of the UK Bribery Act 2010, the United States Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the Prevention of Corruption Act (Chapter 
241) of Singapore or other similar legislation, rules or regulations in any 
other jurisdictions (the “Anti-Corruption Laws”); 

 
(ii) The Transaction Obligors and their respective Subsidiaries: 

 
(A) conducts its business at all times in compliance with all applicable 

anti-money laundering laws, regulations, rules and guidelines in 
its jurisdiction and in each other jurisdiction in which such entity, 
as the case may be, conducts business (collectively, the “Anti-
Money Laundering Laws”); and 

 
(B) maintain policies and procedures designed to promote and achieve 

compliance with such Anti-Corruption Laws and Anti-Money 
Laundering Laws; and 

 
(iii) there are no actions, suits or proceedings by or before any court or 

governmental agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving the 
Transaction Obligors or their respective Subsidiaries, or any of their 
respective directors or, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge (after due 
inquiry), any of their respective officers, agents, employees or other 
persons acting on any of their behalf, with respect to the Anti-Money 
Laundering Laws or Anti-Corruption Laws. 

 
(t) No unlawful payments 
 

None of the Transaction Obligors, or any director or, to the best of the knowledge of 
any Transaction Obligor (after due and careful enquiry), any officer, agent, 
employee or other person acting on behalf of the Borrower, is aware of or has taken 
any action, directly or indirectly, that would result in a violation by such persons of 
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the rules and 
regulations thereunder (the “FCPA”), or any other applicable anti-bribery or 
anticorruption law or regulation similar to the FCPA (including but not limited to, 
the UK Bribery Act of 2010), in any other jurisdiction in which the Transaction 
Obligors operate including, without limitation, making use of the mails or any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, 
payment, promise to pay or authorisation of the payment of any money, or other 
property, gift, promise to give, or authorisation of the giving of anything of value to 
any “foreign official” (as such term is defined in the FCPA) or any foreign political 
party or official thereof or any candidate for foreign political office, in 
contravention of the FCPA or any other similar applicable anti-bribery or anti-
corruption law or regulation of any such other jurisdiction; and each of the 
Transaction Obligors has conducted its businesses in compliance with the FCPA and 
any other similar applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption law or regulation of any 
such other jurisdiction and have instituted and maintained policies and procedures 
designed to ensure continued compliance with, and prevent violation of, such laws, 
rules and regulations. 

 
(u) Sanctions 
 

None of the Transaction Obligors, or any of their respective Subsidiaries, or any 
joint venture in which any of them or any of their respective Subsidiaries 
participates, or any of the respective directors, officers or employees of any or all of 
the foregoing, and, to the knowledge of the Borrower, none of the persons acting on 
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behalf of any or all of the foregoing: 
 

(i) is a Restricted Party; or 
 

(ii) has received notice of or is aware of any claim, action, suit, proceeding or 
investigation against it with respect to Sanctions by any Sanctions 
Authority. 

 
“HMT” means Her Majesty’s Treasury. 

 
“OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of 
Treasury. 

 
“Restricted Party” means a person that is (a) listed on, or owned or controlled by a 
person listed on, or acting on behalf of a person listed on, any Sanctions List, (b) 
located in, incorporated under the laws of, or owned or (directly or indirectly) 
controlled by, or acting on behalf of, a person located in or organised under the laws 
of a country or territory that is the target of country-wide or territory-wide 
Sanctions, or (c) otherwise a target of Sanctions (“target of Sanctions” signifying a 
person with whom a U.S. person or other national of a country or jurisdiction over 
which a Sanctions Authority has authority would be prohibited or restricted by law 
from engaging in trade, business or other activities). 

 
“Sanctions” means the economic sanctions laws, regulations, embargoes or 
restrictive measures administered, enacted or enforced by: 

 
(a) the United States government; 

 
(b) the United Nations; 

 
(c) the European Union; 

 
(d) the United Kingdom; and 

 
(e) the respective governmental institutions and agencies of any of the 

foregoing, including, without limitation, the Sanctions Authorities. 
 

“Sanctions Authorities” means the OFAC, the United States Department of State 
and HMT. 

 
“Sanctions List” means the “Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons” 
list maintained by the OFAC, the Consolidated List of Financial Sanctions Targets 
and the Investment Ban List maintained by HMT, or any similar list maintained by, 
or public announcement of Sanctions designation made by, any of the Sanctions 
Authorities. 

 
Information 
Undertakings 
relating to financial 
statements 

The Borrower shall supply or procure the supply to the Lenders acting through the Facility 
Agent in sufficient copies for all the Lenders: 
 
(a) as soon as the same become available, but in any event within one hundred and 

eighty (180) days after the end of each of the Borrower’s financial years (or, as the 
case may be, the Guarantor’s financial years): 

 
(i) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Borrower for that 

financial year; and 
 

(ii) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for that 
financial year, 

 
in each case audited by an independent firm of certified public accountants; and 
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(b) as soon as the same become available, but in any event within ninety (90) days after 

the first half of each of the Borrower’s financial years (or, as the case may be, the 
Guarantor’s financial years): 

 
(i) the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Borrower for that 

financial half year; and 
 

(ii) the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for that 
financial half year. 

 
If any of audited consolidated financial statements supplied or procured to be supplied 
pursuant to this clause are not in English, they shall be accompanied by English translations 
of the same translated by a nationally or internationally recognised firm of independent 
accounts of good repute, together with a certificate in English signed by two directors of the 
Borrower certifying that such translation is complete and accurate. 
 

Undertakings The Borrower shall give the usual and customary undertakings for transactions of this type, 
including, without limitation: 
 
(a) Authorisations 
 

The Borrower shall promptly: 
 

(i) obtain, comply with and do all that is necessary to maintain in full force 
and effect; and 

 
(ii) supply certified copies to the Facility Agent of, 

 
any Authorisation required to enable it or any Transaction Obligor to perform its 
obligations under the Finance Documents and/or to ensure the legality, validity, 
enforceability or admissibility in evidence in its jurisdiction of organisation (or that 
of any Transaction Obligor) of any Finance Document. 

 
(b) Compliance with laws 
 

(i) The Borrower shall (and shall ensure that each member of the Group and 
any Transaction Obligor will) comply in all respects with all laws 
(including without limitation any regulations, rules and circulars issued by 
SAFE and NDRC) to which it may be subject, if failure so to comply 
would or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 

 
(ii) The Borrower shall not use the proceeds of the Loan for any purpose that 

contravenes any law or regulation of the PRC. 
 
(c) Pari passu ranking 
 

The Borrower shall ensure that its payment obligations under the Finance 
Documents rank and continue to rank at least pari passu with the claims of all of its 
other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors, except for obligations mandatorily 
preferred by law applying to companies generally. 

 
(d) Disposals 
 

(i) The Borrower shall not, and the Borrower shall procure that no member of 
the Group will, enter into a single transaction or a series of transactions 
(whether related or not) and whether voluntary or involuntary to sell, lease, 
transfer or otherwise dispose of any asset (including shares) or business. 

 
(ii) Paragraph (i) above does not apply to any sale, lease, transfer or other 
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disposal: 
 

(A) made in the ordinary course of trading of the disposing entity; 
 

(B) of assets in exchange for other assets comparable or superior as to 
type, value and quality and for a similar purpose; or 

 
(C) which would not, and could not reasonably be expected to, have a 

Material Adverse Effect. 
 
(e) Merger 
 

The Borrower shall not, and the Borrower shall procure that no member of the 
Group will, enter into any amalgamation, demerger, merger or corporate 
reconstruction, other than any amalgamation, demerger, merger or corporate 
reconstruction entered into by a member of the Group (other than the Borrower) 
which: 

 
(i) would not, and could not reasonably be expected to, have a Material 

Adverse Effect; and 
 

(ii) does not result in a breach of any Authorisation or of any other provision of 
the Facility Agreement. 

 
(f) Change of business 
 

The Borrower shall procure that no material change is made to the general nature or 
scope of the business of the Borrower, the Guarantor or of the Group taken as a 
whole, from that carried on at the date of the Facility Agreement. 

 
(g) Anti-corruption and anti-money laundering law 
 

(i) The Borrower shall not (and the Borrower shall ensure that no member of 
the Group will) directly or indirectly use any of the proceeds of any of the 
Facility for any purpose which would breach the Anti-Corruption Laws. 

 
(ii) The Borrower shall (and the Borrower shall ensure that each member of the 

Group will): 
 

(A) conduct its business in compliance with all applicable Anti-
Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws, including all 
relevant regulations, rules and guidelines in its jurisdiction and in 
each other jurisdiction in which such entity conducts business; and 

 
(B) maintain policies and procedures designed to promote and achieve 

compliance with such laws. 
 
(h) Sanctions 
 

The Borrower shall not (or shall not permit or authorise any other person to), and 
the Borrower shall ensure that no member of the Group or any of its Subsidiaries 
will (or will permit or authorise any other person to), directly or indirectly, use, lend, 
make payments of, contribute or otherwise make available, all or any part of the 
proceeds of the Loan or other transaction(s) contemplated by any Finance Document 
to fund any trade, business or other activities (i) involving or for the benefit of any 
Restricted Party, or (ii) in any other manner that would reasonably be expected to 
result in the Group or any Finance Party being in breach of any Sanctions (if and to 
the extent applicable to any of them) or becoming a Restricted Party. 

 
(i) Taxation 
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The Borrower shall (and the Borrower shall ensure that each member of the Group 
will) pay and discharge all Taxes imposed upon it or its assets within the time period 
allowed without incurring penalties unless and only to the extent that: 

 
(i) the payment of such Taxes is being contested in good faith by the Borrower 

or such member of the Group (as the case may be); 
 

(ii) adequate reserves are being maintained for those Taxes; and 
 

(iii) the payment of such Taxes can be lawfully withheld and failure to pay 
those Taxes does not have and could not reasonably be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect. 

 
(j) Acquisitions 
 

The Borrower shall not, and the Borrower shall procure that no member of the 
Group will, acquire any company or corporation, any equity interest in any person, 
or any business, assets or undertaking (or any interest therein) or make any 
investment other than an acquisition or investment which (i) would not, and could 
not reasonably be expected to, have a Material Adverse Effect and (ii) does not 
result in a breach of any Authorisation or of any other provision of the Facility 
Agreement. 

 
(k) Preservation of existence, assets and licences 
 

The Borrower shall, and the Borrower shall procure that each member of the Group 
will: 

 
(i) maintain and preserve its corporate existence and not change its jurisdiction 

of organisation or incorporation; 
 

(ii) maintain and preserve in good working order (ordinary wear and tear 
excepted) all of the assets necessary in the conduct of its business from 
time to time; and 

 
(iii) ensure that it has the power and necessary Authorisations to own its assets 

and carry on its business (as from time to time conducted). 
 
(l) Solvency Certificate 
 

At the same time as any payment is made by a Transaction Obligor to a Finance 
Party pursuant to any Finance Document, the Borrower shall deliver to the Lenders 
acting through the Facility Agent, a solvency certificate confirming that no Event of 
Default has occurred.  Such certificate shall be signed by two (2) directors of the 
Borrower. 

 
(m) Application of FATCA 
 

The Borrower shall ensure that none of the Transaction Obligors is or will become 
(a) a FATCA FFI (which is not also a FATCA Exempt Party) or (b) a U.S. Tax 
Obligor. 

 
(n) Dividends 
 

The Borrower shall not make any payments of dividends or distribution if such 
payment would result in a Material Adverse Effect or otherwise materially 
adversely affect the Borrower’s ability to perform its obligations under the Finance 
Documents. 

 



 

73 

(o) Legal and beneficial ownership 
 

The Borrower shall ensure that: 
 

(i) the Guarantor shall legally and beneficially own, whether directly or 
indirectly, 100 per cent. of the equity interests in the Borrower at all times; 
and 

 
(ii) the Guarantor shall, whether directly or indirectly, be the largest 

shareholder of Wanda Group Co., Ltd. (万达集团股份有限公司) at all 

times. 
 
(p) Guarantee 
 

The Borrower undertakes to procure that the Guarantor shall issue the Guarantee to 
the Finance Parties on or before the Utilisation Date. 

 
(q) Registration under PRC laws and regulations 
 

The Borrower shall procure that the relevant Transaction Obligor to promptly, and 
in any case within 10 Business Days of the Utilisation Date, file details of the 
Facility Agreement and/or the Guarantee with the relevant NDRC office in 
accordance with the requirements of applicable laws and regulations.  The Borrower 
shall also procure that the relevant Transaction Obligor to promptly, and in any case 
within 15 Business Days after the execution of the Guarantee, complete the 
registration process with the relevant SAFE office in accordance with the 
requirements of applicable laws and regulations. 

 
Events of Default The usual and customary Events of Default for transactions of this type, including, without 

limitation: 
 
(a) Non-payment 
 

The Borrower does not pay or the Facility Agent is not, by 4:30 pm on the due date, 
in receipt of: 

 
(i) any interest and/or principal in respect of the Loan (other than any 

Prepayment Amounts payable under clause 6 (Repayment and prepayment) 
of the Facility Agreement, unless payment is made within one (1) Business 
Day after its due date; or 

 
(ii) any Prepayment Amounts payable under clause 6 (Repayment and 

prepayment) of the Facility Agreement or any other amount pursuant to a 
Finance Document, 

 
at the place at and in the currency in which it is expressed to be payable. 

 
(b) Other obligations 
 

(i) Any Transaction Obligor does not comply with any provision of the 
Finance Documents (other than those referred to in clause 18.1 (Non-

payment) of the Facility Agreement. 
 

(ii) No Event of Default under paragraph (i) above will occur in respect of such 
failure to comply if such failure to comply is capable of remedy and is 
remedied within three (3) Business Days of the earlier of (A) the Facility 
Agent (acting on the instructions of the Majority Lenders) giving notice to 
such Transaction Obligor; or (B) such Transaction Obligor becoming aware 
of such failure to comply. 
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(c) Misrepresentation 
 

Any representation or statement made or deemed to be made by any Transaction 
Obligor in any or all of the Finance Documents or any other document delivered by 
or on behalf of any Transaction Obligor under or in connection with any Finance 
Document is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading in any material respect 
when made or deemed to be made. 

 
(d) Cross default 
 

Any: 
 

(i) Financial Indebtedness of any Transaction Obligor or any member of the 
Group is not paid when due nor within any originally applicable grace 
period; 

 
(ii) Financial Indebtedness of any Transaction Obligor or any member of the 

Group is declared to be or otherwise becomes due and payable prior to its 
specified maturity as a result of an event of default (however described); 

 
(iii) commitment for any Financial Indebtedness of any Transaction Obligor or 

any member of the Group is cancelled or suspended by a creditor of any 
Transaction Obligor or any member of the Group as a result of an event of 
default (however described); or 

 
(iv) creditor of any Transaction Obligor or any member of the Group becomes 

entitled to declare any Financial Indebtedness of any Transaction Obligor 
or any member of the Group due and payable prior to its specified maturity 
as a result of an event of default (however described), 

 
provided that no Event of Default will occur if the aggregate amount of financial 
indebtedness and/or commitment for financial indebtedness falling within 
paragraphs (i) to (iv) above (for any Transaction Obligor and any and all members 
of the Group) is less than U.S.$10,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency 
or currencies). 

 
“Financial Indebtedness” means any indebtedness for or in respect of: 

 
(i) monies borrowed and/or any debit balance at any bank or financial 

institution; 
 

(ii) any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility or by 
any bill discounting or factoring facility or by any dematerialised 
equivalent of any of the foregoing; 

 
(iii) any amount raised pursuant to any note payables, or any note purchase 

facility or the issue of bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or any similar 
instrument; 

 
(iv) the amount of any liability in respect of any Finance Lease; 

 
(v) receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the extent 

they are sold on a non-recourse basis); 
 

(vi) any Treasury Transaction (and, when calculating the value of that Treasury 
Transaction, only the marked-to-market value (or, if any actual amount is 
due as a result of termination or close-out of that Treasury Transaction, 
such amount) shall be taken into account); 

 
(vii) any counter-indemnity obligation in respect of a guarantee, indemnity, 
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bond, standby or documentary letter of credit or any other instrument 
issued by a bank or financial institution; 

 
(viii) any amount of any liability under an advance or deferred purchase 

agreement if one of the primary reasons behind entering into that 
agreement is to raise finance or to finance the acquisition or construction 
of any asset or service that is the subject of such agreement; 

 
(ix) any arrangement pursuant to which an asset sold or otherwise disposed of 

by any person may be re-acquired by such person, any Affiliate of such 
person or any person acting in accordance with the directions of such 
person or any Affiliate of such person; 

 
(x) any amount raised by the issue of redeemable shares or redeemable equity 

interests; 
 

(xi) any amount raised under any other transaction (including any forward sale 
or purchase agreement, sale and sale back and/or sale and leaseback 
agreement) having the commercial effect of a borrowing or otherwise 
classified as a borrowing under GAAP; and/or 

 
(xii) the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity or 

other assurance against financial loss for any of the items referred to in 
paragraphs (i) to (xi) above. 

 
(e) Insolvency 
 

(i) Any Transaction Obligor or a member of the Group is or is presumed or 
deemed to be unable or admits inability to pay its debts as they fall due, 
suspends making payments on any of its debts or, by reason of actual or 
anticipated financial difficulties, commences negotiations with one or more 
of its creditors with a view to rescheduling any of its indebtedness; 

 
(ii) the value of the assets of any Transaction Obligor or any member of the 

Group is less than its liabilities (taking into account contingent and 
prospective liabilities); or 

 
(iii) a moratorium is declared in respect of any indebtedness of any Transaction 

Obligor or any member of the Group. 
 
(f) Insolvency proceedings 
 

Any corporate action, legal proceedings or other procedure or step is taken in 
relation to: 

 
(i) the suspension of payments, a moratorium of any indebtedness, winding-

up, dissolution, administration, provisional supervision or reorganisation 
(by way of voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) of 
any Transaction Obligor or any member of the Group other than a solvent 
liquidation or reorganisation of any Transaction Obligor or any member of 
the  Group which is not a Transaction Obligor; 

 
(ii) a composition or arrangement with any creditor of any Transaction Obligor 

or any member of the Group, or an assignment for the benefit of creditors 
generally of any Transaction Obligor or any member of the Group or a 
class of such creditors; 

 
(iii) the appointment of a liquidator (other than in respect of a solvent 

liquidation of a member of the Group which is not a Transaction Obligor), 
receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, compulsory manager, 



 

76 

provisional supervisor, judicial manager or other similar officer in respect 
of any Transaction Obligor or any member of the Group or any of its 
assets; or 

 
(iv) enforcement of any security over any assets of any Transaction Obligor or 

any member of the Group, 
 

or any analogous procedure or step is taken in any jurisdiction, and in each case, 
such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained within sixty (60) 
days of commencement. 

 
(g) Creditors’ process 
 

Any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, distress or execution affects any asset 
or assets of any Transaction Obligor or any member of the Group taken as a whole. 

 
(h) Unlawfulness or invalidity 
 

(i) It is or becomes unlawful for a Transaction Obligor to perform any of its 
obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party. 

 
(ii) Any obligation of any Transaction Obligor under any Finance Document to 

which it is a party is not or ceases to be legal, valid, binding or enforceable. 
 

(iii) Any Finance Document ceases to be in full force and effect or is alleged by 
a party to it (other than a Finance Party) to be ineffective. 

 
(i) Material litigation 
 

Any litigation, arbitration, administrative, governmental, regulatory or other 
investigations, proceedings or disputes are commenced or threatened in relation to 
any of the Finance Documents or the transactions contemplated in the Finance 
Documents or against any Transaction Obligor or any member of the Group or the 
assets of any of the foregoing which have or could reasonably be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect. 

 
(j) Repudiation 
 

A Transaction Obligor repudiates a Finance Document or evidences an intention to 
repudiate any Finance Document. 

 
(k) Cessation of business 
 

The Borrower, the Guarantor or the Group (taken as a whole) suspends or ceases to 
carry on all or a material part of the business of the Borrower, the Guarantor or the 
Group (taken as a whole). 

 
(l) Material adverse change 
 

Any event or circumstance occurs which the Majority Lenders reasonably believe 
might (individually or together with other events or circumstances) have a Material 
Adverse Effect. 

 
(m) Change of control 
 

(i) The Guarantor failing to directly or indirectly, legally and beneficially, own 
or otherwise control 100 per cent. of the Equity Interest in the Borrower; or 

 
(ii) the Guarantor ceases to, directly or indirectly, be the largest shareholder of 

Wanda Group Co., Ltd. (万达集团股份有限公司). 
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(n) Declared Company 
 

The Borrower is declared by the Minister of Finance in Singapore to be a company 
to which Part IX of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore applies. 

 
Acceleration 
 

On and at any time after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing the 
Facility Agent may, and shall if so directed by the Majority Lenders, by notice to the 
Borrower: 
 
(a) cancel the Commitment of the Lenders and reduce them to zero whereupon they 

shall immediately be cancelled and reduced to zero; 
 
(b) cancel any part of the Commitment of the Lenders and reduce them accordingly, 

whereupon the applicable part of the Commitment of the Lenders shall be cancelled 
(and the Commitment of the Lenders shall be reduced accordingly), provided that 
such reduction of the Commitment of the Lenders shall be applied towards the 
Commitment of the Lenders rateably; 

 
(c) declare that all or part of the Loan, together with accrued interest, and all other 

amounts accrued or outstanding under the Finance Documents (including without 
limitation any Early Termination Fee) be immediately due and payable, whereupon 
they shall become immediately due and payable; 

 
(d) declare that all or part of the Loan be payable on demand, whereupon they shall 

immediately become payable on demand by the Facility Agent on the instructions 
of the Majority Lenders; and/or 

 
(e) exercise any or all of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the 

Guarantee, 
 
provided that the occurrence of any Event of Default pursuant to paragraph (a) of clause 18.1 
(Non-payment) of the Facility Agreement will result in an automatic acceleration in full of 
the Loan and the Facility Agent may, without notice to the Borrower, conduct all actions and 
have all rights described in paragraphs (a) to (e) above. 
 
Upon the occurrence of an automatic acceleration referred to above, the Borrower shall repay 
and/or pay all of the Loan, together with accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued or 
outstanding under the Finance Documents (including without limitation any Early 
Termination Fee) before 3:00 pm on the date falling two (2) Business Days after the original 
due date of the relevant interest and/or principal. 
 
If the Loan is accelerated and declared to be due and payable on an Acceleration Date 
pursuant to clause 18.15 (Acceleration) of the Facility Agreement (whether or not such 
acceleration is an automatic acceleration), the Borrower shall ensure that the accrued interest 
to be paid together with the accelerated Loan (or part of the Loan) will include, in addition to 
the interest accrued up to (but excluding) that Acceleration Date, an amount equal to the 
amount of interest which would have accrued on the Loan (or, as the case may be, that part of 
the Loan) for the period from and including that Acceleration Date to but excluding the Early 
Termination Date in relation to that Acceleration Date as if the Loan (or that part of the Loan) 
had not been accelerated prior to the end of that period. 
 

Assignments Subject to the relevant conditions set out in clause 19 (Changes to the Lenders) of the 
Facility Agreement including that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under 
the Facility Agreement, a Lender (the “Existing Lender”) may: 
 
(a) assign any of its rights under the Facility Agreement; or 
 
(b) transfer by novation any of its rights and/or obligations under the Facility 

Agreement, 
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to another bank or financial institution or to a trust, fund or other entity which is regularly 
engaged in or established for the purpose of making, purchasing or investing in loans, 
securities or other financial assets or to any other person without the consent of any 
Transaction Obligor (the “New Lender”). 
 

Taxation (a) All payments to be made by the Borrower to any Finance Party under any of the 
Finance Documents shall be made free and clear of and without any Tax Deduction 
unless the Borrower is required to make a Tax Deduction, in which case the sum 
payable by the Borrower (in respect of which such Tax Deduction is required to be 
made) shall be increased to the extent necessary to ensure that such Finance Party 
receives a sum net of any deduction or withholding equal to the sum which it would 
have received had no such Tax Deduction been made or required to be made. 

 
(b) If such taxes are required by law to be deducted or withheld from any sum so 

payable, then the Borrower shall increase the amounts so paid so that the recipient 
receives the full amount due to it. 

 
(c) If a FATCA Deduction is required to be made by the Borrower, the amount of the 

payment due from the Borrower shall be increased to an amount which (after 
making any FATCA Deduction) leaves an amount equal to the payment which 
would have been due if no FATCA Deduction had been required. 

 
(d) If the Facility Agent is required to make a FATCA Deduction in respect of a 

payment to a Finance Party under clause 24.2 (Distributions by the Facility Agent) 
of the Facility Agreement which relates to a payment by the Borrower, the amount 
of the payment due from the Borrower shall be increased to an amount which (after 
the Facility Agent has made such FATCA Deduction), leaves the Facility Agent with 
an amount equal to the payment which would have been made by the Facility Agent 
if no FATCA Deduction had been required. 

 
“Tax Deduction” means a deduction or withholding for or on account of Tax, from a 
payment under a Finance Document, other than a FATCA Deduction. 
 

Indemnities from the 
Borrower 
 

The Borrower shall, within the Relevant Time of despatch of a demand by a Finance Party, 
indemnify that Finance Party against any cost, loss or liability incurred by that Finance Party 
or any affiliate of that Finance Party as a result of: 
 
(a) any voluntary prepayment, the occurrence of any Event of Default, any Mandatory 

Prepayment Event, and/or any Partial Prepayment Trigger Event; 
 
(b) any information produced or approved by any Transaction Obligor or, any member 

of the Group or any Affiliate thereof being or being alleged to be misleading and/or 
deceptive in any respect; 

 
(c) any enquiry, investigation, subpoena (or similar order) or legal or arbitral 

proceedings with respect to any Transaction Obligor, any member of the Group or 
any affiliate thereof or with respect to any transactions contemplated or financed 
under any Finance Document; 

 
(d) a failure by any Transaction Obligor to pay any amount due under a Finance 

Document on its due date and in the currency in which such amount is due, 
including without limitation, any cost, loss or liability arising as a result of clause 23 
(Sharing among the Finance Parties) of the Facility Agreement; 

 
(e) funding, or making arrangements to fund, its participation in the Loan requested by 

the Borrower in the Utilisation Request but not made by reason of the operation of 
any one or more of the provisions of the Facility Agreement (other than by reason of 
fraud, wilful misconduct, default or gross negligence by that Finance Party alone); 
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(f) the early termination or cancellation of any funding arrangements entered into by 
any Lender in order to permit it to fund its participation under the Facility, if such 
termination was caused directly or indirectly by any acceleration or prepayment of 
the Facility; or 

 
(g) the termination of any agreement or transaction entered into for the purposes of 

hedging the types of liabilities and/or risks in relation to the Facility due to any 
Default hereunder. 

 
“Relevant Time” means (a) where no Default has occurred and is continuing, three (3) 
Business Days; and (b) where any Default has occurred and is continuing, by 3:00 pm on the 
Business Day falling immediately after the despatch of a demand. 
 

Governing Law and 
Courts 

(a) The Facility Agreement and all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 
connection with it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 
of England. 

 
(b) The courts of England have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising 

out of or in connection with the Facility Agreement (including any dispute relating 
to any non-contractual obligation arising from or in connection with the Facility 
Agreement and any dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of the 
Facility Agreement). 
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THE GUARANTEE 

 
The Guarantee is unconditional and irrevocable upon issuance and the key terms of the Guarantee are summarised 
below. 
 
Issuer 
 

Wanda Holding Group Co., Ltd. (万达控股集团有限公司) 
Date of Issue 
 

11 December 2017 

Effective Date 
 

The Guarantee shall take effect from 14 December 2017. 
 

Instructing Party 
 

Hontop Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (鸿泰能源（新加坡）有限公司) 

 
Beneficiary 
 

China Wanda International Funding Pte. Ltd. (including its successors and assigns) 
 

Agent 
 

Citicorp International Limited, in its capacity as Facility Agent under the Facility 
Agreement (together with its successors and assigns) 
 

Guaranteed Amount U.S.$200,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Amount”). 
 

Tax Gross-up All payments by the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall be made without any deduction 
on account of tax, set-off or otherwise.  In the event that any deduction or withholding is 
required, the Guarantor shall pay such additional amount as will result in receipt by the 
Beneficiary of such amounts as would have been received by it had no such deduction or 
withholding been required.  For the avoidance of doubt, such additional amounts paid by 
the Guarantor to account for withholdings or deductions shall not be taken into 
consideration for the purposes of determining the maximum amount payable by the 
Guarantor under the Guarantee. 
 

Scope of the 
Guarantee 
 

The Guarantor irrevocably guarantees to the Beneficiary the punctual performance by the 
Borrower of all of its obligations under the Finance Documents, and irrevocably undertakes 
to pay the Beneficiary any principal, interest, fees, early termination fee and any other 
amounts due and payable by the Borrower under the Facility Agreement, up to the 
Guaranteed Amount as set out under “Guaranteed Amount” above. 
 
The Guarantor further agrees that it will, as an independent and primary obligation, 
indemnify the Beneficiary immediately on demand against any cost, loss or liability the 
Beneficiary incurs as a result of the Borrower not paying any such amount. 
 

Payment Timeline 
 

Within five (5) Beijing Business Days of the date stated on any complying demand from the 
Demanding Party (which has been sent on behalf of the Beneficiary via fax (or otherwise 
via email)), which demand: (i) contains the Demanding Party’s statement indicating that the 
Borrower has failed to pay or repay any amount due and payable in conformity with the 
terms agreed upon in the Facility Agreement; and (ii) requires the Guarantor to make the 
payment demanded thereunder into the Collection Account in US Dollars in immediately 
available and cleared funds. 
 
“Beijing Business Day” being a day on which commercial banks are open for general 
official business in Beijing. 
 
“Demanding Party” means: (i) at any time when, as notified to the Guarantor by the 
Beneficiary or the Agent via fax (or otherwise via email), the Agent is or becomes an 
Impaired Facility Agent and the Guarantor has not been notified by the Beneficiary or the 
Agent via fax (or otherwise via email) that a new Agent has been appointed pursuant to the 
terms of the Facility Agreement, the Beneficiary; or (ii) at any other time, the Agent. 
 
“Collection Account” means the bank account held by the Beneficiary as specified in a 
notice of demand. 
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Primary Obligation The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall be as primary obligor and not 
merely as surety and such obligations shall be in addition to and independent of any other 
security which the Beneficiary may at any time hold.  Neither the obligations of the 
Guarantor contained in the Guarantee nor the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon 
the Beneficiary by the Guarantee or by law shall be discharged, impaired or otherwise 
affected by: 
 
(a) any Insolvency Event in respect of the Borrower, any incapacity or lack of power, 

authority or legal personality of the Borrower or any material change in the status, 
function, control or ownership of the Borrower or any other person; 

 
(b) any release, acquiescence, waiver, time or other indulgence being granted or 

agreed to be granted to the Borrower by the Beneficiary; 
 
(c) any amendment to or variation, waiver or release of any obligation of the 

Borrower to the Beneficiary; 
 
(d) any other act, event, circumstance or omission (whether or not known to the 

Beneficiary) which but for this clause might operate to discharge, impair or 
otherwise affect any of the obligations of the Guarantor contained in the Guarantee 
or any of the rights, powers or remedies conferred upon the Beneficiary under the 
Guarantee or by law; or 

 
(e) any change of control or sale of the Borrower. 
 

Expiry Date 
 

The Guarantee shall expire on the date on which all of the Borrower’s obligation (in respect 
of its payment obligation or other obligations howsoever described) under the Facility 
Agreement are discharged in its entirety or such later date as the Guarantor may notify to 
the Beneficiary via fax (or otherwise via email) (the “Expiry Date”) and any demand under 
the Guarantee must be received by the Guarantor via fax (or otherwise via email) on or 
before the Expiry Date.  After the Expiry Date, the Guarantee shall automatically become 
null and void and be cancelled whether it is returned to the Guarantor or not. 
 

Governing Law and 
Courts 
 

The Guarantee shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of People’s 
Republic of China.  Any dispute or claim arising out of or in relation to the Guarantee shall 
be submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the competent courts in Beijing, the People’s 
Republic of China. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER 

 
Formation 
 
China Wanda International Funding Pte. Ltd. is a private company limited by shares incorporated under the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”) (as amended) of Singapore (Company Registration Number: 
201700851Z).  It was incorporated in Singapore on 9 January 2017 as a special purpose vehicle. Its registered office is 
situated at 77 Robinson Road, #13-00, Robinson 77, Singapore 068896. 
 
The Issuer is a special purpose vehicle and has no prior operating experience.  The Issuer has no subsidiaries. 
 
Business Activities 
 
The Issuer was established with unrestricted objects and powers as set out in its constitution.  The Issuer has not 
commenced operations and it has undertaken no business activities since the date of its incorporation, other than those 
activities incidental to its incorporation and establishment and those incidental to the authorisation, execution and issue 
of the Notes and the documents and matters which are incidental or ancillary to the foregoing.  The Issuer will covenant 
to observe certain restrictions on its activities pursuant to the Trust Deed. 
 
Directors and Officers 
 
The sole Director of the Issuer is Chow Hong Luen Irwin, whose business address is at the offices of 56 Havelock Road, 
#32-146, Havelock View, Singapore 161056. 
 
The Issuer does not have any employees. 
 
Certain affairs of the Issuer (including various corporate, secretarial and administrative services) are managed by 
Intertrust Singapore Corporate Services Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore having its registered office at 
77 Robinson Road, #13-00, Robinson 77, Singapore 068896 as the Issuer Administrator.  The Issuer Administrator will, 
inter alia, provide the services of at least one director to the Issuer and be responsible for the day-to-day administration 
of the Issuer. 
 
Share Capital 
 
The capital of the Issuer is U.S.$2 comprising 2 ordinary shares.  2 ordinary shares have been issued, are fully-paid and 
are held on trust pursuant to a shares declaration of trust dated 23 June 2017 and executed by Intertrust (Singapore) Ltd. 
as trustee. 
 
Capitalisation and Indebtedness 
 
As of the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer has an issued and paid-up share capital of U.S.$2 comprising two 
ordinary shares and the Issuer has no borrowings or indebtedness in the nature of borrowings (including loan capital 
issued, or created but unused), term loans, liabilities under acceptances or acceptance credits, mortgages, charges or 
guarantees or other contingent liabilities, except its obligations described in this Offering Circular. 
 
Financial Year 
 
The financial year of the Issuer runs from 1 January to 31 December.  There has been no material change in the 
activities of the Issuer since its incorporation. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE BORROWER 

 
The information set out below relating to the Borrower has been provided by the Borrower pursuant to the Facility 

Agreement.  The Borrower has given representations and warranties to the effect that such information is true, 

complete and accurate in all material respects as of the date of the Facility Agreement.  None of the Issuer,  the Sole 

Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager and the Joint Bookrunners has separately verified such information.  No 

representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted, by 

the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the 

Transaction Administrator, the Agents, the Facility Agent or the Account Bank or any of their respective affiliates, 

directors or advisors, as to the accuracy or completeness of the information relating to the Borrower set out below. 

 
Overview 
 
The Borrower is a private limited liability company incorporated under the Companies Act on 26 December 2012 
bearing a registration number of 201231352K.  The registered office of the Borrower is at 8 Marina View #34-02B, 
Asia Square Tower 1, Singapore 018960. 
 
Share Capital 
 
The share capital of the Borrower is S$76,329,000.00 divided into 76,329,000 ordinary shares, all of which are issued 
and fully paid.  The Borrower is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor, which also owns 50.24 per cent. of 
Wanda Group Co., Ltd. 
 
Business 
 
The Borrower is established as the overseas trading and financing platform of the Guarantor.  The Borrower’s principal 
activities consist of investment holding, as well as general wholesale trade (including general imports and exports) of 
crude oil, rubber, petrochemical products and other commodities.  The Borrower is also the offshore procurement 
centre of the Guarantor. 
 
Directors of the Borrower 
 
The directors of the Borrowers are Shang Jiyong, Shang Kai and Wee Meng Seng Aloysius.  As at 24 January 2017, 
Shang Jiyong had deemed interests in 75,336,723 shares of the Borrower according to the Register of Director’s 
Shareholdings which is required to be kept by the Borrower under Section 164 of the Companies Act. 
 
As far as the Borrower is aware, there are no conflicts of interest between the private interests of the directors and their 
duties to the Borrower. 
 
Indebtedness 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Borrower’s total liabilities amounted to approximately U.S.$ 185,546,211. 
 
The Borrower has given representations and warranties under the Facility Agreement to the effect that, together with its 
subsidiaries, the Borrower has not been unable to pay their debts as they fall due. 
 
No Material Adverse Change 
 
As at the date of the Facility Agreement, the Borrower has also given, among others, representations and warranties to 
the effect that: 
 
(a) There has been no police, legal, governmental or regulatory investigations, litigation, arbitration nor any 

pending actions, suits or proceedings against or affecting any member of the Group or any of its properties, or 
to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge and belief (after due and careful enquiry), any of the executive 
directors, officers or employees of any member of any member of the Group, which, if determined adversely 
to that member of the Group or any of its respective executive directors, officers, properties or employees, 
would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on the business, conditions (financial or 
otherwise) or the prospects of the Borrower, the Guarantor or the Group taken as a whole, and to the best of 
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the Borrower’s knowledge (after due and careful enquiry), no such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings 
are threatened or contemplated; 

 
(b) There has been no material adverse change in the Borrower’s business or consolidated financial condition 

since the date of the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower most recently supplied to the Facility 
Agent and there has been no material adverse change in the business or consolidated financial condition of the 
Guarantor since the date of the consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor most recently supplied to 
the Facility Agent; and 

 

(c) There are no outstanding guarantees or contingent payment obligations of the Borrower in respect of 
indebtedness of any party except as described in the Borrower’s consolidated financial statements most 
recently supplied to the Facility Agent, and the Borrower is in compliance with all of its obligations under any 
such outstanding guarantees or contingent payment obligations. 

 
Auditors 
 
The independent auditor of the Borrower is FAC & Associates whose business address is at 111 North Bridge Road, 
#13-06 Peninsular Plaza, Singapore 179098.  The independent auditor is a member of the Institute of Singapore 
Chartered Accountants. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP 

 

The information set out below relating to the Group has been provided by the Borrower pursuant to the Facility 

Agreement from publically available sources.  The Borrower has given representations and warranties to the effect that 

such information is true, complete and accurate in all material respects as of the date of the Facility Agreement.  None 

of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager or the Joint Bookrunners has separately verified 

such information, including any forward looking statement or forecast, set out below.  No representation, warranty or 

undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted, by the Sole Global Coordinator 

and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the 

Agents, the Facility Agent or the Account Bank or any of their respective affiliates, directors or advisors, as to the 

accuracy or completeness of the information relating to the Group or any forward looking statement or forecast set out 

below. 

 
Overview 
 
The Guarantor was established in 1988 in Shandong Province and is a limited liability company under the laws of the 
PRC.  As at September 2017, the Guarantor is approximately 98.22 per cent. owned by Shandong Ruikang Investment 

Management Co., Ltd. (山东瑞康投资管理有限公司) along with other individual shareholders with a registered 

capital of RMB3,000,000,000.  The Guarantor is the sole shareholder of the Borrower.  The Guarantor’s registered 
office is No. 68, Yongxin Road, Dongying City, Shandong Province, PRC.  The Guarantor is a national enterprise group 
with more than 13,000 employees and premises of nearly 6 million square meters. 
 
The main business activities of the Group are primarily engaged and managed by Wanda Group Co., Ltd. (“Wanda 
Group”) through various operating subsidiaries in the PRC.  The Borrower is the primary offshore trading and 
financing platform of the Group.  Wanda Group is a privately-owned commercial enterprise in the PRC which, through 
its operating subsidiaries, primarily engages in the manufacturing and sales of petrochemical products, tyres products, 
electric cable wires products and chemical-related products, as well as other businesses such as electronic products, real 
estate and construction, international trade and port logistics and financial services.  The Group is one of the market 
leaders in methacrylate butadiene styrene (“MBS”) products, polyacrylamide (“PAM”) products, underground 
detection electric cable wire products and fueling pump electric cable wire products in terms of production and sales 
volume in the PRC.  Its products are sold and distributed to wholesale and end-customers in more than 30 provinces 
and regions in the PRC as well as to international customers located in more than 100 countries and regions, including 
the United States, the United Kingdom, Europe, Asia and Africa. 
 
Throughout its years of commitment and investments in product development and technological innovation, Wanda 

Group is recognised as one of the Key National Technological Development Enterprises of the PRC (国家重点高新技术企业), as well as being awarded as a Top 500 Chinese Enterprise (ranked 97th) in 2014 and a Top 500 Chinese 

Manufacturing Enterprise (ranked 65th) in 2014 by All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce (中华全国工商业联合会).  In addition, Wanda Group’s “Wanda Chemical”, “Wanda Boto Tyres” and “Wanda Electric Cable Wire” 

brand names are recognised nationally as a “Well-Known Trademark” in the PRC.  In addition, attributable by its 
leadership position in the MBS products market, Wanda Group is one of the participating parties to draft and formulate 
the national quality and testing standards for MBS products in the PRC.  Wanda Group is rated AA+ by China 
Chengxin Credit Rating Group.  The Guarantor is rated AA+ by Dagong Global Credit Rating Co., Ltd. 
 

Brands of the Guarantor include Wanda Petrochemical Group, Wanda Boto, 宝港国际, 山东科鲁尔化学有限公司, 
China Wanda Group, Wanda Chemical Group, China Wanda Real Estate, QingDao Windawellfull Supply Chain Corp. 

Hongxu Shares, Tianhon Chemical, Yourubber.com and 万达电缆. 

 
The following table sets forth, as at and for the twelve months ended 31 December 2015 and 2016, certain consolidated 
financial information of the Guarantor derived from its consolidated statement of comprehensive income and statement 
of financial position prepared under PRC GAAP: 
 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income data 

  As at 31 December 

  2016 2015 

  RMB (in millions) 

Gross revenue ……………………………………  59,008.0 39,051.3 
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Cost of sales ……………………………………..  52,494.0 34,566.2 

Operating profit ………………………………….  3,569,6 2,758.3 

Profit before taxation ……………………………  3,614.9 2,776.8 

Net profit ………………………………………...  2,681.8 2,061.3 

 
Consolidated statement of financial position data 
  As at 31 December 
  2016 2015 

  RMB (in millions) 

Total current assets ………………………………  27,429.8 21,491.3 

Total noncurrent assets ………….……………….  18,608.2 15,671.9 

 Total assets ……………………………..  46,038.0 37,163.2 

Total current liabilities .………………….….…...  14,945.1 14,449.8 

Total non-current liabilities …..………….………  9,778.5 7,518.7 

 Total liabilities ………………….……...  24,723.6 21,968.5 

 Total equity …………………….………  21,314.3 15,194.7 

 
Corporate Structure 
 
The following chart sets forth the corporate structure of the Guarantor: 
 

 
 
Business 
 
The Guarantor, through Wanda Group, primarily engages in three major businesses, namely, the manufacturing and sale 
of petrochemical products, tyre products, electric cable wire products and chemical-related products.  The Guarantor 
also has business interests in electronic products, real estate and construction, international trade and port logistics and 
financial services sectors. 
 
Petrochemical products 

 

The Group’s petrochemical business is mainly conducted through Shandong Tianhong Chemical Co., Ltd. (山东天弘化学有限公司)“Tianhong Chemical (天弘化学天弘化学天弘化学天弘化学)”. 
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The Group’s petrochemical products primarily consist of gasoline, diesel and other refined oil products such as 
aromatics and ethylene propylene diene monomer rubber.  The Group’s petrochemical products are sold and distributed 
domestically in the PRC.  The Group has leading production facilities for diesel and gasoline products. 
 
The Group’s annual production capacities of its gasoline and diesel products are approximately 1.5 million tonnes and 
2.0 million tonnes, respectively.  The Group’s petrochemical production facilities are connected to the ports through 
pipelines which reduces transportation and storage costs. 
 
Overview of the PRC’s petrochemical industry 

 
The PRC is the second country in the world in terms of quantity of petroleum consumption.  As the PRC’s economic 
development transitions into a new phase of domestic consumption, consumption of refined oil is experiencing steady 
growth.  In 2015, production volume of refined oil amounted to 338 million tonnes, growing by 6.64 per cent. year-on-
year, with the growth rate decreasing by 0.28 percentage points year-on-year.  Apparent consumption volume of refined 
oil amounted to 316 million tonnes, growing by 4.85 per cent. year-on-year, with the growth rate decreasing by 0.65 per 
cent. year-on-year. 
 
Based on industry estimation, petroleum consumption increases 0.7 per cent. to 0.8 per cent. for every 1 per cent. 
increase in GDP.  Correlation between development of the petroleum industry and national economic prosperity is high.  
Influenced by factors such as change in the mode of economic development, industry structural optimisation, and 
transformation of petroleum-consuming industries such as railway and electricity, consumption of diesel has entered 
into a phase of a slow growth rate.  Growth in the PRC economy is expected to be more consumption-driven.  As 
incomes continue to grow and urbanisation continues, sales volumes of automobiles in the PRC will continue to grow, 
which will drive the growth in demand of gasoline.  Between 2013 and 2015, production volume of diesel in the PRC 
grew by 0.32 per cent., 2.40 per cent. and 1.40 per cent. year-on-year, respectively, while production volume of 
gasoline grew by 9.48 per cent., 12.30 per cent. and 9.40 per cent. year-on-year, respectively. 
 
The slowdown in the PRC’s economic growth rate is expected to continue.  Economic growth is moving away from 
being investment-driven to being consumption-driven.  The problem of structural overcapacity in the manufacturing 
industry remains and export growth rate is decreasing.  It is expected that in the years to come, overall growth in the 
PRC economy will continue to slow, and that the growth rate in the short-term demand of refined oil will slow 
accordingly.  However, at present, the petroleum consumption volume per capita and the proportion of petroleum in 
one-time energy consumption in the PRC are lower than the world average level.  From the long-term perspective, as 
the mode of economic development transforms, continued demand for refined oil in the PRC is expected. 
 
The permitted crude oil import volume for non-state owned enterprises increased from 29.1 million tonnes in 2013 to 
29.1 million tonnes in 2014 to 37.6 million tonnes in 2015 to 87.6 million tonnes in 2016.  Throughout this period, the 
majority of refining enterprises have not been able to obtain a stable source of supply of raw materials.  Instead those 
enterprises have only been able to rely upon small amounts of unstable crude oil supply and large amounts of high-cost 
fuel-oil supply.  Compared with crude oil, fuel oil has higher viscosity and higher amount of impurities, higher 
production costs and lower yield.  Accordingly, the profit derived from the production of gasoline and diesel from fuel 
oil is much lower when compared with using crude oil.  Many refining enterprises experience excess capacity or 
suspend their operations as a result of the scarcity of oil sources.  Such lack of supply restrains the development of 
refining enterprises. 
 
Since 2015, the PRC has been gradually liberalising import and export rights for crude oil and refined oil.  On 16 
February 2015, the NDRC published the “Notice on Relevant Problems Associated with the Use and Management of 

Imported Crude Oil” (《关于进口原油使用管理有关问题的通知》), which announced that it would permit eligible 

refining enterprises to use imported crude oil in eliminating a certain amount of backward production capacity, or 
constructing a certain amount of natural gas storage facilities.  On 22 July 2015, the Ministry of Commerce published 
the “Notice on the Application for Non-state Owned Enterprises Import Status by Crude Oil Processing Enterprises” 

(《关于原油加工企业申请非国营贸易进口资格有关工作的通知》), which lowered the threshold for importing 

crude oil by non-state owned enterprises.  Moreover, in November 2015, Sinochem Quanzhou Petrochemical Co., Ltd. 

(中化泉州石化有限公司) obtained a total of 450,000 tonnes of refined oil export quota, which was the first time a 

refinery other than the three major petrochemical companies, obtained an export quota.  The gradual liberalisation of 
crude oil import rights, imported crude oil usage rights and refined oil export rights will be conducive to eliminating 
backward oil refining capacity, solving the oil source shortage problem faced by refining enterprises, enriching refining 
enterprises’ sources of base oil and improving refining enterprises’ profitability. 
 
In January 2016, the NDRC published a new mechanism for the pricing of refined oil.  The cost-plus-pricing method 
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and the 10-working day price adjustment cycle were adopted.  Compared with the refined oil pricing mechanism 
published in 2013, there were three main changes.  First, given that the average crude oil production costs of major 
petroleum enterprises internationally are at around U.S.$ 40/barrel, the lower control limit for refined oil prices was set 
at USD 40/barrel, which is the international oil price.  Second, an oil price control risk provision fund was established.  
If the oil price in international markets falls below the lower control limit, the amount which has not been reflected in 
domestic refined oil prices will be counted towards a risk provision fund, which will be stored and mainly used for 
energy-saving and pollution-reduction, improving oil products quality, and ensuring the safety of petroleum supply.  
Third, a general policy was implemented to further downplay administrative influence in the pricing of refined oil, and 
to liberalise the pricing of liquefied petroleum gas products.  At the same time, a general policy was implemented to 
simplify the means of price adjustments for refined oil, and to stop publishing price adjustment documents but to 
announce such information through news releases.  However, the current “ceiling price” and “floor price” in the refined 
oil pricing mechanism while on the one hand, safeguard end-user consumption and the interests of the various parties 
along the production chain, it is, to a certain extent, contrary to the reform objective of achieving full liberalisation.  
Accordingly, the refined oil pricing mechanism requires further liberalisation. 
 
Tyre products 

 

The Group’s tyre business is mainly conducted through Shandong Wanda Boto Tyre Co, Ltd. (山东万达宝通轮胎有限公司). 

 
The Group’s tyre products primarily consist of: 
 
(i) All-steel Truck and Bus Radial Tyres (“TBR Tyres”):  TBR Tyres are generally used for highway, city and on-

the-road applications such as passenger or cargo transportation.  They are generally used on trucks and buses 
and they are also specifically engineered for winter driving conditions. 

 
(ii) All-steel Off-the-road Tyres (“OTR Tyres”):  OTR Tyres are generally used for off-the-road applications such 

as rural transport and farming. 
 
(iii) Semi-steel Radial Tyres:  Semi-steel radial tyres are generally used for commercial applications and they are 

generally used on passenger vehicles. 
 
The Group introduces advanced technologies and testing methods from Germany, the Netherlands, Japan and the 

United States in its production of its tyre products.  In December 2012, the “Boto” (“宝通”) trademark of the 

Guarantor was rated as a well-known trademark in China (中国驰名商标).  Wanda Group was ranked 38th in the world 

by Tire Business Magazine in its 2015 Global Tire Top 75 List. 
 
The Group benefits from a high self-sufficiency rate for butadiene rubber and carbon black which are raw materials 
used in its tyre products as they are mainly provided by one of the Group’s operating subsidiaries, Shandong Wanda 

Chemical Co, Ltd. (山东万达化工有限公司).  Furthermore, the Group expects the self-sufficiency of its raw materials 

for tyre products to further improve as the production capacity of Tianhong Chemical (天弘化学), one of the Group’s 

operating subsidiaries which commenced operation in October 2014, to increase gradually. 
 
The Group’s annual production capacity of TBR Tyres, OTR Tyres and semi-steel radial tyres are approximately 2.4 
million sets of tyres, 100,000 sets of tyres and 15 million tyres, respectively. 
 
Overview of PRC’s tyre industry 

 
The tyre industry is one of the major supporting industries of the automobile industry.  Based on differences in usage, 
tyres can be classified into two types, namely, all-steel tyres and semi-steel tyres.  All-steel tyres are mainly used in 
medium-load (or above) vehicles, such as trucks and buses and engineering vehicles.  Semi-steel tyres are mainly used 
in cars and light trucks. 
 
Since 2013, influenced by transformation in the PRC’s macro-economy, and a slowdown in the growth rate for 
infrastructure and real estate investments, downstream market demand for tyres has declined.  In 2015, there was a 
sharp decline in the engineering machinery vehicles and trucks markets, while the automobile market continued to grow, 
albeit at a slower growth rate.  In 2015, sales volume for excavators in the PRC was 56,350 sets, decreasing by 37.7 per 
cent. year-on-year.  Sales volume for loaders was 73,581 sets, decreasing by 51.1 per cent. year-on-year.  Sales volume 
for auto cranes was 9,327 sets, decreasing by 33.8 per cent. year-on-year.  Sales volume for trucks was 2,855,900 units, 
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decreasing by 10.3 per cent. year-on-year.  Sales volume for automobiles was 24,597,600 units, increasing by 4.7 per 
cent. year-on-year, but the growth rate decreased by 2.2 per cent. points as compared to 2014.  Also, in 2015, the United 
States Department of Commerce gave its ruling for its anti-dumping and anti-subsidy investigations over passenger 
vehicle and light truck tyres produced in the PRC, and determined that the anti-dumping tax rate shall be 14.35 per cent. 
to 87.99 per cent., while the anti-subsidy tax rate shall be 20.73 per cent. to 100.77 per cent.  In February 2016, the 
United States Department of Commerce performed anti-dumping and anti-subsidy investigations over truck and public 
vehicle tyres produced in the PRC.  Results of the initial ruling were announced in 28 June 2016, which held that there 
were subsidy behaviours for truck and public vehicle tyres imported from the PRC, with the subsidy level ranging from 
17.06 per cent. to 23.38 per cent.  The United States Department of Commerce will notify U.S. Customs to collect 
customs bonds for the above products exported from the PRC. 
 
Influenced by poor market demand in the PRC and the US’ anti-dumping and anti-subsidy policies, the growth rate for 
the production volume of tyres has continued to decline.  Production volume for tyres experienced a sharp decline in 
2015.  Based on statistics compiled by the China Rubber Industry Association (Cycle Tire Branch), in 2015, sales 
revenues of RMB 137.63 billion was achieved by 42 major tyre enterprises, decreasing by 13.35 per cent. year-on-year.  
Overall tyre production volume amounted to 335 million pieces, decreasing by 5.60 per cent. year-on-year.  Export 
volume amounted to 155 million pieces, decreasing by 8.72 per cent. year-on-year.  Exports delivered amounted to 
USD 55.48 billion, decreasing by 15.81 per cent. year-on-year.  Total inventories amounted to RMB 15.74 billion, 
decreasing by 7.97 per cent. year-on-year, but still remained at a relatively high level.  In 2015, the average capacity 
utilisation rate for all-steel radial tyres was 65 per cent. while that for semi-steel radial tyres was approximately 67 per 
cent., the capacity utilisation rate being obviously insufficient. 
 
The tyre industry was in a state of structural overcapacity, with medium-to-low end tyres being at a state of 
overcapacity, while the supply of high-end tyres being insufficient to meet demands.  Based on data from 

www.askci.com (中商情报网), currently, of the car radial tyres and light truck radial tyres produced in the PRC, 65 per 

cent. of them are medium-to-low end products.  The technological threshold for producing high-end tyres is high, and 
technological R&D requires significant investments of capital and manpower, hence the production capacity for high-
end tyres is insufficient.  Whereas, there is excess production capacity for medium-to-low end tyres, as the 
technological threshold is low.  There are many manufacturers of medium-to-low end tyres causing severe competition 
causing price reductions.  This results in significant overcapacity for medium-to-low end tyres.  Poor downstream 
market demand, intense market competition and a decline in prices have suppressed tyre enterprises’ profit margins.  
Moreover, the new standards for adhesives, which were implemented in July 2015, increased the production costs for 
tyre enterprises. 
 
The government of Shandong Province published the “Action Plan of Shandong Province for Facilitating Industry 

Transformation and Upgrade (2015 – 2020)” (《山东省推进工业转型升级行动计划(2015～2020 年)》) on 13 April 

2015, which proposed guidance opinions such as raising industry concentration of the tyre industry, adjusting product 
structure, and encouraging the development of supporting raw materials, to further facilitate the upgrade and 
transformation of existing products of tyre enterprises, and facilitate the extension of the industry chain towards high-
end products.  Moreover, on 26 January 2015, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology published the 

“Provisional Measures for the Administration of Notices by Tyre Manufacturing Enterprises” (《轮胎生产企业公告管理暂行办法》), and as of the end of 2015, 41 tyre enterprises had made submissions.  It is expected that the adoption 

of entry criteria will regulate the development of the industry to eliminate backward production capacity. 
 
Electric cable wire products 
 

The Group’s electric cable wire business is mainly conducted through Shandong Wanda Cable Co, Ltd. (山东万达电缆有限公司). 

 
The Group is one of the market leaders in underground detection electric cable wire products and fueling pump electric 
cable wire products in terms of production and sales volume in the PRC.  The Group’s product portfolio in its electric 
cable wire product business consists of more than 100 different electric cable wire products with more than 1,000 
different models on offer, and are used in a wide variety of industries, such as utilities, petrochemicals, railway and 
construction.  The Group is one of the participating parties which drafts and formulates the national quality and testing 
standards specifically for underground detection electric cable wire products and fueling pump electric cable wire 
products in the PRC.  The Group’s major customers of its electric cable wire products are the State Grid Corporation of 
the PRC and major oil companies in the PRC. 
 
The Group’s underground detection electric cable wire products, fueling pump electric cable wire products and electric 
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cable wire for security purposes account for a majority of the sales volume in the Group’s electric cable wire product 
business. 
 
Overview of the PRC’s electric cable wire industry 

 
Wires and cables are the materials used for power, communication and related transmission purposes.  Based on their 
usage, they can be divided into electric cables, wires and cables for electric devices, bare wires, communication cables 
and optical fibres, etc.  Among which, electric cables are mainly used for the transmission of high voltage electrical 
energy in power generation, distribution, transmission, transformation and supply circuits. 
 
With the growth in the construction of power grids, growth in the construction of railways and urban rail transit, and 
increase in investments in sectors such as clean energy and development of oil and gas and mine resources, demand in 
the power and cable market has increased significantly.  From the perspective of construction of power grids, in 2015, 
total investments in power grids in the PRC amounted to RMB 460.3 billion, increasing by 11.7 per cent. year-on-year.  
The length of return circuits in power transmission circuits of 220 kilowatts and above for power grids across the 
country, and the capacity of public power transformation devices are 611,000 kilometres and 3.13 billion kilo-amperes 
respectively, increasing by 5.8 per cent. and 7.6 per cent. year-on-year respectively, both maintaining medium-to-high 
rates of growth.  As of the end of 2014, the PRC completed its construction of the “three alternating currents and four 

direct currents” (三交四直) ultra-high voltage projects.   

 
The PRC’s wires and cables industry has been the first in the world in terms of overall size, production volume and 
growth rate for many consecutive years.  Its output value has exceeded RMB 1 trillion, accounting for ¼ of the output 
value of the electrical industry.  However, the average production capacity utilisation rate is approximately 60 per cent. 
in the PRC’s wires and cables industry, with significant overcapacity.  As the entry barrier is low, some enterprises do 
not possess production, quality control and inspection capabilities, and their products are concentrated in the low-end 
region.  Data from the National Bureau of Statistics indicates that, in 2014, the majority of enterprises in the wires and 
cables industry are small-to-medium enterprises.  There were 4,659 enterprises which were of medium size or above 
(with a mainstream business revenue of RMB 20 million and above).  The total market penetration rate for the top 10 
wires and cables manufacturing enterprises is less than 20 per cent. far from the United States and Japan, in which the 
top 10 wires and cables manufacturing enterprises have a market penetration rate of approximately over 60 per cent.  
There is still potential for improvement in terms of industry concentration for the wires and cables industry.  Moreover, 
problems such as weak innovation capability of wires and cables enterprises and structural problems in products, 
restrain the development of the wires and cables industry in the PRC. 
 
On 16 February 2013, the NDRC published the “Decision of the National Development and Reform Commission 
Regarding Amendment of Terms in the Guidance Directory (2011 Version) for Making Industry Structural Adaptations” 

(《国家发展改革委关于修改产业结构调整指导目录(2011 年本)有关条款的决定》), which, on the basis of giving 

adequate consideration to the characteristics and development needs of the wires and cables manufacturing industry as 
a fundamental supporting industry, provided for express restraints on production capacity which are seriously in excess.  
On 21 April 2014, the Office of the State Council published the “Outline for the Consistent Development of Quality 

(2014 Action Plan)” (《贯彻实施质量发展纲要 2014 年行动计划》), which formulated in detail 15 clauses (a total 

of 77 specific tasks) encompassing four areas.  Among which, it stressed that it has to enhance control of quality and 
safety in key areas, including carrying out targeted rectification for products such as agricultural materials and wires 
and cables.  The launch of this policy is intended to regulate the production volume of wire and cable products, and 
regulate the development of the wires and cables industry.  The launch of the relevant industry-related policies by the 
state is intended to mitigate overcapacity in the cables industry and raising industry concentration. 
 
Raw materials for wires and cables are copper, aluminium and insulator materials.  Copper is the most important 
industrial raw material, and its price is closely correlated to the economic trend.  Since 2013, copper prices have been 
fluctuating downwards. 
 
Impacts of a downward trend in copper prices for copper smelting and copper processing enterprises is high.  Cable 
enterprises have adopted various pricing models to secure profitability.  For example, Far East Smarter Energy Co., Ltd. 

(远东智慧能源股份有限公司) adopts a cost-plus pricing method.  Through entering into open-ended contracts with 

customers, impact caused by fluctuations in raw material prices is mitigated.  Fujian Nanping Sun Cable Co., Ltd. (福建南平太阳电缆股份公司) adopts a “material costs + increase amount” pricing model, in which the production 

volume is set based on the sales volume, so as to lower procurement risks.  Zhejiang Wanma Co., Ltd. (浙江万马股份有限公司) correlates together product pricing and copper prices, thus maintaining a relatively stable profit margin.  On 

the whole, the pricing model of cable enterprises is widely varied, which will help mitigate the impact caused to their 
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operations by fluctuations in copper prices. 
 
Chemical-related products 
 
The Group’s chemical-related product business is mainly conducted through Shandong Nicest Carbon Black Co, Ltd. 

(山东耐斯特炭黑有限公司). 

 
The Group is one of the market leaders in MBS and PAM plastic products in terms of production and sales volume in 
the PRC and its chemical related product portfolio consists of more than 30 different types of chemical related products.  
MBS products, PAM products and carbon black products account for a majority of the sales volume in the Wanda 
Group’s chemical related product business: 
 
(i) MBS products:  MBS is a modifying agent used to improve plastic properties.  It is generally applied in the 

manufacturing process to enhance strength and processability of other plastic products. 
 
(ii) PAM products:  PAM is a water-soluble polymer formed from arylamide subunits and is most often used, as a 

thickening solution, to increase viscosity of water or to encourage flocculation of particles, particularly those 
that could not normally be filtered by filtration, present in water.  PAM is used widely in treatment of 
wastewater and drinking water. 

 
(iii) Carbon black products:  Carbon black is a by-product of heavy petroleum products with a high surface-area 

to-volume-ratio mainly used as a reinforcing filler in tyres and other rubber products, as well as a colour 
pigment in other products. 

 
The quality standard of the Group’s MBS products has positively contributed to its market share compared to other 
domestic manufacturers of MBS products, as well as its exports to Hong Kong, Taiwan and other Southeast Asian 
markets. 
 
The Group’s annual production capacity of MBS products, PAM products and carbon black products are approximately 
100,000 tonnes, 30,000 tonnes and 170,000 tonnes, respectively. 
 
Other businesses 
 
Electronic products – The Group has engaged in the electronic product business since 2003.  The Group’s electronic 

product business is mainly conducted through Shandong Wanda Microelectronic Materials Co, Ltd. (山东万达微电子材料有限公司).  The Group’s main products in this business segment include polyimide film, transformers, high-

voltage electric tanks, wireless meter reading instruments and high and low pressure tanks.  
 
Real estate and construction – The Group’s real estate and construction business is mainly conducted through 

Shandong Wanda Real Estate Co, Ltd. (山东万达地产有限公司) and Shandong Wanda The Fabrication Co. Ltd. (山东万达建安股份有限公司), respectively.  The Group’s real estate development projects and construction business are 

concentrated in Dongying, where it has developed a high-end residential property project, and a commercial property 
complex named Wanda Plaza along with an established Chinese real estate developer. 
 
International trade and port logistics – The Group’s international trade business is mainly conducted through Wanda 

International Trade Group (Qingdao) Co, Ltd. (万达国贸集团（青岛）有限公司) and the Guarantor, as well as other 

subsidiaries in Qingdao, Hong Kong and Singapore.  The Group also holds the majority shares of Shandong Baogang 

International Port Co, Ltd. (山东宝港国际港务股份有限公司), which operates port and chemical logistics businesses 

in the Dongying Port. 
 
Financial services – The Parent Group has invested in bank, private equity funds, financial leasing and micro finance 
companies.  Recently, the Group acquired a majority stake in an established financial market administration company 
based in the United Kingdom. 
 
Shareholding Structure of the Guarantor as at the date of this Offering Circular 

 

Shareholder % in Wanda Holdings Group Co. Ltd. 
Shandong Ruikang Investment Management Co. Ltd 98.22% 

Shang Jiyong 0.92% 
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Sun Zengwu 0.14% 

Ba Shushan 0.13% 

Shang Jianli 0.13% 

Ba Hongshe 0.13% 

Ba Yinhua 0.13% 

Ba Hongjie 0.05% 

Ba Yujian 0.04% 

Gou Yingqun 0.04% 

Wang Zhenqing 0.04% 

Gao Xingjun 0.03% 

 

 

Organisation and Management Structure as at the date of this Offering Circular 

 
The following chart sets forth the organisation and management structure of the Guarantor: 
 

 
 

Management Team as at the date of this Offering Circular 

 
The management team is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Guarantor including establishing the 
Guarantor’s strategic direction and management goals, as well as monitoring the achievement of these goals. 
 
The members of the management team of the Guarantor as at the date of this Offering Circular are as follows: 
 
Name Position 

Shang Jiyong (尚吉永) Chairman and General Manager 

Shang Jianli (尚建立) Vice Chairman 

Ba Hongjun (巴洪军) Assistant to Chairman 

Ba Shushan (巴树山) Director 

Ba Yinhua (巴银华) Vice President 

Ba Hongshe (巴洪社) Vice President 

Ba Hongjie (巴洪杰) Vice President 

Gou Yingqun (苟英群) Vice President 

Wang Zhenqing (王振卿) Vice President 
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Shang Jiyong – Chairman.  Mr. Shang Jiyong is also the legal representative, chief executive officer and secretary of 
the party committee of the Guarantor.  Mr. Shang was born in January 1968 and has an EMBA degree from Beijing 
Institute of Technology and a bachelor’s degree from China University of Petroleum (East China).  Mr Shang joined the 
Guarantor in 1992 and has previously held the positions of manager, deputy general manager, executive deputy general 
manager, vice chairman and general manager.  Mr. Shang is also the chairman of Shandong Ruikang Investment 
Management Co., Ltd., the largest shareholder of the Guarantor. Mr. Shang has more than 20 years of entrepreneurial 
experience. 
 
Shang Jianli – Vice Chairman.  Mr. Shang Jianli was born in January 1969 and has a master’s degree in business 
administration from Beijing Institute of Technology.  He has also previously held the position of chairman of Wanda 
Group.  Mr. Shang is also the chairman of Shandong Wanda Boto Tire Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of Wanda Group, and an 

executive director of Shandong Wanda Rubber Co. Ltd. (山东万达橡胶有限责任公司). Mr. Shang has more than 20 

years of entrepreneurial experience. 
 
Ba Hongjun – Assistant to Chairman.  Mr. Ba Hongjun was born in June 1959.  He has previously held the positions of 
deputy general manager, director and chairman of Wanda Group.  Mr. Ba is also a director of Shandong Wanda The 
Fabrication Co., Ltd. 
 
Ba Shushan – Director.  Mr. Ba Shushan was born in January 1968.  He has previously held the positions of chief 
accountant of the finance department, director and chairman of Wanda Group. 
 
Ba Yinhua – Vice President.  Mr. Ba Yinhua was born in October 1962.  He has previously held the positions of 
assistant to general manager and deputy general manager of Wanda Group.  Mr. Ba is also an executive director and the 
general manager of Shandong Wanda Chemical Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Wanda Group. 
 
Ba Hongshe – Vice President.  Mr. Ba Hongshe was born in January 1971 and has a master’s degree in engineering 
from Beijing Institute of Technology.  Hs has previously held the positions of director and deputy general manager of 
Wanda Group. 
 
Ba Hongjie – Vice President.  Mr. Ba Hongjie was born in December 1967.  He has previously held the position of 
deputy general manager of Wanda Group. 
 
Gou Yingqun – Vice President.  Mr. Gou Yingqun was born in June 1974.  Mr. Gou is a director of Shandong Wanda 

Chemical Co., Ltd. and Tianhong Chemical (天弘化学), subsidiaries of Wanda Group. 

 
Wang Zhenqing – Vice President.  Mr. Wang Zhenqing was born in December 1966.  He has previously held the 
positions of vice chairman and director of Wanda Group. 
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TAXATION 

 
General 
 
Tax considerations may apply to the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes.  Persons considering the 
purchase of the Notes should consult their own tax advisor concerning the application of relevant tax laws to their 
particular situations as well as any consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes arising under 
the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction. 
 
The statements made herein regarding taxation are general in nature and based on certain aspects of the current tax 

laws of Singapore and administrative guidelines and circulars issued by the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore 

(“IRAS”) and MAS in force as of the date of this Offering Circular and are subject to any changes in such laws, 

administrative guidelines or circulars, or in the interpretation of these laws, administrative guidelines or circulars, 

occurring after such date, which changes could be made on a retrospective basis.  These laws, administrative 

guidelines and circulars are also subject to various interpretations and the relevant tax authorities or the courts could 

later disagree with the explanations or conclusions set out below.  Neither these statements nor any other statements in 

this Offering Circular are intended or are to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any Noteholder or of any 

person acquiring, selling or otherwise dealing with the Notes or on any tax implications arising from the acquisition, 

sale or other dealings in respect of the Notes.  The statements made herein do not purport to be a comprehensive or 

exhaustive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to subscribe for, purchase, own or 

dispose of the Notes and do not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors some 

of which (such as dealers in securities or financial institutions in Singapore which have been granted the relevant 

Financial Sector Incentive(s)) may be subject to special rules or tax rates.  Noteholders or prospective Noteholders are 

advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the Singapore or other tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership or 

disposition of the Notes, including, in particular, the effect of any foreign, state or local tax laws to which they are 

subject to.  It is emphasised that none of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint 

Bookrunners and any other persons involved in the issuance of the Notes accepts responsibility for any tax effects or 

liabilities resulting from the subscription for, purchase, holding or disposal of the Notes. 

 

Interest and other payments 
 
Subject to the following paragraphs, under Section 12(6) of the ITA, the following payments are deemed to be derived 
from Singapore: 
 
(a) any interest, commission, fee or any other payment in connection with any loan or indebtedness or with any 

arrangement, management, guarantee, or service relating to any loan or indebtedness which is (i) borne, 
directly or indirectly, by a person resident in Singapore or a permanent establishment in Singapore (except in 
respect of any business carried on outside Singapore through a permanent establishment outside Singapore or 
any immovable property situated outside Singapore) or (ii) deductible against any income accruing in or 
derived from Singapore; or 

 
(b) any income derived from loans where the funds provided by such loans are brought into or used in Singapore. 
 
Such payments, where made to a person not known to the paying party to be a resident in Singapore for tax purposes, 
are generally subject to withholding tax in Singapore.  The rate at which tax is to be withheld for such payments (other 
than those subject to the 15.0 per cent. final withholding tax described below) to non-resident persons (other than non-
resident individuals) is currently 17.0 per cent.  The applicable rate for non-resident individuals is 22.0 per cent. with 
effect from Year of Assessment 2017.  However, if the payment is derived by a person not resident in Singapore 
otherwise than from any trade, business, profession or vocation carried on or exercised by such person in Singapore, 
and is not effectively connected with any permanent establishment in Singapore of that person, the payment is subject 
to a final withholding tax of 15.0 per cent.  The rate of 15.0 per cent. may be reduced by applicable tax treaties. 
 
Certain Singapore-sourced investment income derived by individuals from financial instruments is exempt from tax, 
including: 
 
(a) interest from debt securities derived on or after 1 January 1 2004; 
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(b) discount income (not including discount income arising from secondary trading) from debt securities derived 
on or after 17 February 2006; and 

 
(c) prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost from debt securities derived on or after 15 February 2007, 
 
except where such income is derived through a partnership in Singapore or is derived from the carrying on of a trade, 
business or profession in Singapore. 
 
In addition, on the basis that the issue of the Notes is solely lead-managed by Standard Chartered Bank, which is a 
Financial Sector Incentive (Standard Tier) Company (as defined in the ITA), and the Notes are issued as debt securities 
prior to 31 December 2018, the Notes would be, pursuant to the ITA, “qualifying debt securities” for the purposes of 
the ITA, to which the following treatments shall apply: 
 
(a) subject to certain prescribed conditions having been fulfilled (including the furnishing by the Issuer, or such 

other person as the MAS may direct, of a return on debt securities for the Notes in the prescribed format 
within such period as the MAS may specify and such other particulars in connection with the Notes as the 
MAS may require to the MAS and the inclusion by the Issuer in all offering documents relating to the Notes 
of a statement to the effect that where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or 
break cost from the Notes is derived by a person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any 
operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption for qualifying debt 
securities shall not apply if the non-resident person acquires the Notes using funds from that person’s 
operations through the Singapore permanent establishment), interest, discount income (not including discount 
income arising from secondary trading), prepayment fee, redemption premium and break cost (collectively, 
the “Qualifying Income”) from the Notes paid by the Issuer and derived by a holder who is not resident in 
Singapore and who (i) does not have any permanent establishment in Singapore or (ii) carries on any 
operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore but the funds used by that person to 
acquire the Notes are not obtained from such operation in Singapore, are exempt from Singapore tax; 

 
(b) subject to certain prescribed conditions having been fulfilled (including the furnishing by the Issuer, or such 

other person as the MAS may direct, of a return on debt securities for the Notes in the prescribed format 
within such period as the MAS may specify and such other particulars in connection with the Notes as the 
MAS may require to the MAS), Qualifying Income from the Notes paid by the Issuer and derived by any 
company or body of persons (as defined in the ITA) in Singapore is generally subject to tax at a concessionary 
rate of 10.0 per cent. (except for holders of the relevant Financial Sector Incentive(s) who may be taxed at 
different rates); and 

 
(c) subject to: 
 

(i) the Issuer including in all offering documents relating to the Notes a statement to the effect that any 
person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the 
Qualifying Income) derived from the Notes is not exempt from tax shall include such income in a 
return of income made under the ITA; and 

 
(ii) the Issuer, or such other person as the MAS may direct, furnishing to the MAS a return on debt 

securities for the Notes in the prescribed format within such period as the MAS may specify and such 
other particulars in connection with the Notes as the MAS may require, 

 
payments of Qualifying Income derived from the Notes are not subject to withholding of tax by the Issuer. 
 
However, notwithstanding the foregoing: 
 
(a) if during the primary launch of the Notes, the Notes are issued to fewer than four (4) persons and 50.0 per cent. 

or more of the issue of the Notes is held beneficially or funded, directly or indirectly, by a related party or 
related parties of the Issuer, the Notes would not qualify as “qualifying debt securities” unless approval is 
obtained; and 

 
(b) even though the Notes are “qualifying debt securities”, if, at any time during the tenure of the Notes, 50.0 per 

cent. or more of the issue of the Notes which are outstanding at any time during the life of their issue is held 
beneficially or funded, directly or indirectly, by any related party(ies) of the Issuer, Qualifying Income derived 
from the Notes held by: 
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(i) any related party of the Issuer; or 

 
(ii) any other person who acquires the Notes with funds obtained, directly or indirectly, from any related 

party of the Issuer, 
 
shall not be eligible for the tax exemption or concessionary rate of tax as described above unless approval is obtained. 
 
The term “related party”, in relation to a person, means any other person who, directly or indirectly, controls that 
person, or is controlled, directly or indirectly, by that person, or where he and that other person, directly or indirectly, 
are under the control of a common person. 
 
References to “break cost”, “prepayment fee” and “redemption premium” in this Singapore tax disclosure have the 
same meaning as defined in the ITA and are defined in the ITA as follows: 
 
(a) “break cost” means, in relation to debt securities, qualifying debt securities or qualifying project debt 

securities, any fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early redemption of the securities, the amount 
of which is determined by any loss or liability incurred by the holder of the securities in connection with such 
redemption; 

 
(b) “prepayment fee” means, in relation to debt securities, qualifying debt securities or qualifying project debt 

securities, any fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early redemption of the securities, the amount 
of which is determined by the terms of the issuance of the securities; and 

 
(c) “redemption premium” means, in relation to debt securities, qualifying debt securities or qualifying project 

debt securities, any premium payable by the issuer of the securities on the redemption of the securities upon 
their maturity. 

 
Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the Qualifying Income) is 
derived from the Notes by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operations in Singapore 
through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for “qualifying debt securities” under the 
ITA (as mentioned above) shall not apply if such person acquires the Notes using the funds and profits of such person’s 
operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore.  Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment 
fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the Qualifying Income) derived from the Notes is not exempt from tax is 
required to include such income in a return of income made under the ITA. 
 
Notwithstanding that the Issuer may, if the Notes are “qualifying debt securities”, be permitted to make payments of 
interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the Qualifying Income) in respect of 
the Notes without deduction or withholding of tax under Section 45 or 45A of the ITA, any person whose interest, 
discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the Qualifying Income) derived from the 
Notes is not exempt from tax is required to include such income in a return of income made under the ITA. 
 
Capital Gains 
 
Any gains considered to be in the nature of capital made from the sale of the Notes will not be taxable in Singapore.  
However, any gains derived by any person from the sale of the Notes which are gains from any trade, business, 
profession or vocation carried on by that person, if accruing in or derived from Singapore, may be taxable as such gains 
are considered revenue in nature. 
 
Holders of the Notes who apply or are required to apply Singapore Financial Reporting Standard 39 —Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“FRS 39”) for Singapore income tax purposes may be required to 
recognize gains or losses (not being gains or losses in the nature of capital) on the Notes, irrespective of disposal, in 
accordance with FRS 39.  Please see the section below on “Adoption of FRS 39 Treatment for Singapore Income Tax 
Purposes”. 
 
Adoption of FRS 39 Treatment for Singapore Income Tax Purposes 
 
The IRAS has issued a circular entitled “Income Tax Implications Arising from the Adoption of FRS 39—Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (the “FRS 39 Circular”).  Legislative amendments to give effect to the 
FRS 39 Circular have been enacted in Section 34A of the ITA. 
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The FRS 39 Circular and Section 34A of the ITA generally apply, subject to certain “opt-out” provisions, to taxpayers 
who are required to comply with FRS 39 for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Holders of the Notes who have or are adopting the tax treatment under the FRS39 Circular may be required to 
recognise gains or losses on the Notes for Singapore income tax purposes, even if these Notes were no disposed of. 
 
The Accounting Standards Council has issued a new financial reporting standard for financial instruments, FRS 109 – 
Financial Instruments which will become mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
It is at present unclear whether, and to what extent, the replacement of FRS 39 by FRS 109 will affect the tax treatment 
of financial instruments which currently follows FRS 39. 
 
Holders of the Notes who may be subject to the tax treatment under the FRS 39 Circular and Section 34A of the ITA 
should consult their own accounting and tax advisers regarding the Singapore income tax consequences of their 
acquisition, holding or disposal of the Notes. 
 
The Accounting Standards Council has issued a new financial reporting standard for financial instruments, FRS 109 – 
Financial Instruments which will become mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
It is at present unclear whether, and to what extent, the replacement of FRS 39 by FRS 109 will affect the tax treatment 
of financial instruments which currently follows FRS 39. Holders and prospective holders of the Notes should consult 
their own accounting and tax advisers on the proposed tax treatment to understand the implications and consequences 
that may be applicable to them. 
 
Estate Duty 
 
Singapore estate duty has been abolished with respect to all deaths occurring on or after February 15 2008. 
 
FATCA 
 
Provisions of U.S. law, commonly referred to as “FATCA”, impose a withholding tax of 30 per cent. on (i) certain U.S. 
source payments and (ii) payments of gross proceeds from the disposition of assets that produce U.S. source interest or 
dividends made to persons that fail to meet certain certification or reporting requirements.  In order to avoid becoming 
subject to this withholding tax, non-U.S. financial institutions must enter into agreements (“IRS Agreements”) (as 
described below) with the United States Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or otherwise be exempt from the 
requirements of FATCA.  Non-U.S. financial institutions that enter into IRS Agreements or become subject to 
provisions of local law (“IGA legislation”) intended to implement an intergovernmental agreement entered into 
pursuant to FATCA (“IGAs”), may be required to identify “financial accounts” held by U.S. persons or entities with 
substantial U.S. ownership, as well as accounts of other financial institutions that are not themselves participating in (or 
otherwise exempt from) the FATCA reporting regime. 
 
In addition, in order to (i) obtain an exemption from FATCA withholding on payments it receives and/or (ii) to comply 
with any applicable IGA legislation, a financial institution that enters into an IRS Agreement or is subject to IGA 
legislation may be required to: 
 
(i) report certain information on its U.S. account holders to the government of the United States or another 

relevant jurisdiction; and 
 
(ii) withhold 30 per cent. from all, or a portion of, certain payments made to persons that fail to provide the 

financial institution information, consents and forms or other documentation that may be necessary for such 
financial institution to determine whether such person is compliant with FATCA or otherwise exempt from 
FATCA withholding. 

 
Under FATCA, withholding is required with respect to payments to persons that are not compliant with FATCA or that 
do not provide the necessary information, consent or documentation made on or after (a) 1 July 2014 in respect of 
certain U.S. source payments, (b) 1 January 2017, in respect of payments of gross proceeds (including principal 
repayments) on certain assets that produce U.S. source interest or dividends and (c) 1 January 2017 (at the earliest) in 
respect of “foreign passthru payments” and then, for “obligations” that are not treated as equity for U.S. federal income 
tax purposes, only on such obligations that are issued or materially modified on or after the date that is six (6) months 
after the date on which the final regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” are filed with the Federal Register. 
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The application of FATCA to interest, principal or other amounts paid with respect to the Notes and the Loans and the 
information reporting obligations of the Issuer and other entities in the payment chain is still developing.  In particular, 
a number of jurisdictions have entered into (including Singapore), or have agreed in substance to (including Hong 
Kong and the PRC), intergovernmental agreements (or similar mutual understandings) with the United States, which 
modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions.  The full impact of such agreements (and the laws 
implementing such agreement in such jurisdictions) on reporting and withholding responsibilities under FATCA is 
unclear.  The Issuer and other entities in the payment chain may be required to report certain information on their U.S. 
account holders to government authorities in their respective jurisdictions or the United States in order (a) to obtain an 
exemption from FATCA withholding on payments they receive and/or (b) to comply with applicable law in their 
jurisdiction.  It is not yet certain how the United States and the jurisdictions which enter into intergovernmental 
agreements will address withholding on “foreign passthru payments” (which may include payments on the Notes) or if 
such withholding will be required at all. 
 
Whilst the Notes are in global form and held within Euroclear or Clearstream (together, the “ICSDs”), it is expected 
that FATCA will not affect the amount of any payments made under, or in respect of, the Notes by the Issuer, any 
paying agent and the common depositary, given that each of the entities in the payment chain from (but excluding) the 
Issuer to (but including) the ICSDs is a major financial institution whose business is dependent on compliance with 
FATCA and that any alternative approach introduced under an intergovernmental agreement will be unlikely to affect 
the Notes. 
 
If an amount in respect of U.S. withholding tax were to be deducted or withheld from interest, principal or other 
payments on the Notes as a result of FATCA, none of the Issuer, any paying agent or any other person would, pursuant 
to the terms and conditions of the Notes be required to pay additional amount as a result of the deduction or 
withholding.  As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected. 
 
FATCA IS PARTICULARLY COMPLEX AND ITS APPLICATION TO THE ISSUER, THE NOTES AND THE 
HOLDERS IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE.  EACH HOLDER OF NOTES SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX 
ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED EXPLANATION OF FATCA AND TO LEARN HOW FATCA MIGHT 
AFFECT EACH HOLDER IN ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCE. 
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CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Clearance and Settlement under Euroclear and/or Clearstream 
 
Euroclear and Clearstream each holds securities for participating organisations and facilitates the clearance and 
settlement of securities transactions between their respective participants through electronic book-entry changes in the 
accounts of such participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movements of certificates and any risks from 
lack of simultaneous transfer.  Euroclear and Clearstream provide to their respective participants, among other things, 
services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally-traded securities and securities 
lending and borrowing.  Euroclear and Clearstream each also deals with domestic securities markets in several 
countries through established depository and custodial relationships.  The respective systems of Euroclear and 
Clearstream have established an electronic bridge between their two systems which enables their respective participants 
to settle trades with one another. 
 
Euroclear and Clearstream participants are financial institutions throughout the world, including underwriters, securities 
brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organisations.  Indirect access to 
Euroclear or Clearstream is also available to other financial institutions, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust 
companies which clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Euroclear or Clearstream participant, either 
directly or indirectly. 
 
A participant’s overall contractual relations with either Euroclear or Clearstream are governed by the respective rules 
and operating procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream and any applicable laws.  Both Euroclear and Clearstream act 
under those rules and operating procedures only on behalf of their respective participants, and have no record of, or 
relationship with, persons holding any interests through their respective participants. 
 
Distributions of principal with respect to book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream will 
be credited, to the extent received by the Principal Paying Agent, to the cash accounts of the relevant Euroclear or 
Clearstream participants in accordance with the relevant system’s rules and procedures. 
 
Each payment under the global certificate will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the 
Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, 
where “Clearing System Business Day” means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive) except 25 December and 1 
January. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

 
Each of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners has, in a subscription agreement 
dated on or about 13 December 2017 (the “Subscription Agreement”) and made between the Issuer, the Borrower, the 
Guarantor, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager and the Joint Bookrunners, upon the terms and subject 
to the conditions contained therein, agreed to purchase the Notes at their issue price of 98.570 per cent. of their 
principal amount.  The Subscription Agreement provides, inter alia, that the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead 
Manager and the Joint Bookrunners may, by notice to the Issuer given at any time prior to payment of the subscription 
moneys for the Notes to the Issuer, terminate the Subscription Agreement under certain circumstances, if any of the 
conditions specified in the Subscription Agreement has not been satisfied, or has not been waived by the Sole Global 
Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager and the Joint Bookrunners.  Such conditions include, but are not limited to the 
following: (a) the execution and delivery of certain documents; and (b) there having not been on the Closing Date (i) 
the occurrence of any event making any of the Issuer’s, the Borrower’s or the Guarantor’s representations and 
warranties under the Subscription Agreement untrue and incorrect in any material respect on the Closing Date as 
though they had been given and made on such date with reference to the facts and circumstances then subsisting, nor (ii) 
the occurrence of any material breach of the Issuer’s, the Borrower’s or the Guarantor’s undertakings under the 
Subscription Agreement, nor (iii) the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Notes. 
 
The Issuer, the Borrower and the Guarantor has given certain representations and warranties to the Sole Global 
Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager and the Joint Bookrunners in the Subscription Agreement, and the Issuer, the 
Borrower and the Guarantor has agreed to indemnify the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager and the Joint 
Bookrunners against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. 
 
If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the Sole Global Coordinator and 
Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners or any of its affiliates is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the 
offering shall be deemed to be made by it or such affiliate on behalf of the issuer in such jurisdiction. 
 
Australia 
 
No prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001) in relation to the Notes has been, 
or will be, lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission or the ASX Limited.  Each of the Joint 
Bookrunners has represented and agreed that it: 
 
(a) has not (directly or indirectly) made or invited, and will not make or invite an offer of the Notes for issue or 

sale in Australia (including an offer or invitation which is received by a person in Australia); and 
 
(b) has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish, the Offering Circular or any other offering 

material or advertisement relating to any Notes in Australia, 
 
unless: 
 
(1) the aggregate consideration payable by each offeree is at least A$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternate 

currency, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its associates) or the offer or invitation does 
not otherwise require disclosure to investors under Parts 6D.2 or 7.9 of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
complies with the terms of any authority granted under the Banking Act 1959 of Australia; 

 
(2) the offer or invitation does not constitute an offer to a “retail client” as defined for the purposes of section 

761G of the Corporations Act 2001; 
 
(3) such action complies with any applicable laws, regulations and directives in Australia; and 
 
(4) such action does not require any document to be lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments 

Commission or the ASX Limited. 
 
European Economic Area 
 
In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive 
(each a “Relevant Member State”), each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed, that with effect from 
and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant 
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Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering 
contemplated by this Offering Circular to the public in that Relevant Member State other than: 
 
(a)  to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; 
 
(b)  to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD 

Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus 
Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the Joint 
Bookrunners nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or 

 
(c) in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, 
 
provided that no such offer of Notes shall require the Issuer or the Joint Bookrunners to publish a prospectus pursuant 
to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive. 
 
For the purposes of this provision, the expression “an offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any Notes in any 
Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms 
of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe to the Notes, as 
the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member 
State, the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 
2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant 
implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means 
Directive 2010/73/EU. 
 
Hong Kong 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed that: 
 
(a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes other 

than (a) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong 
Kong and any rules made under that Ordinance; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the 
document being a “prospectus” as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of that 
Ordinance; and 

 
(b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession 

for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document 
relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the 
public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with 
respect to the Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to 
“professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance and any rules made under that 
Ordinance. 

 
Ireland 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has agreed, represented and warranted that they have not offered, sold, placed or 
underwritten and will not offer, sell, place or underwrite the issue of any of the Notes or take any action in respect of 
the Notes, to the extent applicable: 
 
(a) otherwise than in conformity with the provisions of the Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations of 

2005, as amended by the Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 (S.I. 239/2012) 
and the Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) (Amendment No.2) Regulations 2012 (S.I. 317/2012) and any 
rules issued under section 51 of the Investment Funds, Companies and Miscellaneous Provisions Act 2005 of 
Ireland by the Central Bank of Ireland; 

 
(b) otherwise than in compliance with the provisions of the Companies Acts of Ireland (1963-2013); 
 
(c) otherwise than in compliance with the provisions of (1) the Investment Intermediaries Act 1995 (as amended); 

(2) the Investor Compensation Act 1998 and (3) the European Communities (Markets in Financial Instruments) 
Regulations 2007 (S.I. No. 60 of 2007) (as amended) and they will conduct themselves in accordance with any 
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codes and rules of conduct, conditions, requirements and any other enactment, imposed or approved by the 
Central Bank of Ireland with respect to anything done by them in relation to the Notes; 

 
(d) otherwise than in compliance with the provisions of the Market Abuse (Directive 2003/6/EC) Regulations 

2005 (as amended) and any rules issued by the Central Bank of Ireland pursuant thereto; and 
 
(e) otherwise than in compliance with the provisions of the Irish Central Bank Acts 1942-2013 and any codes of 

conduct, practices and rules made under section 117(1) of the Central Bank Act 1989, 
 
as each of the foregoing may be amended, restated, varied, supplemented, and/or otherwise replaced from time to time. 
 
Japan 
 
The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 
25 of 1948, as amended, the “Financial Instruments and Exchange Act”).  Accordingly, each of the Joint 
Bookrunners has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or 
indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein 
means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan), or to 
others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan except 
pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with the Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. 
 
Korea, Republic of 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed that a registration statement for the offering and sale of the 
Notes has not been filed with the Financial Services Commission of Korea.  Accordingly, each of the Joint Bookrunners 
has represented and agreed that the Notes have not been and will not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, 
in Korea or to or for the account or benefit of any Korean resident (as defined under the Foreign Exchange Transaction 
Law of Korea and the regulations thereunder) except as otherwise permitted by applicable Korean law and regulations 
(including the sale of the Notes to professional investors (as defined under the Financial Investment Services and 
Capital Markets Act of Korea and its enforcement decree). 
 
In addition, to the extent required by the applicable laws and regulations of Korea, until the expiration of one year after 
the issuance of any Notes, such Notes may not be transferred to any resident of Korea except as otherwise permitted by 
applicable Korean law and regulations (including the sale of the Notes to professional investors in the secondary market 
if the Notes have been (a) listed in one of the major markets designated by the Financial Supervisory Service or (b) 
registered with or reported to a financial supervisory authority located in one of such major markets or (c) offered 
through such procedures as may be considered a public offering).  Each of the Joint Bookrunners has undertaken to use 
commercially reasonable best measures as such Joint Bookrunner in the ordinary course of its business so that any 
securities dealer to which it sells Notes confirms that it is purchasing such Notes as principal and agrees with such Joint 
Bookrunner that it will comply with the restrictions described above. 
 
Singapore 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has acknowledged that this Offering Circular has not been and will not be registered as a 
prospectus with the MAS.  Accordingly, each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed that it has not 
offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and 
will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, 
and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or 
material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or 
indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (a) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and 
Futures Act, (Chapter 289 of Singapore) (“SFA”), (b) to a relevant person pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any 
person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the 
SFA, or (c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA. 
 
Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is: 
 
(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of 

which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each 
of whom is an accredited investor; or 
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(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each 

beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor, 
 
securities (as defined in Section 239(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest 
(howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has 
acquired such Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA, except: 
 
(a) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the SFA or to a relevant person as defined in Section 275(2) of 

the SFA, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the 
SFA; 

 
(b) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer; 
 
(c) where the transfer is by operation of law; 
 
(d) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or 
 
(e) as specified in Regulation 32 of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Shares and Debentures) 

Regulations 2005 of Singapore. 
 
Taiwan 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any 
Notes, directly or indirectly, in the Republic of China (“ROC”) or to ROC investors unless otherwise permitted by the 
laws and regulations of the ROC. 
 
United Arab Emirates (excluding the Dubai International Finance Centre) 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed that: 
 
(a) the Notes to be issued have not been and will not be offered, sold, marketed or publicly promoted or 

advertised by it in the United Arab Emirates other than in compliance with any laws applicable in the United 
Arab Emirates governing the issue, offering and sale of securities; 

 
(b) the information contained in this Offering Circular does not constitute a public offer of securities in the United 

Arab Emirates in accordance with the Commercial Companies Law (Federal Law 8 of 1984 (as amended)), 
Emirates Securities and Commodities Authority Resolution No. 37 of 2012, or otherwise and is not intended to 
be a public offer.  The information contained in this Offering Circular is not intended to lead to the conclusion 
of any contract of whatsoever nature within the territory of the United Arab Emirates nor be used for the 
purpose of an offer or invitation to subscribe for such securities or enter into any such contract in the United 
Arab Emirates; 

 
(c) the Notes to be issued under this Offering Circular have not been and will not be reviewed, 

approved, disapproved, registered, filed or passed in any way by the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates, 
the Emirates Securities and Commodities Authority or any other governmental regulatory body or securities 
exchange; 

 
(d) none of the Joint Bookrunners has received authorisation or licensing from the Central Bank of the United 

Arab Emirates, the Emirates Securities and Commodities Authority or any other governmental authority in the 
United Arab Emirates to market or sell the Notes within the United Arab Emirates and is not licensed to act as 
a broker or investment adviser in the United Arab Emirates and does not advise persons resident in the United 
Arab Emirates as to the appropriateness of investing in or purchasing or selling securities or other financial 
products; 

 
(e) no subscription for the Notes may be consummated within the United Arab Emirates; 
 
(f) no services relating to the Notes, including the receipt of applications and/or the allotment or redemption of 

Notes, may be rendered within the United Arab Emirates by the Issuer; and 
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(g) this Offering Circular is being issued to a limited number of institutional and sophisticated investors at their 
request.  It is strictly private and confidential and must not be provided to any person other than the original 
recipient to whom this document is personally provided, and may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose. 

 
United Arab Emirates (Dubai International Financial Centre only) 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed that it will offer the Notes in the Dubai International 
Financial Centre (“DIFC”) by way of private placement only to those prospective investors who are “Professional 
Clients” of the type specified in Conduct of Business Rule 2.3.2(2) of the Dubai Financial Services Authority 
(“DFSA”).  This Offering Circular is therefore only directed at such persons and shall not be given to or relied upon by 
any person who is not a “Professional Client” of the type specified in such rule. 
 
The Notes are not subject to any form of regulation or approval by the DFSA.  Accordingly, the DFSA does not accept 
any responsibility for the content of the information included in the Offering Circular, including the accuracy or 
completeness of such information.  The liability for the content of the Offering Circular lies with the Issuer.  The DFSA 
has also not assessed the suitability of the Notes to which the Offering Circular relates to any particular investor or type 
of investor. 
 
United Kingdom 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented and agreed that: 
 
(a)  it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 

communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 
of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”)) received by it in connection with the issue or 
sale of the Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and 

 
(b)  it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by 

it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 
 
United States 
 
Each of the Joint Bookrunners has represented, warranted and undertaken that it has not offered or sold, and will not 
offer or sell, any Notes constituting part of its allotment within the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of 
Regulation S under the Securities Act and, accordingly, that neither it nor any of its affiliates (including any person 
acting on behalf of any of the Joint Bookrunners or any of its affiliates) has engaged or will engage in any directed 
selling efforts with respect to the Notes.  Terms used in the paragraph above have the meanings given to them by 
Regulation S under the Securities Act. 
 
General 
 
Neither this Offering Circular nor any other document or information (or any part thereof) delivered or supplied under 
or in relation to the Notes may be used in connection with, and does not constitute an offer or solicitation or invitation 
by or on behalf of any person to subscribe for or purchase, the Notes in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation 
or invitation is unlawful or not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or 
invitation.  The distribution and publication of this Offering Circular or any such other document or information and the 
offer of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.  Persons who distribute or publish this Offering 
Circular or any such other document or information or into whose possession this Offering Circular or any such other 
document or information comes are required to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions and all 
applicable laws, orders, rules and regulations. 
 
None of the Joint Bookrunners is obliged to facilitate trading in the Notes (or beneficial interests therein) and any such 
activities, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time, for any reason, without notice.  If any of the Joint 
Bookrunners does not facilitate trading in the Notes (or beneficial interests therein) for any reason, there can be no 
assurance that another firm or person will do so. 
 
The Joint Bookrunners and their respective affiliates may also engage in investment or commercial banking and other 
dealings in the ordinary course of business with the Borrower, the Guarantor or their respective affiliates, including the 
extension of credit facilities, from time to time and may receive fees and commissions for these transactions.  In 
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addition to the transactions noted above, the Joint Bookrunners and their respective  affiliates may, from time to time 
after completion of the offering of the Notes, engage in other transactions with, and perform services for, the Borrower, 
the Guarantor or their respective affiliates in the ordinary course of their business.  The Joint Bookrunners or their 
respective affiliates may purchase the Notes for its own account or enter into secondary market transactions or 
derivative transactions relating to the Notes, including, without limitation, purchase, sale (or facilitation thereof), stock 
borrowing or credit or equity-linked derivatives such as asset swaps, repackagings and credit default swaps, at the same 
time as the offering of the Notes.  Such transactions may be carried out as bilateral trades with selected counterparties 
and separately from any existing sale or resale of the Notes to which this Offering Circular relates (notwithstanding that 
such selected counterparties may also be a purchaser of the Notes).  As a result of such transactions, the Joint 
Bookrunners or their respective affiliates may hold long or short positions relating to the Notes.  The Joint Bookrunners 
or their respective affiliates may also purchase Notes for asset management and/or proprietary purposes but not with a 
view to distribution or may hold Notes on behalf of clients or in the capacity of investment advisors.  The Joint 
Bookrunners or their respective affiliates may act as a structuring agent to assist investors to acquire the Notes through 
derivative transactions.  While the  Joint Bookrunners and their respective affiliates have policies and procedures to 
deal with conflicts of interests, any of the above transactions may cause the the Joint Bookrunners or their respective 
affiliates or its clients or counterparties to have economic interests and incentives which may conflict with those of an 
investor in the Notes.  The Joint Bookrunners may receive returns on such transactions and has no obligation to take, 
refrain from taking or cease taking any action with respect to any such transactions based on the potential effect on a 
prospective investor in the Notes. 
 
Any person who may be in doubt as to the restrictions set out in the laws, regulations and directives in each jurisdiction 

in which it subscribes for, purchases, offers, sells or delivers the Notes or any interest therein or rights in respect 

thereof and the consequences arising from a contravention thereof should consult his own professional advisers and 

should make his own inquiries as to the laws, regulations and directives in force or applicable in any particular 

jurisdiction at any relevant time. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
(a) The issue of the Notes has been duly authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed 

on 8 December 2017. 
 
(b) The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream and with the Common Code 

170037472 and ISIN XS1700374728. 
 
(c) The Issuer has not since its incorporation been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings 

which may have or have had a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer nor, so 
far as the Issuer is aware, is any such governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings involving it pending or 
threatened. 

 
(d) Since its date of incorporation, there has been (i) no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer; and 

(ii) no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer. 
 
(e) The Issuer has not commenced operations or published any audited financial statements to date. 
 
(f) Approval in-principle has been received for the listing and quotation of the Notes on the Official List of the 

SGX-ST.  The Notes will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of U.S.$200,000 (or its 
equivalent in other currencies) for so long as any of the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the 
SGX-ST so require.  For so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, 
the Issuer will appoint and maintain a paying agent in Singapore, where the Notes may be presented or 
surrendered for payment or redemption, in the event that a global certificate is exchanged for definitive 
certificates.  In addition, in the event that a global certificate is exchanged for definitive certificates, an 
announcement of such exchange shall be made by or on behalf of the Issuer through the SGX-ST and such 
announcement will include all material information with respect to the delivery of the definitive certificates, 
including details of the paying agent in Singapore. 

 
(g) The Issuer does not intend to provide post-issuance transaction information regarding the securities being 

admitted to trading or the performance of the underlying asset. 
 
(h) So long as any Notes are outstanding, copies of the following documents may be inspected in physical form at 

the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent presently at North Wall Quay, Dublin, Ireland during normal 
business hours: 

 
(i) the constitution of the Issuer; 

 
(ii) the Trust Deed; 

 
(iii) the Agency Agreement; 

 
(iv) the Security Trust Deed; 

 
(v) the Security Assignment; 

 
(vi) the Accounts Charge; 

 
(vii) the Transaction Administration Agreement; 

 
(viii) the Facility Agreement; 

 
(ix) the Guarantee; 

 
(x) the Account Bank Agreement; 

 
(xi) memorandum and articles of association of the Borrower; and 

 
(xii) memorandum of articles of association of the Guarantor. 



 

107 

 
(i) Copies of the audited consolidated financial statements for the Borrower and the Guarantor (together with 

English translations thereof in respect of the Guarantor’s financial statements) for the financial years ended 31 
December 2015 and 2016 are annexed to this Offering Circular. 

 
The Issuer shall procure that the Trustee will, following receipt of financial statements from any of the 
Borrower or the Guarantor pursuant to the Facility Agreement, notify the Noteholders of such receipt through 
a notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream and shall provide an electronic copy of such financial statements to 
any Noteholder who so requests and provides proof of their holding of Notes in a form satisfactory to the 
Trustee. 

 

None of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Agents, 

the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator or the Account Bank has separately verified 

the information contained in such financial statements.  No representation, warranty or undertaking, express 

or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted, by the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator 

and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Agents, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction 

Administrator or the Account Bank or any of their respective affiliates, as to the accuracy or completeness of 

the information contained in such financial statements. 

 
The audited financial statements of the Guarantor have only been prepared in Chinese and English 

translations undertaken of such financial statements (the “Financial Information Translation”) included in 

this Offering Circular are for reference only.  Should there be any inconsistency between the audited financial 

statements of the Guarantor and the Financial Information Translation, the audited financial statements in 

Chinese shall prevail.  The Financial Information Translation is qualified in its entirety by, and is subject to 

the more detailed information and the financial information set out or referred to in, the audited financial 

statements of the Guarantor.  None of the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint 

Bookrunners, the Trustee, the Agents, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator, the Account Bank, 

the Facility Agent, the MLAB nor their respective affiliates, directors, officers and advisors has independently 

verified or checked the accuracy of the Financial Information Translation and can give no assurance that the 

information contained in the Financial Information Translation is accurate, truthful or complete.  

Consequently, such Financial Information Translation should not be relied upon by potential purchasers to 

provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit or 

review.  Potential purchasers must exercise caution when using such financial information to evaluate the 

financial condition, results of operations and prospects of the Guarantor. 
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The Issuer shall procure that the Trustee will, following receipt of financial statements from any of the Borrower or the 
Guarantor pursuant to the Facility Agreement, notify the Noteholders of such receipt through a notice to Euroclear 
and/or Clearstream and shall provide an electronic copy of such financial statements to any Noteholder who so requests 
and provides proof of their holding of Notes in a form satisfactory to the Trustee. 
 

None of the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint Bookrunners, the Agents, the Trustee, 

the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator or the Account Bank has separately verified the information 

contained in such financial statements.  No representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and 

no responsibility or liability is accepted, by the Issuer, the Sole Global Coordinator and Sole Lead Manager, the Joint 

Bookrunners, the Agents, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Transaction Administrator or the Account Bank or any 

of their respective affiliates, as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in such financial 

statements. 
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HONTOP ENERGY (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

2 

The director presents his report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and the statement of financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2015. 

The director of the Company in office at the date of this report is as follows: 

Shang Jiyong 
Shang Kai 
Wee Meng Seng Aloysius 
 
ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES 

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any 
arrangement to which the Company is a party, being arrangements whose objects are, or one of whose 
objects is, to enable the director of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. 

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES 

The following director, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of 
director's shareholdings required to be kept under section 164 of the Companies Act (Chapter 50), an 
interest in shares of the Company, as stated below: 

 Number of shares 
 Holdings registered in 

name of director 
Holdings in which director is 
deemed to have an interest 

Name of director        At                          At At  At 
 31/12/2015           31/12/2014 31/12/2015  31/12/2014 
     
Ultimate Holding Company 
Wanda Holdings Group Co., Ltd 

    

     
Shang Jiyong     27,695,800       21,769,300     38,213,890  500,000 
     

DIRECTOR’S CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS 

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director 
has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than a benefit or any fixed salary of an 
employee of the Company included in the employee benefits shown in the financial statements, or any 
benefits received from a related corporation) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related 
corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which 
the director has a substantial financial interest. 
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HONTOP ENERGY (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
6 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 
     
 Notes 2015  2014 
  USD  USD 
     

Revenue 4 403,267,177  374,834,468 

Cost of sales  (401,125,094)  (370,912,643) 

Gross Profit  2,142,083  3,921,825 

Other income 5 1,221,399  3,928,392 

Other gains and losses 5a (979,485)  (1,228,961) 

Administrative expenses  (766,666)  (724,845) 

Other operating expenses  (21,455)  (38,486) 

Finance costs 6 (1,909,477)  (5,049,637) 

(Loss)/Profit Before Taxation  7 (313,601)  808,288 

Income tax expense 8 (66,869)  (42,160) 

(Loss)/Profit After Taxation   (380,470)  766,128 

Other comprehensive income  -   -  

Total Comprehensive Income   (380,470)  766,128 
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HONTOP ENERGY (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 31 December 2015 
     
 Notes 2015  2014 
  USD  USD 
ASSETS     
     
Non-Current Assets     
Plant and equipment 9 13,990  33,339 
Investment in associated company 10 47,494,500  -  
  47,508,490  33,339 
Current Assets     
Trade receivables 11 28,707,875  467,315 
Other receivables 12 88,258  2,449,275 
Fixed deposit 13 -   127,803,121 
Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,901,970  736,069 
  30,698,103  131,455,780 
Total Assets  78,206,593  131,489,119 
     
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
     
Capital and Reserve     
Share capital 15 53,994,500  1,000,000 
Retained earnings  643,793  1,024,263 
Total Equity  54,638,293  2,024,263 
     
Non-Current Liability     
Deferred tax liabilities 16 2,317  2,317 
     
Current Liabilities     
Bills payable 17 23,348,338  - 
Trade payables 18 -  4,009,759 
Other payables 19 10,609  8,325 
Borrowings 20 -   123,889,798 
Currency forward contract 21 84,019  1,498,511 
Provision for taxation  123,017  56,146 
  23,565,983  129,462,539 
Total Liabilities  23,568,300  129,464,856 
Total Equity And Liabilities  78,206,593  131,489,119 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 
       

  Share Capital  
Retained 
Earnings Total 

  USD  USD  USD 
       

Balance as 1 January 2015  1,000,000  1,024,263  2,024,263 

Total comprehensive income   -   (380,470)  (380,470) 

Issue of shares   52,994,500  -   52,994,500 

Balance as 31 December 2015  53,994,500  643,793  54,638,293 

       

Balance as 1 January 2014  1,000,000  258,135  1,258,135 

Total comprehensive income   -   766,128  766,128 

Balance as 31 December 2014  1,000,000  1,024,263  2,024,263 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
     
 Notes 2015  2014 
  USD  USD 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
(Loss)/Profit before tax  (313,601)  808,288 
Adjustments for:     
   Depreciation of plant and equipment  21,455  38,486 
   Bank interest  946,528  3,623,253 
   Finance charges  962,949  1,426,384 
   Unrealised exchange loss  -  106,239 
   Fair value loss on forward currency contracts  84,019  1,498,511 
   Interest income  (1,218,361)  (3,864,002) 
Operating profit before working capital changes  482,989  3,637,159 
     
   Other receivables  32,663  31,858 
   Trade receivables  (28,240,560)  (467,315) 
   Trade payables  (4,009,759)  2,085,689 
   Other payables  2,284  (2,028,002) 
   Bills payable  23,348,338  - 
Cash (used in)/from operations  (8,384,045)  3,259,389 
     
Income tax paid  -   (2,782) 
Interest received  2,048,206  1,535,646 
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities  (6,335,839)  4,792,253 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (2,106)  (1,822) 
Proceeds from investment in associated company  (47,494,500)  -  
Net cash used in investing activities  (47,496,606)  (1,822) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Fixed deposit pledged to bank  127,803,121  (67,584,122) 
Issuance of share capital  52,994,500  -  
Tern loan obtained  -   65,705,906 
Finance charges  (962,949)  (1,426,384) 
Loan interest  (946,528)  (3,623,253) 
Repayment of term loan  (123,889,798)  -  
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing 
activities  54,998,346  (6,927,853) 
     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,165,901  (2,137,422) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  736,069  2,979,730 
Effect on currency translation on cash and cash equivalents -  (106,239) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 1,901,970  736,069 
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 

1 General information 

The Company (Registration No. 201231352K) is a private limited liability company incorporated 
and domiciled in Singapore. The immediate and ultimate holding company is Wanda Holdings 
Group Co., Ltd, a company incorporated in China. 

The address of its registered office and place of business is 8 Marina View #34-02B, Asia Square 
Tower 1, Singapore 018960. 

The principal activities of the Company consist of other investment holding company and general 
wholesale trade (including general importers and exporters). There have been no significant 
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

2 Significant accounting policies 

a Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Companies Act and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards ("FRS”) under the historical cost convention, except as 
disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise 
its judgment in its application of accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, 
are disclosed in Note 3. 

In the current financial year, the Company has adopted the new and revised FRSs and 
Interpretations of FRS (INT FRS) that are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new / 
revised FRSs and INT FRSs has no material effect on the financial statements. 

FRS and INT FRS not yet effective 
The Company has not applied any new FRSs or INT FRS (Interpretation of Financial Reporting 
Standards) that has been issued as at the end of the reporting period but is not yet effective. The 
directors anticipate that the adoption of these FRSs and INT FRSs in future periods will have no 
material impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

b Currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the Company operates (the “functional currency”). 
The financial statements are presented in United State dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 

Transactions and balances 
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into United State dollars at 
rates of exchange closely approximate to those ruling at the reporting date. Transactions in 
foreign currencies during the financial year are translated at rates ruling on transaction dates. 
Translation differences are dealt with through the statement of comprehensive income. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

c Investment in associated company 

Associated companies are entities over which the Company has significant influence, but not 
control, generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above 
but not exceeding 50%.  

The Company is exempted from applying the equity method to its investments in associated 
company as (i) it is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wanda Holding Group Co., a company 
incorporated in China which have been informed about, and do not object to, the Company not 
applying the equity method; (ii) Wanda Holding Group Co., produces consolidated financial 
statements available for public use. 

Investments in associated company is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses and 
income is recognised when dividends from associated company are receivables. On disposal of 
such investments, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 
investments are recognised in profit or loss. 

d Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The cost of an item of plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and 
any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Cost also includes 
borrowing costs set out as follows: 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis so as to write off the cost of the asset over its 
estimated useful lives as follows: 

Lease improvement     2 years 
Furniture and fixtures     2 years 
Office equipment     5 years 

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of plant and equipment are 
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date. The effects of any revision are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise. 

Subsequent expenditure relating to plant and equipment that has already been recognised is 
added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use. 

On disposal of an item of plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and 
its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)   

e Financial assets 

Classification 

The Company classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends 
on the nature of the asset and the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those 
maturing later than 12 months after the financial reporting date which are presented as non-
current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade receivables”, “other receivables”, 
“fixed deposits” and “cash and cash equivalents” on the statement of financial position. 

Recognition and Derecognition 

The Company initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are 
originated. All other financial assets are recognised initially on the trade date at which the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount in other comprehensive 
income relating to that asset is transferred to profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss. 

Initial and subsequent measurement 

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company assesses at each financial reporting date whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or a Company of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for 
impairment when such evidence exists. 

Loans and receivables 

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and 
default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are 
impaired. 

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance 
account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset 
becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in profit or loss. 

The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent 
period when the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be 
objectively measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the 
extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost, had no impairment 
been recognised in prior periods. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

f Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash and bank balances, short term deposits which are subject to an significant risk of 
change in value, net of bank overdraft. Bank overdrafts, if any, are presented as current 
borrowings on the statement of financial position. 

g Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of 
new ordinary shares are deducted against share capital, net of tax effects. 

h Impairment of non-financial assets 

Plant and equipment; investment in associated company 

Plant and equipment and investment in associated company are tested for impairment whenever 
there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value 
less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is 
the case, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The difference 
between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in 
profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. The carrying amount of this asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, 
provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. 

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in profit or loss, unless the asset is 
carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously 
recognised as an expense, a reversal of that impairment is also credited to profit or loss. 

i Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provision are not recognised for 
future operating losses. 

j Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Non-derivative financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and borrowings. 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial 
liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

j Non-derivative financial liabilities (Cont’d) 

Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities 
are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheets 
when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

k Borrowings 

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case they are presented 
as non-current liabilities. 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net of transaction costs) and subsequently 
carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. 

l Derivative financial instruments 

The Company uses derivatives financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to 
manage its risks associated with foreign currency and price fluctuations. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair-value. Derivative financial instruments are 
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivative financial instruments are 
taken to profit or loss for the financial year. 

m Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of 
goods and rendering of services in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. Revenue is 
presented net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts.  

The Company recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably 
measured, it is probable that the collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured 
and when the specific criteria for each of the Company’s activities are met as follows: 

Sales of goods 

Revenue is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods 
to the customer, upon acceptance and received from the goods sold. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

n Employee compensation 

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an 
asset. 

(i) Defined contribution plans 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plan under which the Company pays 
fixed contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. These contributions are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which the related service is performed. The Company has 
no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

n Employee compensation (Cont’d) 

(ii) Employee leave entitlement 

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the financial year ended date. 

o Lease 

(i) When the Company is the lessee 

Lessee - Operating leases 

Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the 
lessors are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessors) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. 

p Income tax 

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid 
to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the 
deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss at the time of the transaction. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax is measured: 

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised 
or the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the financial year end date; and 

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at 
the financial year ended date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities. 

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss, except 
to the extent to the extent that it relates to the items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 

3 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, the management is required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

The critical accounting estimates and assumption used and area involving a high degree of 
judgments are described below: 
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3 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (Cont’d) 

Income tax 

The Company has exposure to income taxes in the Singapore jurisdiction. Significant judgement 
is required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of certain expenses during the 
estimation of the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Company recognises liabilities from expected tax issues based on estimates of whether 
additional tax will be due. When the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 
tax provision in the period which such determination is made. The tax expense for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015 is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements under the 
heading "Income tax expense". 

Useful lives of plant and equipment 

The management of the Company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation 
expense for plant and equipment. The management of the Company estimates useful lives of 
plant and equipment by reference to expected usage of the plant and equipment, expected repair 
and maintenance, and technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes of 
improvements in the market. The useful lives and related depreciation expense could change 
significantly as a result of the change in these factors. 

The carrying amount plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements under the heading "Plant and equipment". 

4 Revenue 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Trading income 403,267,177  374,834,468 

5 Other income 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Interest income 1,218,361  3,864,002 
Childcare leave 1,071  - 
Special employment credit 217  - 
Temporary employment credit 342  - 
Wages credit scheme 1,408  - 
PIC bonus -  11,577 
Other income -  52,813 

 1,221,399  3,928,392 
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5(a) Other gains and losses 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Realised currency exchange gain (895,466)  375,789 
Fair value loss on forward currency contracts (84,019)  (1,498,511) 
Unrealised currency exchange loss -  (106,239) 

 (979,485)  (1,228,961) 

6 Finance costs 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Finance charges 962,949  1,426,384 
Bank interest 946,528  3,623,253 

 1,909,477  5,049,637 

7 Profit before taxation 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
This is arrived at after charging the following:  
Depreciation of plant and equipment 21,455  38,486 
Employee benefits (Note 7a) 307,818  219,670 
Rental 227,588  243,737 

7(a) Employee benefits 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Staff salaries 293,689  210,650 
Employer’s CPF contribution 14,129  9,020 
Total employee benefits (Note 7) 307,818  219,670 

8 Income tax expense 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Current income tax     
 - Current year 83,534  56,146 
 - Overprovision in prior year (16,665)  (14,354) 
    
Deferred income tax    
- Current year (Note 16) -  (2,661) 
- Under provision in prior year -  3,029 
Tax expense 66,869  42,160 
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8 Income tax expense (Cont’d) 

A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate applicable to pre-tax 
profit is as follows:  

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
(Loss)/Profit before taxation (313,601)  808,288 
Taxation at statutory rate of 17% (2014:17%) (53,312)  137,409 
Income not subjected to tax -  (63,884) 
Enhanced capital allowance (1,074)  (930) 
Enhanced capital allowance – training costs (605)  (248) 
Overprovision of tax in prior year (16,665)  (14,354) 
Utilisation of unabsorbed tax losses for which deferred tax 
assets were not recognised (3,482)  (65) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 175,319  4,692 
Tax exemption and other deductions (33,312)  (20,460) 
Total income tax expense 66,869  42,160 

9 Plant and equipment 

 
Lease 

Improvement 
Furniture and 

fixtures 
Office 

Equipment Total 
 USD USD USD USD 

Cost     
At 01 January 2014 60,146 7,580 22,964 90,690 
Additions - - 1,822 1,822 
At 31 December 2014 60,146 7,580 24,786 92,512 
Additions - - 2,106 2,106 
At 31 December 2015 60,146 7,580 26,892 94,618 

     
Accumulated depreciation     
At 01 January 2014 15,036 2,527 3,124 20,687 
Additions 30,073 3,790 4,623 38,486 
At 31 December 2014 45,109 6,317 7,747 59,173 
Additions 15,037 1,263 5,155 21,455 
At 31 December 2015 60,146 7,580 12,902 80,628 

     
Carrying amounts     
At 31 December 2014 15,037 1,263 17,040 33,339 
At 31 December 2015 - - 13,990 13,990 

10 Investment in associated company 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Unquoted equity shares at cost 47,494,500  - 
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10 Investment in associated company (Cont’d) 

Detail of the associated company is as follows: 

Name of company 

  
 

Principal activities 
Country of 

incorporation Percentage of equity 
    2015 2014 

*上海祥达融资租赁有限公司 

  
 

Finance and leasing Shanghai 30% - 
* Audited by public accountants in China. 
The summarised financial information of associated company, not adjusted for the proportion 
ownership interest held by the company, is as follows: 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Assets 165,991,977  - 
Liabilities 11,750,368  - 
Revenue 8,997,530  - 
Net profit for the year 265,589  - 

11 Trade receivables 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Related party 19,764,294  - 
Third party 8,943,581  467,315 
 28,707,875  467,315 
    
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing, unsecured and approximate fair values. The credit 
terms at 90 days. 

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
United States dollars 28,707,875  - 
Chinese Yuan -  467,315 
 28,707,875  467,315 

12 Other receivables 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
*Staff loan -  40,414 
Deposits 83,644  74,957 
Interest receivables -  2,328,356 
GST receivables 4,613  5,548 
 88,257  2,449,275 
*Staff loan are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
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12 Other receivables (Cont’d) 

Other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Singapore dollars 88,257  120,919 
Chinese Yuan -  2,328,356 
 88,257  2,449,275 

13 Fixed deposits 

Fixed deposits with interest rate at Nil (2014: 1.45% to 3.4%) per annum. 

Fixed deposit are pledged with bank to secure the Company’s banking facilities (Note 20). 

Fixed deposits are denominated in the following currencies: 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Chinese Yuan -  116,103,121 
United States dollars -  11,700,000 
 -  127,803,121 

14 Cash and cash equivalents 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Cash at bank 1,899,576  734,738 
Cash on hand 2,394  1,331 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 1,901,970  736,069 

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Singapore dollars 93,154  47,970 
Chinese Yuan 75,571  211 
Hong Kong dollars -  43 
United States dollars 1,733,245  687,845 
 1,901,970  736,069 

15 Share capital 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Issued and fully paid 73,829,000 (2014: 1,229,000) ordinary 
shares:     
At beginning and end of the year： 1,000,000  1,000,000 
Issuance during the year 52,994,500  - 
At end of year 53,994,500  1,000,000 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 
Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The Company has 
one class of ordinary shares with no par value.  

F-23



HONTOP ENERGY (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

 
21 

16 Deferred tax liabilities 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Beginning of financial year 2,317  1,949 
Under provision in prior year -  3,029 
(Credit) to profit or loss -  (2,661) 
End of financial year 2,317  2,317 
This represents tax on    
Excess of net book value over tax written down value 2,317  2,317 

17 Bills payable 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Within one year  23,348,338  - 

The bills payable are fully repayable within 3 months (2014: Nil). Bills payable are secured with 
Master Letter of Assignment of Export Proceeds and Memorandum of Charge of Deposit/Moneys 
duly executed by the authorised officer of the borrower in favour of the Bank over all cash 
deposits placed. The bills payable are denominated in United States dollars. 

18 Trade payables 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Third parties -  4,009,759 
    
Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies: 
 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Chinese Yuan -  457,439 
United States dollars -  3,552,320 
 -  4,009,759 

19 Other payables 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
    
Accruals 10,609  8,325 

Accruals are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms of payment and are 
denominated in Singapore dollars. 

20 Borrowings 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Within one year  -  123,889,798 

Term loan is secured by the fixed deposit (Note 13).The effective interest on the loan is Nil 
(2014: 1.75175% to 3.9%) per annum. 
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21 Forward currency contract 

 
 

Contract notional 
 

Fair value 

 
amount Liabilities 

 USD USD 
2015   
   
Contracts to deliver USD and receive CNY 5,626,228 84,019 

   
2014   
   
Contracts to deliver CNY and receive SGD 32,229,742 1,498,511 

22 Related party transactions 

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, 
significant transactions between the Company and related parties took place during the financial 
year at terms agreed between the parties: 

Related party 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 
Sales 290,055,057  221,781,428 
Purchases 14,998,960  10,493,096 
    
Compensation of key management personnel    
Directors’ remuneration 75,691  - 

23 Operating lease commitments  

At the end of the reporting date, the Company has non-cancellable operating lease commitment 
in respect of rental of premises. The total future minimum lease payments are as follows: 

 2015  2015 
 USD  USD 
Within one year 228,709  129,063 
After one year but within five years 102,898  23,840 

 331,607  152,903 

24 Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Company is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and use of financial 
instruments. The main risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risks which consist of 
currency risk and interest rate risk. The Company's overall approach to risk management is to 
minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company.   

The following sections provide details regarding the Company's exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these 
risks: 
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24 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)  

a Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a 
counterparty default on its obligations.  

The Company's objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred 
due to increase credit risk exposure. The Company trades only with recognised and creditworthy 
entities. It is the Company's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are 
subject to credit verification procedures such as the history of receipts from the customers. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Company's exposures to bad debts is not significant. For other financial assets (including cash 
and cash equivalents), the Company minimizes credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit 
rating counterparties. 

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables comprise one third-party Company and one 
related party Company. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statement 
of financial position. 

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
”Cash and cash equivalents" and “Fixed deposit” are maintained in reputable financial institutions 
established in Singapore with high crediting ratings and no history of default. Trade and other 
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with a good 
collection track record with the Company. 
 
Financial assets that are past due and not impaired 
 
As at reporting date, there is no other class of financial assets that is past due and not impaired 
except for trade receivables. 
 
The age analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows: 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 

Overdue more than 90 days -  467,315 

b Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk and difficulty that the Company may encounter in meeting financial 
obligation due to shortage of funds. The Company's exposure to liquidity risk arises potentially 
from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Company monitors and 
maintains a level of cash at bank deemed sufficient by the management to finance the 
Company's day to day funding requirements. The Company’s financial liabilities will mature 
within one year and its exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. 

c Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company's financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Company's exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from there interest-bearing bank 
deposit and bank borrowings. The company’s profit or loss are not significantly affected by 
changes in market interest rates as these interest-bearing instruments mainly carry fixed interest 
with maturity within 1 year and are measured at amortised cost. 
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24 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)  

d Foreign currency risk 

Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. 
The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows: 

 
Denominated in 

SGD 
Denominated in 

CNY Total 
 USD USD USD 

31 December 2015    
Other receivables 88,257 - 88,257 
Cash and cash equivalents 93,154 75,571 168,725 
Other payables (10,609) - (10,609) 
Currency forward contract - 5,626,228 5,626,228 
Net currency exposure 170,802 5,701,799 5,872,601 

 

 
Denominated in 

SGD 
Denominated in 

CNY Total 
 USD USD USD 

31 December 2014    
Trade receivables - 467,315 467,315 
Other receivables 120,919 2,328,356 2,449,275 
Fixed deposit - 116,103,121 116,103,121 
Cash and cash equivalents 47,970 212 48,226 
Trade payables - (457,440) (457,440) 
Other payables (8,325) - (8,325) 
Borrowings - (11,734,091) (11,734,091) 
Currency forward contract (32,229,742) - (32,229,742) 
Net currency exposure (32,069,178) 106,707,473 74,638,295 

If SGD and CNY change against USD by 5% (2014: 5%) and 5% (2014: 5%) respectively with all 
other variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from the net financial 
liability / asset position will be as follows: 

   2015 2014 

     
Increase/(de

crease  
Increase/(dec

rease) 

     
Loss after 
taxation  

Profit after 
taxation 

     USD  USD 
SGD against USD        
- Strengthened     7,088  (1,330,871) 
- Weakened     (7,088)  1,330,871 

        
CNY against USD        
- Strengthened     236,625  4,428,360 
- Weakened     (236,625)  (4,428,360) 
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25 Capital management 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No change 
was made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial year ended 31 December 
2015. 

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to ensure that it maintain a 
strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximized 
shareholders' value. The management monitors capital based on a gearing ratio, which is net 
debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as trade and other payables less cash and 
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as net debt plus equity. 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 

Total debt 21,456,977  (631,309) 
Total equity 54,638,293  2,024,263 
Total capital 76,095,270  1,392,954 

    
Gearing ratio 28%  NA 

26 Fair value measurements 

The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of 
the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 
a. quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
b. input other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 
c. inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs) (Level 3). 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3                 Total 
 USD  USD USD   USD 

At 31 December 2015       
Forward currency contract -  84,019  -  84,019 

        
At 31 December 2014        
Forward currency contract -  1,498,511  -  1,498,511 

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward 
currency rates at the balance sheet date. 

The carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities in the financial statements 
approximate their fair values due to the relative short term maturity of these financial instruments. 
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27 Financial instruments by category 

The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments disclosed on the 
statement of financial position and on the notes to financial statements is as follows: 

 2015  2014 
 USD  USD 

Financial assets - Loans and receivables 30,698,102  131,455,780 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 23,358,947  127,907,882 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 84,019  1,498,511 

28 Authorisation of financial statements 

The financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 are 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors (which is affixed the same 
date as statements by directors). 
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The directors present their report to the member together with the audited financial statements of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 

OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS 

In the opinion of the directors, 

(a) the financial statements of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and the financial performance, changes 
in equity and cash flows of the Company for the financial year then ended; and 

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

DIRECTORS 

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows: 

Shang Jiyong   

Shang Kai   

Wee Meng Seng Aloysius 

 

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES 
 

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 

Director’s interests in shares or debentures 

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under section 164 of the 
Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), the directors of the Company who held office at the end 
of the financial year had no interests in the shares or debentures of the Company and its related corporations 
except as stated below: 
 Direct interest Deemed interest 
 At beginning     At end At beginning  At end 
 of year           of year of year  of year 
Name of director                                                     
(Number of shares) 
 

    

Holding Company     
Wanda Holdings Group Co., Ltd     
Shang Jiyong 27,695,800   27,695,800   -  - 
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FAC & ASSOCIATES 
Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBER OF HONTOP ENERGY (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of Hontop Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd (the “Company”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2016, the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Company for 
the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2016 
and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the period ended 
on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Other Information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
Statement included in pages 1 to 2.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability 
of assets.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.  
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FAC & ASSOCIATES 
Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBER OF HONTOP ENERGY (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.  
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
     
 Notes 2016  2015 
  USD  USD 

    
(As restated - 

Note 23) 

Revenue - sale of goods  2,355,771,351  403,267,177 

Purchase and related costs  (2,351,451,725)  (401,125,094) 

Other income 3 252,682  1,221,399 

Depreciation expenses 7 (7,047)  (21,455) 

Employee benefits 4 (371,092)  (308,333) 

Operating expenses  (1,956,517)  (2,316,748) 

Finance costs - term loan interest  (475,943)  (946,528) 

Profit/(loss) before taxation  5 1,761,709  (229,582) 

Income tax  6 (179,650)  (66,869) 

Profit/(loss) after taxation   1,582,059  (296,451) 

Other comprehensive income     

- Fair value loss on forward contract  -   (84,019) 

Total comprehensive income   1,582,059  (380,470) 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2016 
     
 Notes 2016  2015 
  USD  USD 
ASSETS     
     
Non-Current Assets     
Plant and equipment 7 15,591  13,990 
Investment in subsidiary 8 1,458,198  -  
Investment in associated company 9 47,494,500  47,494,500 
  48,968,289  47,508,490 
Current Assets     
Trade receivables 10 49,104,874  28,707,875 
Other receivables 11 19,976,847  88,258 
Cash and cash equivalents 12 125,566,553  1,901,970 
  194,648,274  30,698,103 
Total Assets  243,616,563  78,206,593 
     
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
     
Equity     
Share capital 13 55,844,500  53,994,500 
Retained earnings  2,225,852  643,793 
Total Equity  58,070,352  54,638,293 
     
Non-Current Liability     
Deferred tax liabilities  2,317  2,317 
     
Current Liabilities     
Trade payables  35,612,609  -  
Other payables 14 99,233,898  10,609 
Bank borrowings 15 50,429,870  23,348,338 
Derivative financial instruments 16 -   84,019 
Income tax payable  267,517  123,017 
  185,543,894  23,565,983 
Total Liabilities  185,546,211  23,568,300 
Total Equity And Liabilities  243,616,563  78,206,593 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
       

 Notes Share Capital  
Retained 
Earnings Total 

  USD  USD  USD 

Balance as at 1 January 2016  53,994,500  643,793  54,638,293 

Total comprehensive income   -   1,582,059  1,582,059 

Issue of shares  13 1,850,000  -   1,850,000 

Balance as at 31 December 2016  55,844,500  2,225,852  58,070,352 

Balance as at 1 January 2015  1,000,000  1,024,263  2,024,263 

Total comprehensive income   -   (380,470)  (380,470) 

Issue of shares  13 52,994,500  -   52,994,500 

Balance as at 31 December 2015  53,994,500  643,793  54,638,293 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
     
 Notes 2016  2015 
  USD  USD 

    
(As restated - 

Note 23) 
Cash flow from operating activities     
Profit/(loss) before tax  1,761,709  (229,582) 
Adjustments for:     
   Depreciation expense 7 7,047  21,455 
   Term loan interest  475,943  946,528 
   Interest income  (161,581)  (1,218,361) 
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes  2,083,118  (479,960) 
     
   Trade receivables  (20,396,999)  (28,240,560) 
   Other receivables  (19,334,997)  32,663 
   Trade payables  35,612,609  (4,009,759) 
   Other payables  98,747,346  2,284 
   Derivative financial instrument  (84,019)  (1,498,511) 
   Bank borrowings  (23,348,338)  23,348,338 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations  73,278,720  (10,845,505) 
     
Income tax paid  (35,150)  -  
Interest received  45,067  -  
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating 
activities  73,288,637  (10,845,505) 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of plant and equipment 7 (8,648)  (2,106) 
Acquisition of subsidiary 8 (1,458,198)  -  
Issuance of additional ordinary shares  1,850,000  52,994,500 
Acquisition of  associated company  -   (47,494,500) 
Net cash generated from investing activities  383,154  5,497,894 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Fixed deposit (pledged to)/received from bank  (51,783,950)  127,803,121 
Loan to subsidiary 11 (437,078)  -  
Fixed deposit interest received  -   3,546,717 
Term loan interest paid  -   (946,528) 
Proceed from / (repayment of) bank loan  50,429,870  (123,889,798) 
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing 
activities  (1,791,158)  6,513,512 
     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  71,880,633  1,165,901 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1,901,970  736,069 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 73,782,603  1,901,970 

F-40



HONTOP ENERGY (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2016 
 
 

 
10 

 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 

1.          GENERAL INFORMATION 

The Company (Registration No. 201231352K) is a private limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in Singapore with its registered office and principal place of business at 8 Marina View 
#34-02B, Asia Square Tower 1, Singapore 018960. 
 
The immediate and ultimate holding company is Wanda Holdings Group Co., Ltd, a company 
incorporated in China. Related companies refers to members of the ultimate holding Company. 
 
The principal activities of the Company consist of other investment holding company and general 
wholesale trade (including general importers and exporters). There have been no significant 
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
The financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 are 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors (which is affixed the 
same date as Directors’ Statement). 

2.          SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been drawn up in accordance with Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

 
The financial statements are presented in United State dollars (“USD”) which is the Company’s 
functional currency.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. It also requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. There were no significant critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions used, or critical judgment applied. 

 
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS 
  
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in 
the current financial year, the Company has adopted all the new and revised standards which are 
relevant to the Company and are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2016. The adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial 
statements. 
 
STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are issued but are not 
yet effective. The Company has assessed those standards and interpretations issued. The initial 
application of these standards and interpretations are not expected to have material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. The Company does not plan to early adopt these standards.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATED COMPANY 
 

Investments in subsidiary and associated company are stated at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses in the balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiary and associated company, the 
difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment are recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
CONSOLIDATION  
 
These financial statements are the separate financial statements of the Company.  The Company 
is exempted from the preparation of consolidated financial statements and applying equity 
accounting to its investment in associate or applying proportionate consolidation to its investment 
as the Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wanda Holdings Group Co., Ltd, a China-
incorporated company which produces consolidated financial statements available for public use.  
The significant subsidiary and associate of the Company and the basis on which the subsidiary and 
associate are accounted for is disclosed in the accompanying notes. The registered office of Wanda 
Holdings Group Co., Ltd where those consolidated financial statements can be obtained is at #68 
Yongxin Road Dongying, Shandong, PRC.  

 
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company uses derivatives financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to manage 
its risks associated with foreign currency and price fluctuations. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at fair-value. Derivative financial instruments are carried as 
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivative financial instruments are taken 
to profit or loss for the financial year. 

 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of the Company and are 
recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange rates approximating those 
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
a) Financial assets 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Company determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case 
of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement 

 
Loans and receivables 

 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans 
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables 
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 

 
Loans and receivables comprise loan to the holding company, trade and other receivables, and 
cash and cash equivalents. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand. 

 
De-recognition 

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset 
has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that 
has been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
b) Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Company determines the classification 
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 
amortisation process. 

Such financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, and bank borrowings. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 

b) Financial liabilities (cont’d) 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or  an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

 
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. 
 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Company first assesses whether objective 
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Company determines that 
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed 
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included 
in a collective assessment of impairment. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial asset is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the 
allowance account are written off against the carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has 
been incurred, the Company considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 

 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant 
and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. The cost of plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost 
of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as 
a consequence of acquiring or using the plant and equipment. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable amounts over their 
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
 Useful lives
Lease improvement 2 years
Furniture and fixtures 2 years
Office equipment 5 years

 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or 
loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 
 
BORROWINGS 
 
Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case they are presented 
as non-current liabilities. 
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net of transaction costs) and subsequently carried 
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective. 
 
BORROWING COSTS 
 
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the 
Company’s cash management. 
 
SHARE CAPITAL 

 
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that 
is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
PROVISIONS 

 
General 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle 
the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
OPERATING LEASES AS LESSEE 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a 
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. 

  
 Sale of goods 
  

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods to the customer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are 
significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the 
possible return of goods. 
 

 Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
 
GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
 
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the 
fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is 
amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual 
instalments. 

 
Where loans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions with an 
interest rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect of this favourable interest is 
regarded as additional government grant. 

 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 
a) Defined contribution plans 

 
The Company makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a 
defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed. 
 

b) Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are  
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected 
to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as 
a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

TAXES 
 

a) Current income tax 
 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.  

 
Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to 
items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate. 

 
b) Deferred tax 

 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period. 

 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
c) Sales tax 

 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except: 

 
- Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from 

the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 
- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 

 
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
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3 OTHER INCOME  
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Government grant 823  3,038 
Interest income 161,581  1,218,361 
Other income 6,259  -  
Currency exchange gain 84,019  -  
 252,682  1,221,399 
 
 

4 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
CPF and related costs 22,444  14,644 
Salaries, wages and bonus 348,648  293,689 
 371,092  308,333 
 
Employee benefits included directors’ remuneration disclosed in significant related party transaction 
note. 
 
 

5 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
Profit/(loss) before taxation is stated after charging the 
following:    
Exchange loss 660,129  -  
Rental - operating lease 243,280  227,587 
 
 

6 INCOME TAX 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Current year income tax  267,517  83,534 
Overprovision prior year income tax  (87,867)  (16,665) 
 179,650  66,869 
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6 INCOME TAX (cont’d) 

The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by 
the applicable corporate tax rate of 17% for the year is as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    

Profit/(loss) before taxation 1,761,707  (229,582) 
Taxation at statutory rate of 17% (2015: 17%) 299,490  (39,029) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,673  174,714 
Tax effect of capital allowance (353)  (1,074) 
Unutilised of previously unrecognised deferred tax 
assets  (54,324)  (3,482) 

Tax effect of partial tax exemptions (18,741)  -  
Tax effect of corporate tax rebate (18,073)  -  
Others 57,845  (47,595) 
Current income tax 267,517  83,534 

 
7 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

  
Lease 

Improvement 
Furniture 

and fixtures 
Office 

equipment Total 
  USD  USD  USD  USD 

Cost         
At 1 January 2015  60,146  7,580  24,786  92,512 
Additions  -   -   2,106  2,106 
At 31 December 2015  60,146  7,580  26,892  94,618 
Additions  -   2,076  6,572  8,648 
At 31 December 2016  60,146  9,656  33,464  103,266 

         
Accumulated depreciation         
At 1 January 2015  45,109  6,317  7,747  59,173 
Depreciation charge  15,037  1,263  5,155  21,455 
At 31 December 2015  60,146  7,580  12,902  80,628 
Depreciation charge  -   585  6,462  7,047 
At 31 December 2016  60,146  8,165  19,364  87,675 

         
Net carrying amounts         
At 31 December 2015  -   -   13,990  13,990 

         
At 31 December 2016  -   1,491  14,100  15,591 
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8 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Unquoted equity shares at costs 1,458,198  - 
 
Detail of the subsidiary is as follows: 

Name of company 

  
 

Principal activities 
Country of 

incorporation Percentage of equity 
    2016 2015 
London & Oxford Capital 
Markets Limited (1) 

 Provision of financial 
and advisory services United Kingdom 70% - 

 
(1) Exempted from audit in the country of incorporation. 
 

9 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATED COMPANY 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Unquoted equity shares at costs 47,494,500  47,494,500 
 
Detail of the associated company is as follows: 

Name of company 

  
 

Principal activities 
Country of 

incorporation Percentage of equity 
    2016 2015 
上海祥达融资租赁有限公司(1)  Finance and leasing China 30% 30% 
(1) Audited by public accountants in China. 
 
The summarised financial information of associated company, not adjusted for the proportion of 
ownership interest held by the company, is as follows: 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Assets 24,550,252  8,065,005 
Non-current assets 205,617,748  157,926,972 
Liabilities 23,291,654  (5,880,327) 
Non-current liabilities 20,698,829  17,412,587 
Revenue 9,894,798  8,997,530 
Profit before tax 7,279,780  677,884 
Net profit for the year 5,431,171  265,589 
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Related parties 36,787,788  19,764,294 
Third parties 12,311,238  8,942,581 
GST receivables 5,848  -  
 49,104,874  28,707,875 
  

11 OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Advance to suppliers 19,003,488  -  
Deposits 69,142  88,258 
Loan to subsidiary  437,078  -  
Bank interest receivables 116,514  -  
Margin deposit 350,625  -  
 19,976,847  88,258 

  
The advance to suppliers and loan to subsidiary are interest-free, non-secured and repayment on 
demand. 

 
 

12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Cash and bank balances 8,132,603  1,901,970 
Fixed deposits 117,433,950  - 
 125,566,553  1,901,970 
Less: Fixed deposits - pledged 51,783,950  -  
Cash and cash equivalents per Statement of Cash Flows 73,782,603  1,901,970 

  
The fixed deposits bear fixed interest of 1% per annum (2015: nil) and matures 3 months after year 
end. 
 
Fixed deposits of USD 51,783,950 (2015: nil) are pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 15). 
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13 SHARE CAPITAL 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    

Issued and fully paid 76,329,000 (2015: 73,829,000) ordinary shares:   
At beginning and end of the year 53,994,500  1,000,000 
Issuance during the year 1,850,000  52,994,500 
At beginning and end of the year 55,844,500  53,994,500 
 
The Company has one class of ordinary shares with no par value. The holders of ordinary shares 
are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry 
one vote per share without restriction. 
 

14 OTHER PAYABLES 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Customer deposits 98,743,976  -  
Accruals 13,979  10,609 
Bank interest payables 475,943  -  
 99,233,898  10,609 
 
The customer deposits are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.  
 

15 BANK BORROWINGS 
 

 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    

Bills payable -   23,348,338  
Short term loan – secured 50,429,870  - 
 50,429,870  23,348,338  
 
In 2015 bill payables bore interest of 0.7 to 1.1% per annum, secured by a letter of assignment of 
all invoices to the issued bank and repayable 3 months after year end. 
 
The short term loan is secured with short term fixed deposit (Note12) of USD 51,783,950 (2015: 
Nil), bears fixed interest of 4.15% (2015: Nil) per annum and is repayable in 2017.  
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16 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 

 2016 2015 
 USD  USD 
Derivative held for hedging    
Cash flow hedge    
- Fair value of forward currency contracts -   84,019 
    
Contract notional amount 
- Contract to deliver USD and receive CNY 52,047,185   

 
5,626,228 

 
 

17 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, 
significant transactions between the Company and related parties took place during the financial 
year at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year: 
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
Related Parties    
Sales 879,158,770  290,055,057 
Purchases 47,863,416  14,998,960 
    
Compensation of key management personnel    
Directors' remuneration 75,226  75,691 
 

18 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

The Company leases office space under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. These 
leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.  
 
The future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:   
 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
    
Within one year 114,398  228,709 
After one year but within five years -   102,898 
 114,398  331,607 
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks from its operation. The key financial 
risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest 
rate risk). 
 
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these 
risks, which are executed by the management team. It is, and has been throughout the current and 
previous financial year, the Company’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes 
shall be undertaken. 
 
The following sections provide details regarding the Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 
 
There has been no change to the Company’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risks. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in a loss to the Company. The Company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from defaults. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluation of its 
counterparties’ financial condition and generally do not require a collateral. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform their 
obligations as at the end of the financial year in relation to each class of recognised financial assets 
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the statement of financial position. 
 
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with creditworthy debtors with 
good payment record with the Company. Cash and bank balance are placed with or entered into with 
reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no history of default. 
 
As at reporting date, there is no other class of financial assets that is past due and / or impaired 
except for trade debtors as disclosed in the following aging analysis: 
 

    
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 
Past due but not impaired:    
Less than 30 days 27,785,899  -  
Overdue more than 90 days 21,313,127  -  
 49,099,026  -  

 

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, there is no impairment loss on trade receivables. These 
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.  
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)  

Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting its short-term 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from 
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. It is managed by matching the 
payment and receipt cycles. The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity 
of funding and flexibility through the use of stand- by credit facilities. The Company’s operations are 
financed mainly through equity. The directors are satisfied that funds are available to finance the 
operations of the Company. 
 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company is unable to meet its obligations to other 
counterparties. The Company monitors and maintains a level of cash deemed adequate by 
management to finance the Company’s operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash 
flow and its exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. The Company’s financial liabilities will mature within 
one year and its exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. 
 
The financial assets and liabilities of the company as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are repayable 
on demand or done within 1 year from balance sheet date. 

Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates 
will affect the Company’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 
 
(i) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company's financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rate, The Company is not 
significantly exposed to interest rate risk. 
 
(ii) Foreign currency risk 
 

The Company’s foreign exchange risk results mainly from cash flows from transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies. At present, the Company does not have any formal policy for 
hedging against currency risk. The Company ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable 
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates, where necessary, to address short term 
imbalances. 

The Company has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchased that are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Company, primarily Singapore 
Dollars (“SGD”), Chinese Yuan (“CNY”) and English Sterling Pound (“GBP”). 
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)  

Market risk (Cont’d) 
 
(ii) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d) 
 
The Company’s currency exposures to GBP, SGD and CNY at the reporting date were as follows: 

  USD  SGD  CNY  GBP  Total 
  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 

2016           
Trade receivable  49,099,026  -   -   -   49,099,026 
Other receivables  467,139  69,142  -   437,078   973,359 
Cash and bank 
balance  125,356,166  62,754  147,633  -  125,566,553 
Trade payables  (35,612,609)  -   -   -   (35,612,609) 
Other payables  (475,943)  (13,979)  -   -   (489,922) 
Bank borrowings  -   -   (50,429,870)  -   (50,429,870) 

  138,833,779  117,917  (50,282,237)  437,078   89,106,537 
Less: Net financial 
assets            
denominated in 
company's            
functional currency  (138,833,779)  -   -   -   (138,833,779) 
Forward contract  -   -   50,429,870  -   50,429,870 
Net currency exposure  -   117,917  147,633  437,078   702,628 

           
2015           
Trade receivable  28,707,875  -   -   -   28,707,875 
Other receivables  -   88,258  -   -   88,258 
Cash and bank 
balance  1,733,246  93,154  75,570  -  1,901,970 
Bank borrowings  (23,348,338)  -  -  -  (23,348,338) 
Derivative financial 
instruments  (84,019)  -  -  -  (84,019) 
Other payables  -   (10,609)  -   -   (10,609) 

  7,008,764  170,803  75,570  -  7,255,137 
Less: Net financial 
assets            
denominated in 
company's            
functional currency  (7,008,764)  -   -   -   (7,008,764) 
Net currency exposure  -   170,803  75,570  -   246,373 
 
The sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk is not disclosed as the effect on profit after tax is 
not considered significant. 
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20 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
credit rating and net current asset position in order to support its business and maximise 
shareholder value. The capital structure of the Company comprises issued share capital and 
retained earnings. 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in 
the objectives, policies or processes during the financial year ended 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015. 

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The Company’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from 2015. 

 

21 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 

 
The carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities in the financial statements 
approximate their fair values due to the relative short term maturity of these financial instruments. 
 
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
or settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial 
instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and other payables 

The carrying amounts of these balances approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature 
of these balances. 

Trade receivables and trade payables 
 
The carrying amounts of these receivables and payables (including trade balances due from/to 
holding and related companies) approximate their fair values as they are subject to normal trade 
credit terms. 
 
Derivative financial instrument 

The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of 
the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

a. quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
b. input other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 
c. inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs) (Level 3). 
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21 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Cont’d) 

 

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
  USD  USD  USD  USD 

At 31 December 2016         
         

Forward currency contract  -   -   -   -  
         

At 31 December 2015         
Forward currency contract  -   84,019  -   84,019 
 

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward currency 
rates at the balance sheet date. 

 

22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments disclosed on the statement 
of financial position and on the notes to financial statements is as follows: 

 
 2016  2015 
 USD  USD 

    
Financial assets - Loans and receivables 175,638,938  30,698,103 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 86,532,401  23,358,947 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -   84,019 
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23 COMPARATIVES  
 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance 
comparability with current year’s financial statements. As a result, certain line items have been 
amended on the balance sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flow, and the related notes to the financial statements. Comparative 
figures have been adjusted to conform with the current year’s presentation. 
 

 2015 

 As restated  As previously 
stated 

 USD  USD 
Statement of comprehensive income    
Purchase and related costs (401,125,094)  - 
Cost of sales -  (401,125,094) 
Depreciation (21,455)  - 
Employee benefits (308,333)  - 
Operating expenses (2,316,748)  - 
Other comprehensive income – fair value loss on forward 
contract (84,019)  - 

Finance costs – term loan interests (946,528)  (1,909,477) 
Other gains and losses -  (979,485) 
Other operating expenses -  (21,455) 
Administrative expenses   (766,666) 
    
Statement of cash flows    
Profit/loss before tax  (229,582)  (313,601) 
Derivative financial instrument  (1,498,511)  - 
Fair value loss on forward currency contract -  84,019 
Finance charge -  962,949 
Interest received -  2,048,206 
Cash from/(used in) operations    
Cash from investing activities    
Issuance of additional ordinary shares 52,994,500  - 
Cash from financing activities    
Issuance of share capital -  52,994,500 
Finance charges -  (962,949) 
Fixed deposit interest received 3,546,717  - 
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